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ALPHABETICAL JOINT APPENDIX INDEX

TITLE DATE FILER / PAGE NO. VOLUME

PREPARER NO.

01.19.17 Transcript of Proceedings - 01.19.17 | Martha Szramek, | JA 000239 -

Motions Court Recorder | JA 000346 2

09.18.17 Transcript of Proceedings - 09.18.17 Jennifer Gerold, | JA 000352 -

Plaintiffs’ Omnibus Motion in Limine; Court Recorder | JA 000390

Defendants’ Motion in Limine; Team

Construction Management, Inc., and

Beacher’s LV LLC’s Joinder to Fourth

Supplement to Defendant Backstage

Employment & Referral, Inc.’s

Designation of Expert Witnesses & 2

Documents

03.29.18 - Transcript of Proceedings Re: | 03.29.18 Jennifer Gerald, | JA 000391 - 2

Pretrial Conference Court Recorder | JA 000424 [

04.03.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.03.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 000425 - 2-3

Trial RPR JA 000568

04.11.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.11.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 000574 - 3

Trial RPR JA 000714

04.13.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.13.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 000715 - 3-4

Trial RPR JA 000892

04.17.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.17.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 000893 - 4-5

Trial RPR JA 001167

04.18.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.18.18 Kristy L. Clark, [JA 001168 - 5-6

Trial RPR JA 001415

04.24.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.24.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 001416 - 6-7

Trial RPR JA 001585

04.25.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.25.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 001933 - 9-10

Trial RPR JA 002269

04.26.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.26.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 002270 - 10-11

Trial RPR JA 002514
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04.27.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.27.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 002515 - 11-13
Trial RPR JA 002904

04.30.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.30.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 002905 - 13
Trial RPR JA 003016

05.01-18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.01.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 003017 - 13-14
Trial RPR JA 003282

05.02.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.02.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 003283 - 14-16
Trial RPR JA 003596

05.03.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.03.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 003597 - 16-17
Trial RPR JA 003846

05.04.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.04.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 003847 - 17
Trial RPR JA 004002

05.08.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.08.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 004071 - 18-19
Trial RPR JA 004402

05.09.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.09.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 004435 - 19-20
Trial RPR JA 004720

05.10.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.10.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 004723 - 20-21
Trial RPR JA 004988

05.11.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.11.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 005005 - 21-22
Trial RPR JA 005157

05.22.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.22.18 Kristy L. Clark, [ JA 005158 - 22
Trial RPR JA 005232

05.23.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.23.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 005233 - 22-23
Trial RPR JA 005401

05.24.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.24.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 005440 - 23-24
Trial RPR JA 005613

05.25.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.25.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 005614 - 24-25
Trial RPR JA 005806

05.29.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.29.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 005807 - 25
Trial RPR JA 005919
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08.23.18 - Recorder’s Transcript of 08.23.18 | Jennifer Gerold, JA 006497 - 28

Hearing re: Plaintiffs’ Motion for Court Recorder JA006552

Judgment As A Matter of Law or, In The

Alternative, for New Trial

Backstage Employment and Referral, 04.25.18 | Weinberg Wheeler | JA 001874 - 8-9

Inc.’s Brief Regarding New and Hudgins Gunn & | JA 001932

Previously Undisclosed Witnesses Dial

Backstage Employment and Referral, 12.16.16 | Weinberg Wheeler | JA 000151 - 1

Inc.’s Motion to Bifurcate Trial (Filed Hudgins Gunn & | JA 000158

Under Seal) Dial

Backstage Employment & Referral, 08.10.18 | Weinberg Wheeler | JA 006353 - 27

In¢.’s Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion Hudgins Gunn & | JA 006381

for Judgment as a Matter of Law, or, Dial

Alternatively for a New Trial

Backstage Employment and Referral, 04.08.19 | Weinberg Wheeler | JA 006614 - 28

Inc.’s Response to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Hudgins Gunn & | JA 006616

Certification of Judgment on Order Dial

Shortening Time

Backstage Employment & Referral, 01.11.17 | Weinberg Wheeler | JA 000177 - 1

Inc.’s Reply in Support of Motion to Hudgins Gunn & | JA 000234

Bifurcate Trial Dial

Beacher’s LV, LLC’s Answer to MGM 04.05.16 Morris Sullivan | JA 000078 - 1

Grand Hotel’s Third Party Complaint Lemkul & Pitegoff | JA 000092

Beacher’s LV, LLC’s Amended Answer | 10.07.16 Morris Sullivan | JA 000128 - 1

to MGM Grand Hotel’s Third-Party Lemkul & Pitegoff | JA 000150

Complaint; Counterclaim by Beacher’s

LV, LLC; Third Party Complaint by

Beacher’s LV, LLC

Beacher’s Motion for Leave to File an 07.29.16 Morris Sullivan | JA 000093 - 1

Amended Answer to Third Party Plaintiff Lemkul & Pitegoff { JA 000127

MGM Grand’s Complaint; Counterclaim

by Beacher’s LV, LLC; Third Party

Complaint by Beacher’s LV, LLC

Case Appeal Statement 07.11.18 Harris & Harris | JA 006271 - 27
JA 006294
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Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial 08.06.14 Eglet Law Firm | JA 00001 - 1
JA 00011

Court Minute Order Regarding Motion 04.25.19 Judge Mark JA 006623 28

for Certification Denton

Court Minutes - Defendant Backstage 02.02.17 Judge Mark JA 000347 2

Employment and Referral, Inc.’s Motion Denton

to Bifurcate Trial I

David Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc., | 10.27.14 | Selman Breitman | JA 000029 - |

David Copperfield aka David Kotkin and JA 000038

MGM Grand Hotel, LLC’s Answer to

Plaintiff’s Complaint

David Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc., | 04.25.18 | Selman Breitman | JA 001835 - 8 {

David Copperfield and MGM Grand JA 001873

Hotel, LLC’s Brief Regarding

Undisclosed Witnesses

David Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc., | 02.01.16 | Selman Breitman | JA 000060 - 1

David Copperfield aka David Kotkin and JA 000071

MGM Grand Hotel, LLC’s Amended

Answer to Plaintiffs’ Complaint and

Cross Claim Against Team Construction

Management, Inc.

David Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc., | 12.28.16 | Selman Breitman | JA 000159 - 1

David Copperfield aka David S. Kotkin, JA 000161

and MGM Grand Hotel, LLC’s Joinder

to Co-Defendants’ Motions in Limine

and Motion to Bifurcate Tral

David Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc., 04.10.19 | Selman Breitman | JA 006617 - 28

David Copperfield and MGM Grand JA 006619

Hotel, LLC’s Response to Plaintiffs’
Motion for Certification of Judgment on
Order Shortening Time
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Decision Regarding Motion for 09.17.18 Judge Mark JA 006553 - 28

Judgment as a Matter of Law Denton JA 006559

Gavin and Mihn-Hahn Cox’s Appendix | 05.07.18 Harris & Harris | JA 004009 - 17-18

in Support of Emergency Petition for JA 004067

Writ of Mandamus Under NRAP 27(E)

Jury Instructions 05.23.18 Judge Mark JA 005402 - 23
Denton JA 005439

MGM Grand Hotel, LLC’s Motion for 12.01.15 | Selman Breitman | JA 000039 - 1

Leave to File a Third Party Complaint JA 000057

MGM Grand Hotel, LLC, David 05.10.18 | JA 004989 - 21

Copperfield and David Copperfield’s Selman | JA 005004 (t

Disappearing, Inc.’s Trial Brief to Breitman

Preclude Plaintiffs from Calling

Improper Rebuttal Witnesses

MGM Grand Hotel, LLC, David 08.10.18 | Selman Breitman | JA 006382 - 27-28

Copperfield aka David Kotkin and David JA 006466

Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc.’s

Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for

Judgment As A Matter of Law, or,

Alternatively for New Trial

Notice In Lieu of Remittitur 06.04.18 Supreme Court | JA 005924 25

Notice of Appeal (Supreme Court File- 07.19.18 Harris & Harris | JA 006295 - 27

Stamp) JA 006326

Notice of Entry of Order Denying 10.23.18 | Resnick & Louis | JA 006562 - 28

Plaintiffs’ Motion for Judgment as a JA 006566

Matter of Law, or, Alternatively, for a

New Trial

Notice of Filing Emergency Petition for | 05.07.18 Harris & Harris | JA 004003 - 17

Writ of Mandamus JA 004006

Notice of Hearing on Plaintiffs’ Motion 03.29.19 EJDC - JA 006612 - 28

for Certification Department 13 JA 006613

Notice of Transfer to Court of Appeals 05.07.18 Supreme Court | JA 004007 - 17

JA 004008
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NRAP 27(E) Certificate 05.09.18 | Selman Breitman | JA 004427 -
JA 004434
Weinberg Wheeler
Hudgins Gunn &
Dial 19
Resnick & Louis
Order Denying Petition for Writ of 05.07.18 Supreme Court | JA 004068 - 18
Mandamus JA 004070
Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Motion for 10.22.18 | Resnick & Louis | JA 006560 - 28
Judgment as a Matter of Law, or, JA 006561
Alternatively, for a New Trial
Order Denying Rehearing 05.10.18 Supreme Court | JA 004721 20
JA 004722
Order Granting Defendant Backstage 02.27.17 | Weinberg Wheeler | JA 000348 - 2
Employment and Referral, Inc.’s Motion Hudgins Gunn & | JA 000351
to Bifurcate Trial Dial
Order Granting Defendants David 01.28.16 | Selman Breitman | JA 000058 - 1
Copperfield, David Copperfield’s JA 000059
Disappearing, Inc. And MGM Grand
Hotel, LLC’s Motion for Leave to
Amend Their Answer to File Cross
Claim
Order Granting Motion to Extend Time 03.28.19 Supreme Court | JA 006597 - 28
|| (Supreme Court) JA 006598
Order on Plaintiffs’ Motion for 05.08.19 | Morelli Law Firm | JA 006624 - 28
Certification of Judgment JA 006626
Plaintiff’s Amended Case Appeal 11.26.18 Harris & Harris | JA 006577 - 28
Statement JA 006585
Plaintiffs’ Amended Notice of Appeal 11.26.18 Harris & Harris | JA 006567 - 28
JA 006576
Plaintiffs’ Motion for Certification of 03.28.19 | Harris & Harris | JA 006599 - 28
Judgment On Order Shortening Time JA 006611
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Plaintiffs’ Motion for Judgment As a 07.05.18 Harris & Harris | JA 005925 - 25-27
Matter of Law, or, Alternatively, for a JA 006259
New Trial
Plaintiffs’ Notice of Appeal (EJDC File- | 07.11.18 Harris & Harris | JA 006260 - 28 t
Stamped) JA 006270
Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendant 01.05.17 Harris & Harris | JA 000166 - 1
Backstage Employment and Referral, JA 000176
Inc.’s Motion to Bifurcate Trial
Plaintiffs’ Reply in Support of Motion 08.20.18 Harris & Harris | JA 006467 - 28
for Judgment as a Matter of Law, Or, JA 006496
Alternatively for a New Trial
Plaintiffs’ Trial Brief to Exclude 04.11.18 Harris & Harris | JA 000569 - 3
Cumulative Expert Testimony on JA 000573
Defendants’ Proposed Expert Witnesses
John E. Baker and Nicholas Yang
Plaintiff’s Trial Brief to Permit 04.25.18 Harris & Harris | JA 001586 - 7-8
Testimony of Newly Discovered Fact JA 001834
Witnesses
Real Parties in Interest Emergency 05.09.18 | Selman Breitman | JA 004403 - 19
Petition for Rehearing of Order Denying JA 004426
Petition for Writ of Mandamus Under Weinberg Wheeler
NRAP 27(E), Immediate Action is Hudgins Gunn &
Necessary as the Trial is Already in Dial it
Progress
Resnick & Louis
Request for Transcript of Proceedings 12.21.18 | Morelli Law Firm | JA 006586 - 28
JA 006589
Stipulation 03.08.19 | Morelli Law Firm | JA 006595 - 28
JA 006596
Summons - Backstage Employment and | 09.02.14 Eglet Law Firm | JA 000021 - 1
Referral, Inc. w/Affidavit of Service JA 000024
Summons - David Copperfield’s 08.14.14 Eglet Law Firm | JA 000012- 1
Disappearing, Inc. w/Affidavit of Service JA 000014
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Summons - David Copperfield aka David | 09.14.14 Eglet Law Firm | JA 000025 - 1
S. Kotkin w/Affidavit of Service JA 000028

Summons - MGM Grand Hotel, LLC 08.14.14 Eglet Law Firm | JA 000015- 1
w/Affidavit of Service JA 000017

Summons - Team Construction 08.14.14 Eglet Law Firm | JA 000018 - 1
Management, Inc. w/Affidavit of Service JA 000020

Supplemental Request for Transcript of 01.15.19 | Morelli Law Firm | JA 006590 - 28 “
Proceedings JA 006594

Team Construction Management, Inc.’s | 03.22.16 Resnick & Louis | JA 000072 - 1
Answer to Cross Claimants David JA 000077
Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc., David

Copperfield aka David Kotkin and MGM

Grand Hotel, LLC’s Cross Claim

Team Construction Management, Inc., 04.15.19 | Resnick & Louis | JA 006620 - 28
and Beachers LV, LLC’s Joinder to JA 006622 "
Defendants David Copperfield’s

Disappearing, Inc, David Copperfield

and MGM Grand Hotel, LLC’s Response

to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Certification of

Judgment on Order Shortening Time

Defendant Team Construction 12.29.16 | Resnick & Louis JA 000162 - 1
Management, Inc. And Beachers LV, JA 000165 It
LLC’s Joinder to Backstage Employment

and Referral’s Motion to Bifurcate Trial

Team Construction Management, Inc. 01.18.17 | Resnick & Louis | JA 000235 - 1
And Beachers LV, LLC’s Joinder to JA 000238

Backstage Employment & Referral’s

Reply in Support of the Motion to

Bifurcate Trial

Defendants Team Construction 07.20.18 Resnick & Louis | JA 006327 - 27
Management, Inc. And Beacher LV’s JA 006352

Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for

Judgment as a Matter of Law, or,

Alternatively for a New Trial
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Verdict (Phase 1)

05.29.18

Court

JA 005920 -
JA 005923

25
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50/6 52/23 53/1
125/18 180/8
211/18

sections [2] 34/22
34/23

secured [1] 120/12
security [90] 14/20
34/5 34/10 36/25
37/21 39/25 40/2
40/3 40/7 40/15

40/16 40/20 41/17
42/21 42/23 43/13
46/7 46/8 46/11
46/14 47/6 48/2
50/16 51/4 51/18
53/14 54/18 55/2
55/7 55/19 56/7
60/18 61/14 61/20
84/2 84/12 84/13
85/23 92/17 93/4
105/21 106/5 106/6
106/8 106/25
109/21 110/14
110/18 111/5
111/10 112/3
112/10 112/17
114/1 114/21 115/4
115/13 115/15
125/12 151/21
164/13 164/22
165/4 165/10 166/1
168/1 191/4 197/8
197/10 198/22
201/19 204/19
204/25 206/15
212/8 212/9 212/11
213/15 213/19
213720 213/22
214/15 214/19
235/6 235/15 236/4
236/6 238/14 246/1
2358/7

Security's [1] 48/16
see [92] 9/2 18/21
25/15 25/16 28/15
34/3 36/15 46/19
47/8 50/24 51/11
53/9 61/17 63/3
80/12 97/13 108/25
114/12 117/18
119/3 119/8 119/8
119/10 119/16
120/11 141/5
152/18 153/11
154/13 156/3
163/23 163/24
164/8 171/23
176/12 178/11
179/4 191/23
192/22 195/10
195/17 195/18 |
195/21 196/2 196/8
200/25 201/5
202/16 202/19
203/24 204/6 205/7
206/6 206/16
207/20 207/21
208/1 208/5 209/13
210/13 210/17
211/3 211/18
211/19 211/20
213/10 213/24
218/8 218/10
221/12 221/16
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see... [21] 229/19
230/2 234/2 234/2
235/23 240/11
240/23 241/6
241/16 241/17
241/22 242/5 242/8
242/12 242/16
244/14 244/18
244/19 247/17
249/24 250/14
seeing [4] 7/21
115/19 140/13
216/6

seem [1] 69/13
seems [3] 72/4
96/15 237/12
seen [20] 9/20
13/11 33/11 64/6
108/21 109/3
109/11 109/12
122/5152/10
152/13 168/12
168/13 197/4
206/19 212/9 233/4
233/5 244/20 251/3
sees [2] 46/6 210/23
selected [2] 172/20
1172722

SELMAN [3] 2/16
2/21 3/11
selmanbreitman.co
m [1] 2/24

selmanlaw.com [1]
2/19

sending [1] 69/25
senior [1] 165/21
sense [3] 72/4
118/9118/9
sensitive [3] 111/14
113/1 113/25

sent [2] 77/17
256/14

sentence [2] 175/3
179/21

separate [1] 249/8
September [1]
238/3

 |September 24th [1]

238/3
sequestration [5]
89/19 89/21 89/22
90/13 90/18
serious [5] 23/15
23/18 32/5 33/1
126/21

seriously [1] 33/13
service [5] 145/24
146/19 147/5 147/7
173/14

session [2] 5/9
125/1

set [7] 18/5110/25
168/24 173/12
189/3 202/17 242/3

sets [9] 110/16
110/17 137/3
181/12 202/12
202/14 205/16
205/20 205/20
seven [1] 128/24
seven-stage [1]
128/24

several [2] 249/19
257/3

severely [1] 32/15
shadow [1] 201/11
shall [4] 12/11
46/21 47/25 145/23
shaping [1] 89/24
share [1] 153/6
she [57] 38/1 38/25
39/1 39/2 39/3
68/10 68/11 69/2
69/3 69/14 69/16
69/19 70/8 70/11
70/13 73/21 74/19
84/2 84/3 84/12
84/12 86/10 88/19
88/20 88/20 89/3
89/4 89/4 89/5 89/5
89/6 89/6 89/11
89/11 89/12 89/13
89/14 89/15 90/2
90/18 90/20 90/25
91/1 91/2 94/11
94/20 94/23 95/6
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she... [9] 96/25 99/2
101/3 101/12
102/24 103/1 106/1
106/5 175/12
she'd [1] 81/19
she's [6] 85/5 90/4
90/20 97/1 101/7
104/3

shed [1] 255/23
sheer [1] 74/8
sheet [1] 243/7
shiny [2] 205/24
206/1

shoe [2] 89/4 89/5
shoes [2] 131/4
214/5

short [1] 108/23
shortest [3] 136/10
141/22 219/8

shot [2] 117/13
117/17

should [59] 7/8 9/7
9/15 28/22 34/2
34/3 40/8 41/2 45/6
47/24 49/7 50/2
51/22 54/8 55/19
56/1 57/17 58/15
58/25 59/7 60/5
60/16 60/17 60/19
61/17 62/8 62/13
62/15 62/22 62/24

66/5 72/21 78/13
78/20 81/4 84/18
85/1 85/2 85/6
86/20 91/23 95/20
102/23 105/20
106/2 142/11
142/17 154/22
206/19 207/15
212/22 215/4
235/20 236/5 236/6
236/18 236/25
247/1 247/3
shouldn't [7] 30/13
59/2 62/15 80/17
96/3 146/18 166/3
show [42] 35/18
43/1 44/3 48/11
50/2 64/8 75/3
77/18 102/14
108/22 109/18
119/1 119/1 129/18
139/16 139/23
167/24 184/13
185/2 186/2 191/7
192/3 196/7 197/12
201/15 204/4 205/5
206/4 206/25 209/4
212/24 213/3 215/2
217/8 233/14
240/22 243/4
244/13 250/16
251/8 252/9 256/8

showed [13] 78/25
109/7 110/1 116/21
166/24 170/23
217/6 217/23 225/7
225/18 225/18
226/19 231/16
showing [11] 82/1
140/20 152/14
185/5 197/21
199/23 200/15
204/25 216/5
218/16 254/21
shown [16] 78/21
79/19 86/23 86/23
97/10 134/14
163/20 184/23
191/18 192/5
195/10 216/2 216/4
217/20 217/25
218/2

shows [15] 73/1
90/10 116/25 1171
118/1 120/6 200/6
209/10 222/2
229/20 245/8 250/6
251/3 254/18 256/8
shy [1] 238/3

side [18] 77/2
110/17 192/19
192/20 193/1 193/2
208/2 208/3 221/14
237/11 237/13
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side... [7] 237/17
237/20 250/23
250/24 251/2
253/18 254/2
sidewalk [7] 69/16
209/10 209/14
210/14 210/19
211/4 212/3

sight [4] 54/24
55/18 55/23 55/24
Signature [1] 19/7
significance [1]
17/3

similar [1] 200/3
similarity [3] 88/14
89/4 200/9

simple [1] 151/23
since [13] 83/18
98/25118/14
133/19 139/19
157/18 168/3 201/3
223/10 251/11
251/12 254/23
255/19

single [3] 75/7
139/15 182/8

sir [135] 13/3 13/9
13/13 13/23 15/1
15/8 15/12 15/15
15/19 15/25 16/4
16/7 16/13 16/14

17/6 17/15 18/23
19/1 19/419/16
19/22 19/25 20/4
20/25 21/17 21/19
22/20 24/12 25/7
25/13 26/4 26/9
26/22 27/19 28/1
28/4 28/21 29/2
29/21 29/24 30/7
30/9 30/20 30/25
31/21 37/537/13
37/21 38/5 42/12
42/16 45/15 45/21
46/4 46/12 46/17
47/4 50/12 50/24
60/21 61/6 64/5
108/8 111/25 112/4
116/1 121/15 128/4
128/8 129/15
134/16 135/10
139/10 139/13
146/24 152/9
152/12 153/9 158/8
159/15 159/22
160/6 161/24
164/10 167/4 189/4
190/4 190/10
190/14 190/20
191/11 191/16
191/21 192/6
192/22 193/10
193/15 193/19

193/22 194/1 194/9
194/11 194/13
194/14 194/15
196/17 197/3 197/6
203/11 207/19
211/1 211/20
213/22 214/8
215/12 215/20
218/11 222/1 225/1
225/2 231/18 235/4
235/8 238/8 240/9
240/15 243/6 244/9
244/12 248/21
248/22 254/13
255/17 255/21
255/25

sit [3] 88/593/20
167/12

site [1] 246/5

sits [1] 234/22
sitting [6] 6/25 69/2
78/3 161/25162/3
162/11

situation [6] 28/18
46/23 82/10 101/18
130/19 171/18

six [2] 81/14 85/22
Sixth [1] 3/12

sky [1] 115/24

slip [2] 85/8 85/9
slip-and-fall [2]
85/8 85/9
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slipped [3] 89/6
89/7 92/20

slope [6] 237/5
237/11 23712
237/13 237/20
238/22

slow [1] 75/13

so [328]

so-and-so [2]
176/20 176/23
social [1] 91/19
soiled [1] 246/23
solemnly [1] 12/9
some [50] 13/516/6
17/17 25/21 29/8
34/23 37/24 42/6
64/3 64/12 66/5
68/24 69/15 70/8
76/10 77/10 78/21
78/21 87/17 88/23
91/7 108/17 109/17
113/24 116/17
116/24 129/6
132/20 143/24
153/4 166/16 167/9
168/1 177/13
186/17 195/23
195/24 209/5
212/22 213/21
216/2 219/19 224/8
234/14 235/3

241/16 246/23
247/15 249/15
249/20

somebody [28]
6/217/7 24/21 27/9
40/1 61/13 73/10
73/15 74/2 102/4
119/12 121/16
126/16 130/1 130/1
130/8 130/17 131/2
132/10 132/23
152/20 160/14
160/16 176/17
176/22 176/25
178/17 184/16
somebody's [1]
132/11

somehow [2] 70/10
81/13

someone [20] 7/11
24/15 24/17 30/22
32/12 32/24 34/4
51/20 74/13 74/14
75/19 83/6 87/6
91/18 94/7 99/17
120/23 122/13
160/18 174/20
something [45]
6/14 23/4 23/5 23/7
23/14 24/4 25/5
27/3 28/15 28/16
28/19 29/11 30/5

47/10 51/16 69/17
71/4 76/1 76/3 91/8
91/9 99/18 105/11
105/14 119/3
119/13 126/18
130/2 130/20
135/17 148/2
150/14 165/23
166/2 167/1 170/6
175/23 176/3 191/7
192/2 206/16 217/4
228/3 254/10
255/22

sometime [3] 38/18
38/20 71/22
sometimes [1]
13/20

somewhat [1]
48/15

somewhere [3]
2724 174/17
234/20

sooner [5] 66/12
71/22 78/23 81/8
86/10

sorry [33] 47/8
47/18 47/20 47/23
48/7 48/8 48/12
48/12 48/13 49/9
82/21 88/6 88/6
88/6 95/9 110/9
127/17 136/25
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sorry... [15] 145/8
154/23 157/4
157/11 157/13
172/17 193/3 207/2
207/10 211/11
211/11 217/3
217/17 231/12
255/11

sort [5] 8/19 69/17
167/13 230/8
233/16

sorted [1] 112/22
sound [2] 133/6
246/13

sounds [2] 26/13
133/4

south [5] 2/12 3/5
65/15 221/14 260/4
space [13] 138/25
202/23 203/15
203/17 204/2
218/14 219/8 224/8
224/16 244/23
244/25 245/4 245/7
speak [8] 58/5 88/9
108/19 131/5
131/16 151/9 161/9
258/21

speaking [2]
145/22 238/10
specific [4] 15/9

51/16 105/25 130/2
specifically [8]
17/21 84/3 99/3
109/20 122/11
128/16 250/8
254/21

specifics [1] 68/14
speculate [5]
111/19 153/4
165/11 193/5
206/18
speculation [6]
41/22 121/2 131/9
156/22 230/17
23020

speech [1] 55/9
speed [1] 75/15
spell [1] 12/13
spent [2] 226/10
226/15

spoke [5] 70/15
84/2 132/19 184/10
235/5

spoken [2] 159/21
159/25

spot [2] 146/17
193/4

spotlights [2]
148/25 239/9
square [1] 196/3
St [1] 223/25
stadium [2] 79/19

172/25
stadium-style [1]
172/25

staff [3] 17/23
156/15 156/18
stage [9] 100/20
128/20 128/24
172/13 172/25
173/4 173/6 173/20
187/8

stagehand [3] 55/1
55/3 55/7
stagehands [3]
58/20 257/24 258/5
staging [2] 251/8
252/10

stake [1] 83/2
staked [1] 85/1
stamp [2] 141/10
209/13

stand [13] 12/8
37/23 38/1 50/14
95/17 125/24 127/2
175/12 176/23
177/3 183/4 230/5
244/16

standard [5] 85/6
85/13 85/14 149/24
150/2

standing [5] 39/12
54/19 54/22 55/16
85/3
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Staple [1] 259/7
start [7] 20/23
20/24 54/14 127/10
157/8 243/24 244/2
started [8] 9/4 21/3
63/18 100/7 104/6
207/14 219/13
258/4

starts [8] 52/23
152/23 172/1 172/6
180/1 180/11
180/18 233/22
state [6] 5/14 12/13
37/25 89/16 122/3
149/20

stated [22] 50/25
76/5 112/17 126/7
140/17 143/5 166/8
171/5172/3 172/4
172/19 173/24
174/9 175/4 175/5
175/6 176/20
177/10 182/2 182/9
194/16 255/17
statement [83]
23/19 23/20 24/19
26/13 26/18 26/19
26/20 31/20 32/1
37/20 38/24 41/12
41/13 41/21 4272
42/3 46/8 47/12

50/22 51/11 52/11
54/9 56/2 56/3
57/17 57/18 57/20
58/4 58/6 60/25
61/2 61/9 61/10
62/19 63/5 88/24
108/4 141/21
143/10 143/20
156/9 158/23
158/25 159/18
160/17 162/17
164/14 170/12
171/25172/8
173/21 174/19
174/20 175/6
175/20 175/22
176/4 176/23 177/8
177/10 177/25
178/8 179/9 179/12
179/14 179/18
181/15 181/19
181/19 183/10
183/11 183/12
183/15 183/20
184/22 185/3 195/3
195/4 213/10
214/25 215/2
228/23 236/11
statements [16]
51/10 51/12 52/2
52/15 54/6 60/23
60/25 61/3 62/24

63/11 77/14 88/17
163/8 181/10
181/20 182/10
states [10] 86/14
86/15 86/20 176/20
180/1 180/2 180/16
180/19 235/19
237/25

stating [1] 100/8
Statutes [1] 181/14
stay [1] 25/22
steel [1] 199/7
step [S] 102/23
169/24 170/3
174/12 259/13
Stephanie [1] 158/3
stepped [1] 170/5
steps [1] 27/12
still [14] 24/10
37/17 51/3 94/7
113/16 122/24
123/18 156/21

| 184/5 186/5 194/24

194/25 222/6
256/11

stipulate [7] 11/25
95/23 107/10 125/6
188/17 220/24
222/19

stipulated [17] 12/2
12/3 34/11 71/2
162/15 225/21
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stipulated... [11]
227/5227/8 227/12
227/14 227/18
228/5228/13
228/17 228/20
228/24 229/5
stipulating [1]
220/10

stipulation [4] 87/2
220/11 226/3
227/17
stipulations [3]
219/24 220/7
225/23

stood [1] 244/15
Stop [1] 241/6
stopped [1] 86/1
storage [2] 251/8
252/10

store [3] 146/10
146/13 146/14
stored [2] 145/24
146/19

stores [1] 146/8
story [3] 9/23 77/2
133/22
straightforward [1]
146/6
STRASSBURG [9]
2/11 6/10 170/8
186/6 187/24

188/21 228/22
231/11 231/16
street [2] 234/18
234/19

strict [2] 53/19
53/22

strike [5] 60/13
67/6 154/5 251/25
252/3

Strip [1] 211/25
stubbed [1] 25/13
stuff [11] 10/2
137/5 146/16
180/25 185/1
217/11 219/9 246/4
247/5 251/5 254/2
style [1] 172/25
subcategories [3]
249/20 249/22
249/23
subcategory [1]
250/14
subcontract [1]
216/15

subject [13] 65/5
65/11 93/18 94/17
102/5113/6 124/9
124/15 169/6
169/12 181/18
259/19 259/25
submitted [6] 8/21
65/13 124/17

169/14 259/1 260/1
subsequent [1]
29/1

substantial [11]
37/16 78/17 78/22
79/11 81/7 86/16
88/14 89/3 104/8
104/10 200/8
substantially [2]
82/3 200/3

such [4] 23/13 29/7
63/20 238/22
sudden [2] 25/18
239/14

suddenly [1]
179/19

suffered [1] 46/24
suggest [1] 11/6
suggested [2]
138/17 225/24
suggesting [5]
84/24 85/5 91/6
91/15 165/8

Suite [3] 2/17 2/22
3/6

summarized [1]
176/2

summary [1]
174/10

Sunday [2] 72/11
72/15

super [1] 75/16
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supermarket [2]
85/8 85/11
supervisor [1] 34/5
supplies [1] 219/3
supposed [7] 84/9
85/9 119/1 164/23
165/4 234/16 260/8
supreme [3] 86/19
86/19 90/5

sure [42] 9/20
10/19 21/5 36/18
44/5 46/9 47/24
48/14 71/19 76/24
92/11 99/16 108/5
108/5 109/12
125/22 127/24
133/8 133/11 138/4
138/5 142/21
149/15 154/22
161/14 161/18
162/10 1'11/13
171/24 206/1
206/22 21713
219/1 220/6 222/10
222/13 224/9
225/13 226/1 232/9
233/17 240/24
surface [1] 206/1
surround [1]
121/22
surveillance [24]

64/1 64/3 108/20
111/9 112/11
112/23 114/2 114/6
114/25 115/14

[ 118/1 122/24 123/6

123/8 123/18
123/21 152/10
160/1 160/2 160/7
250/5 254/17 255/6
256/6

surveilled [1] 114/5
suspect [1] 118/2
sustain [1] 121/4
Sustained [20]
16/17 20/8 21/12
49/15 55/11 57/3
57/9 60/14 63/15
112/15121/11
129/13 132/7 144/3
144/19 149/13
150/18 190/24
236/12 239/18
swear [1] 12/9
swimming [1]
132/21

swing [2] 12/19
253/15

swinging [1]
253/19

sworn [1] 193/12
systems [1] 18/1

T

take [47] 8/2 8/11
8/13 9/3 16/21
27/12 35/22 54/10
55/1 56/18 57/16
61/14 64/8 64/12
64/13 64/15 64/20
65/19 65/24 79/23
102/15 105/15
110/3 114/8 119/5
126/24 126/24
131/5131/8 131/12
139/1 169/1 180/5
180/14 182/12
192/25 227/10
229/2 235/11
235/12 235/14
235/16 235/20
236/5 236/9 246/24
249/21

taken [28] 17/4
83/10 84/4 95/17
100/12 107/5
124/22 142/11
142/17 169/18
170/21 171/2 198/7
200/1 200/21
201/19 202/7
206/17 208/7
208/24 209/1 209/9
219/25 221/1 235/6
236/25 238/1
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taken... [1] 256/11
takes [4] 75/3 83/21
170/25 183/8
taking [6] 8/15
48/15 50/14 165/10
204/18 204/25

talk [22] 17/21 30/3
34/20 40/17 40/20
61/5 65/2 83/3 93/4
108/17 108/20
124/7 126/4 129/2
132/10 134/1 152/6
152/6 160/10 169/4
179/24 259/16
talked [10] 51/1
84/13 93/25 101/5
187/12 190/17
204/13 226/21
238/15 242/3
talking [S52] 21/25
26/17 31/15 35/2
35/3 40/24 42/20
42/21 49/10 49/11
50/1 52/24 53/1
85/19 94/13 97/5
97/5100/7 101/2
103/12 103/13
108/10 109/18
109/19 120/12
124/1 127/19
128/16 131/18

131/18 151/5
171/18 178/20
178/25 179/1
180/17 184/5
191/20 198/13
200/24 205/14
212/25 226/15
229/19 232/8 239/6
239/21 240/4
240/21 241/10
241/21 251/18
talks [4] 36/22
164/6 172/12
180/22

tall [3] 118/11
126/15 250/22
TAP [2] 223/14
224/11

tape [5] 64/1
152/10 152/16
160/1 160/7

tapes [1] 160/3
team [26] 1/122/9
6/11 7/11 10/3
10/1510/16 104/21
105/1 105/4 134/21
135/5 135/11 136/1
136/5 136/20
138/18 140/15
140/21 177/18
189/5 189/19
189/24 190/12

213/20 224/16
Team's [2] 191/15
216/15

technical [1] 81/24
technicalities [3]
78/14 78/16 86/22
technicality [1]
79/10

technically [2]
20/20 20/22
television [4] 65/10
124/14 169/11
259/23

tell [32] 13/16
13/25 14/7 54/11
66/25 88/19 88/20
121/24 133/11
151/10 156/11
158/1 161/22 162/2
162/25163/1
163/10 168/16
178/16 201/7
201/10 208/10
211/21 211/24
224/22 242/18
242/19 242/20
248/2 253/14
257/13 258/23
telling [7] 58/24
61/22 77/10 83/14
131/6 131/25
132/24
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tells [2] 131/21
230/11
Temporary [2]
145/5 145/7

ten [1] 58/12
tenant [2] 218/14
246/16

tend [1] 204/8
tendered [1] 63/23
term [5] 30/18
32/15 57/10 115/24
115/25

terms [6] 76/5
132/2 165/22 172/9
172/9 172/13
testified [19] 38/2
59/10 72/24 73/3
88/19 88/20 88/22
89/11 98/13 100/18
101/25 102/24
105/24 110/12
135/17 144/11
163/13 168/6 253/9
testifies [1] 181/17
testify [9] 10/1
35/16 68/10 77/6
81/19 87/14 101/12
160/19 175/12
testifying [1] 162/8
testimony [61] 9/1
12/10 35/7 37/24

37/25 39/4 39/8
40/11 44/4 54/17
58/21 69/1 69/5
69/8 70/3 70/19
72720 75/7 75/25
80/19 80/20 80/21
81/17 84/2 86/11
89/13 89/24 89/25
90/3 90/20 90/23
92/3 92/23 93/10
94/8 94/12 97/9
97/25 100/2 101/1
102/21 102/22
105/20 127/4
128/22 129/5
129/25131/20
132/5 140/7 141/15
142/24 143/4
162/25163/1
163/20 166/19
166/25 167/11
233/14 246/19
than [29] 13/21
30/22 46/19 64/14
66/12 66/20 71/22
73/6 74/8 79/6 82/6
86/9 91/9 92/16
93/3 94/11 101/5
103/6 111/8 114/2
114/7 114/24
115/19 160/17
160/18 199/25

217/6 235/16 260/4
thank [39] 11/12
29/2 36/3 43/3 46/9
64/24 67/4 88/12
95/4 104/19 109/9
113/12 113/14
113/18 113/19
123/11 124/19
159/19 163/14
164/4 165/24
166/10 168/19
169/16 185/14
188/8 189/5 209/23
225/2 237/8 243/17
248/21 248/22
254/12 255/2 257/6
259/4 261/3 261/4
thankfully [2]
75/18 133/25
Thanks [1] 205/21
that [1291]

that's [224] 6/23
7/4 7/23 8/22 8/23
9/2 15/6 15/15
16/13 17/3 21/5
23/20 26/5 28/16
29/13 30/10 30/16
31/20 31/25 32/11
32/23 34/17 36/14
38/16 40/25 41/5
41/13 41/21 42/2
42/3 44/19 45/10
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that's... [192] 45/13
46/8 46/10 49/4
49/9 50/3 53/6
S53/19 53721 54/17
36/9 57/2 61/2 61/9
61/10 62/14 62/14
66/7 66/9 68/22
69/17 69/20 70/1
T1/17 72/5 7711
79/21 80/2 80/17
81/10 83/4 84/7
84/17 84/23 85/5
85/19 88/22 92/4
92/7 95/24 96/14
97/797/14 97/19.
102/22 103/7 106/6
109/7 109/19 110/1
110/17 115/1 115/6
116/25 117/1 117/3
118/16 119/8
119/18 119/20
123/22 125/19
130/2 130/6 133/1
133/23 138/10
141/1 141/10
141/20 141/21
142/19 143/3 143/8
146/2 146/3 146/4
146/5 147/6 148/12
149/24 1511
154/20 155/17

155/21 158/3
158/23 158/24
159/11 160/14
162/17 164/16
166/23 168/18
171/20 173/22
174/4 174/15 175/6
175/20 176/6
176/24 178/16

178/18 178/21

179/16 181/20
182/11 183/15
183/17 183/23
184/1 185/13
185/20 185/22
185/24 185/24
187/25 189/11
189/13 190/9
194/10 194/19
194/19 196/12
197/14 200/21
200/25 202/17
203/8 203/12
203/14 205/15
206/12 208/13
209/6 209/25 210/2
210/5 210/7 21572
215/8 215/19
216/17 217/18
218/19 219/2
220723 221/1
221/19 222/9

224/24 225/20
225/24 227/22
228/15 229/1
229/22 229/23
230/8 230/13
230/14 230/22
230/24 231/2 231/3
231/5 231/15
232/25 233/1 235/9
235/20 237/2 237/8
240/16 242/12
242/18 245/3 245/8
245/10 245/12
246/18 246/21
248/8 248/20 251/5
251/6 253/14 254/6
254/8 255/21 259/1
theater [7] 134/25
155/14 157/20
173/3 173/16
173/18 202/11 -
their [37] 6/18 11/1
11/5 11/17 25/25
34/5 48/3 65/20
75/14 77/13 84/16
84/17 85/17 87/10
89/24 91/7 92/15
92/22 92/23 92/23
93/1 93/5 93/10

1 96/5100/9 131/4

135/13 149/10
164/23 165/12
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their... [7] 168/8
177/25 214/21
216/17 222/6 246/4
253720

them [59] 7/19 7/23

10/12 11/2 13/17
13/17 19/24 59/19
60/10 60/19 63/4
67/17 71/21 72/6
72/10 73/7 75/9
75/15 78/25 79/1
79/2 79/2 779/5 79/6
81/1 81/1 81/2
81/11 81/15 85/18
87/16 91/7 92/25
93/23 95/24 100/19
103/18 122/7 130/8
130/19131/3 131/4
131/6 132/25
152/18 156/4
157/19 163/10
171/13 173/18
186/21 188/1
201/15 238/14
245/2 247/2 249/20
254/21 257/12
themselves [1] 26/8
then [102] 7/59/5
9/8 9/9 14/21 18/3
20/19 21/8 24/23
24/24 25/16 25/23

25/24 26/2 26/7
28/2532/19 34/19
41/8 41/19 44/6
45/7 48/4 48/18
64/21 65/20 65/24
67/25 71/24 72/9
72/12 79/22 80/13
83/10 83/20 89/2
89/14 91/2 91/13
93/7 93/22 94/23
96/16 97/14 98/10
98/17 99/17 99/235
100/2 100/2 100/25
101/9 102/1 102/12
119/11 131/17
138/18 141/12
148/17 154/20
157/7 171/1 172/5
173/7 173/9 173/13
175/19 177/7
178/20 178/23
179/19 180/11
182/12 185/11
186/4 187/6 188/4
193/7 199/23
199/25 201/21
202/16 202/23
213/6 218/16 222/2
225/24 226/4
233/12 234/24
236/5 236/17
238/12 245/19

245/20 245/25
246/5 248/23
249/19 249/22
256/8 259/9

there [289]

there's [103] 14/17
18/5 23/6 26/5 26/6
30/8 34/25 39/4
43/24 47/17 60/8
66/13 66/21 70/10
74/12 74/18 79/2
79/5 79/10 80/3
81/19 82/23 83/14
84/1 84/5 87/2
87/19 88/22 89/3
89/8 89/21 90/17
90/21 93/2 93/7
97/2 102/25 111/20
113/16 115/13
115/19 116/23
117/15118/6
118/14 118/20
120/24 123/24
129/21 131/7
131/21 132/1
132/23 133/14
133/16 148/25
150/3 156/20
157/18 159/11
162/18 170/6 172/1
174/17 177/3
178/20 184/19
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there's... [36]
184/20 184/21
184/22 191/7 192/2
194/1 194/16
195/23 201/8
202/12 202/14
202/17 202/23
203/2 203/16
204/10 206/5
212/22 215/1 220/1
220/25 223/12
224/19 224/21
230/7 230/20 234/1
238/22 245/10
249/3 250/14
250/20 251/11
260/15 260/17
260/18

therefore [7] 40/1
80/23 81/22 98/13
100/18 177/15
200/2

these [31] 24/10
67/25 74/22 74/25
77/3 79/3 79/5
85/15102/19
129/10 146/25
149/16 156/17
175/15 183/4 184/2
198/21 202/12
202/20 202/21

202/25 203/9
204/18 211/7
211721 212/2 242/5
242/9 249/17 258/1
259/7

they [223] 10/1
10/12 25/19 27/7
27/24 40/8 41/18
48/3 48/6 48/7
48/16 49/11 49/23
51/7 51/21 521
52/6 52/7 54/21
56/16 56/16 58/14
58/17 59/2 59/3
60/6 60/9 60/16
60/20 62/10 62/11
62/12 62/13 62/15
62/15 62/21 62/25
63/3 63/3 63/4 66/5
67/767/9 67/13
71/18 74/3 74/4
74/16 75/13 75/22
77/19 77/22 78/4
78/5 78/5 78/13
78/20 79/3 79/4
79/16 79/24 80/23
80/24 81/3 81/5
81/15 82/24 83/4
84/18 85/2 85/16
85/16 85/24 86/2
87/587/11 87/13
87/16 87/17 87/21

88/16 91/11 91/12
91/21 93/595/25
96/2 99/1 99/23
99/25 100/9 102/10
102/13 103/4 103/5
103/16 103/18
103/18 103/21
103/22 104/17
104/18 107/12
111/20 112/6 112/9
114/1 117/24
118/13119/8 119/9
119/10 120/18
120/24 121/18
122/1 122/14
127/21127/23
128/12 128/14
128/17 128/21
129/18 130/20
130/20 131/5
131/15 131/16
132/14 132/16
132/24 133/18
135/4 136/7 139/6
141/1 141/2 141/16
146/16 153/11
153/14 153/16
153/17 153/19
153/24 153/25
154/2 154/13
155/13 162/8 162/9
166/2 166/2 168/1
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they... [68] 168/8
168/9170/10 171/9
172/24 172/25
173/7 173/13
175/16 182/11
184/6 184/7 184/12
188/1 192/24
192/25 196/25
197/6 199/7 206/18
206/18 211/8 211/8
| 211/24 214/21
221/5222/4 222/6
222/14 223/17
223/24 223/25
224/4 229/24
233/23 236/18
238/12 238/16
238/19 238/19
238/21 238/22
239/2 239/3 239/5
239/21 241/4
241/25 241/25
242/9 242/13
244/18 246/4 246/5
246/6 246/6 246/8
247/1 247/3 247/17
248/7 250/23
250/24 251/2 254/6
257/3 257/13
258/23

they'd [1] 229/16

they'll [4] 70/14
81/5 247/2 259/7
they're [43] 7/11
34/18 34/18 48/7
48/20 48/24 77/8
83/7 83/13 83/19
92/16 95/22 103/7
103/14 111/9
111/12 121/22
121/25122/13
127/15128/19
129/10 131/22
132/2 132/16 149/1
154/16 155/3
157/20 160/9
160/23 160/24
163/12 166/7
170/21 184/16
199/3 211/8 212/1
232/7 236/19 239/5
250/3

they've [6] 92/14
95/17 96/7 116/17
118/17 216/16
thing [34] 7/5 18/5
27/8 29/8 34/19
34/22 35/17 43/10
72/3 72/14 73/2
91/599/4 102/11
103/12 104/15
120/7 132/2 147/4
168/4 170/25

171/21 180/7
182/20 182/22
184/1 185/24
195/25 217/12
220/25 230/7
238/24 238/24
2511

things [38] 10/12
14/17 15/7 15/8
19/18 38/14 43/24
43/25 44/3 47/2
64/12 67/7 73/20
74/19 83/15 97/19
103/5106/1 106/10
107/20 107/21
108/15 111/20
133/3 133/18
144/13 146/10
146/13 172/12
180/9 181/9 183/2
187/17 192/5
196/20 212/22
217/2 228/13
think [107] 7/4
7/13 8/11 8/13 8/14
8/17 8/18 8/22 8/23
9/39/1411/8 15/16
26/23 30/4 30/11
30/14 34/6 35/8
36/13 36/14 39/1
41/19 47/1 50/1
50/2 51/5 57/25
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think... [79] 59/4
| 67/1 67/24 68/6
68/7 68/20 68/20
68/21 68/23 68/25
70/1 70/4 70/19
73/18 75/4 76/4
76/8 78/24 82/14
83/22 86/15 86/25
87/3 87/23 88/8
98/8 100/11 104/20
105/19 106/1 106/8
106/10 106/23
115/6 118/3 118/4
118/5 118/8 119/6
119/7 120/22
120/23 123/24
124/1 133/10
133/11 133/12
133/14 142/6
142/10 142/12
142/16 148/1 157/9
165/22 170/21
176/9 176/11
176/13 183/17
184/3 193/5 196/6
200/7 205/6 207/11
207/13 212/22
215/19 221/19
223/16 224/24
225/9 226/5 227/4
233/5 248/20

251/23 259/9
thinking [2] 8/16
66/11

thinks [1] 7/7
third [9] 1/17 1/21
2/529/12 29/17
178/23 194/10
242/2 255/5
Third-Party (2]
1/17 1/21
Thirteen [12] 38/3
38/7 38/13 39/6
S58/11 70/21 87/9
166/22 167/7
167/14 222/4
257728

this [414]

those [58] 6/18
19/23 38/14 53/23
61/15 66/3 74/18
82/7 86/3 86/4
91/15 91/24 103/9
103/24 103/25
104/12105/3 107/1
107/23 108/2
110/16 111/23
112/3 115/15
115/17 115/18
128/2 133/2 133/18
135/17 144/25
145/1 147/14 152/3
153/6 155/11

165/11 166/8
167/25 180/25
182/9 184/13
185/19 196/20
198/24 199/2
202/15 202/22
203/6 210/15 220/6
223/16 225/23
234/15 238/14
243/11 243/16
248/24

though [5] 38/17
73/5 87/12 115/12
231/4 |
thought [20] 6/16
6/19 15/22 16/2
57/8 57/24 80/6
80/19 94/1 97/20
99/15 100/6 100/8
101/2 101/11
107/20 147/18
227/13 237/16
258/6

thoughts [1] 8/18
three [15] 17/23
35/3 81/12 87/16
102/18 105/12
105/13 172/4
174/17 178/11
179/24 184/5
184/20 202/14
205/20
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through [43] 1/13
1/141/14 1/20
19/11 25/25 48/9
48/11 74/1 74/25
97/11 110/7 115/20
11713 117/17
125/17 127/22
128/13 128/22
129/1 134/10 137/5
139/3 139/8 139/19
155/8 159/4 164/13
173/6 173/10
173/12 173/13
180/8 181/5192/10
192/15 195/6
198/23 221/6 239/3
241/22 249/22
250721
throughout [3]
18/3 18/10 91/19
throw [2] 254/2
254/4

thus [1] 75/8

time [87] 7/23 8/10
8/159/3 11/6 12/5
15/14 16/9 20/7
20/13 21/1 21/6
22/9 22/21 24/5
24/7 34/8 35/17
39/5 39/16 40/24
45/7 52/8 55/1 58/9

58/21 63/5 63/6
63/14 66/22 67/15
69/18 71/14 71/24
83/12 85/7 85/16
92/1 94/5 101/19
101/22 104/14
105/2 105/22
113/11 114/9
118/11 1271
134/15 137/12
139/12 143/15
147/2 151/18
153/18 154/18
155/13 157/18
158/4 161/6 161/22
167/13 167/18
168/24 171/19
174/14 178/14
182/5 185/17 187/6
187/7 194/10
194/23 195/10
200/9 214/23 219/8
219/19 219/25
224/16 226/8

| 237/15 239/12

239/12 254/1
256/10 256/10
times [11] 109/4
115/16 120/13
120/14 139/15
142/2 148/22
152/13 196/25

257/4 257/4
timing [1] 172/12
tire [S] 195/24
196/13 199/8 201/5
201/12 |
title [S] 140/16
140/17 140/18
165/22 181/14
today [16] 7/13
7/14 7125 14/11
19/11 50/14 95/21
106/4 152/11
162/14 166/20
167/12 186/25
187/23 195/4
214/24

toe [2] 25/13 25/19
together [6] 29/6
85/25 129/25 180/6
246/10 249/7

told [28] 48/3 73/21
74/3 75/12 77/3
91/8 91/9 150/8
156/14 156/17
163/9 173/22
173/23 173/25
174/3 174/21
175/13 175/23
176/1 176/6 181/22
181/23 185/9 189/5
207/13 219/14
248/7 257/13
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told him [1] 174/21
tomorrow [3]
71/22 72/7 72/10
too [13] 60/19
64/15 66/23 68/17
70/5 82/17 82/22
95/1 104/25 152/13
177/22 206/23
224/5

took [13] 52/9
79/16 79/24 85/17
92/18 95/8 100/17
101/14 101/20
104/17 142/13
242/6 242/9

top [4] 126/18
127/11 180/1 254/5
totally [2] 75/17
101/4

touched {1] 218/22
toward [6] 211/25
237/17 238/12
238/12 240/12
242/10

towards [2] 245/15
245/21

tower [1] 208/5
track [6] 74/5
203/21 204/2 204/5
205/18 206/5
track-in [3] 203/21

204/2 205/18
tracked [1] 206/4
tracking [1] 205/1
training [2] 48/10
48/11
TRANSCRIPT [2]
1/15 262/5
transfer [7] 26/11
27/13 28/5 29/16
30/24 31/5 44/22

- |transferring [2]

30/2 30/21
translates [1]
229/21
transported [1]
23/14

trash [6] 140/8
218/2 218/9 250/18
250/24 251/17
traversing [1]
147/1

tread [2] 199/2
199/4

treat [1] 222/25
tree [23] 115/20
117/13117/14
117/15117/17
118/6 118/6 118/10
118/23 118/23
118/25119/5 119/5
126/18 222/8 222/8
222/11222/12

| 222/13 240/4 240/5 |

240/14 241/23
Tree's [1] 126/19
trees [1] 220/3
trial [38] 1/17 5/12
57/2 57/6 57/13
65/6 65/7 65/8
65/12 76/25 77/19
77/23 88/22 89/12
89/14 90/19 90/19
90/21 91/20 94/2
102/14 124/10
124/11 124/12
124/16 144/2
162/14 169/7 169/8
169/9 169/13
181/17 182/8 258/3
259/19 259/21
259/21 259/25
tribunal [1] 10/13
trick [6] 75/21
77/21 81/21 85/1
85/24 106/17

trim 2] 119/4
126/17

tripped [3] 69/16
92/20 93/4

tripping [1] 148/1 |

Trop [1] 208/1
Tropicana [8]
207/22 208/9
209/11 210/19
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Tropicana... [4]
211/4212/3 221/10
221/13

trotting [1] 211/23
truck [7] 115/5
197/13 197/21
199/2 199/3 199/23
201/1

trucks [14] 110/2
110/6 111/3 115/18
119/10 119/16
193/3 193/6 196/20
196/21 196/23
197/4 200/23 203/6
true [48] 8/22 8/23
14/25 15/14 15/15
15/24 16/3 16/6
19/24 32/23 38/15
38/16 42/8 46/8
47/12 51/23 51/25
51/25 55/15 78/11
109/22 109/25
110/3 135/14
137/18 146/1
147/19 158/11
189/8 189/11
189/13 189/19
190/13 190/19
193/25 194/4
194/18 194/19
194/21 195/1 195/4

214/25 215/2 221/9
229/1 255/21
255/24 262/5

truth [18] 12/11
12/11 12/12 76/5

76/7 7717711 %

79/7 83/14 91/9
176/6 181/16
181/21 183/16
194/23 194/24
210/9 210/10
Truth-finding [1]
76/7

truthfulness [1]
84/16

try [5] 30/12 33/24
42/25127/10
257/10

trying [8] 15/2 15/4
28/9 38/19 48/22
130/8 192/6 254/8
turn [11] 24/14
24/15 36/17 116/11
133/16 173/13
234/21 245/20
245/25 246/6 246/8
turnaround [1]
241/25

turned [1] 238/23
turning [1] 129/11
turns [3] 24/16
24/23 77/24

TV [3] 36/10 76/15
89/12
twice [1] 139/16
two [49] 6/18 15/17
19/23 24/10 25/19
"44/25 51/5 66/3
67/25 81/11 82/17
82/25 83/18 87/8
92/17 93/4 102/17
102/19 103/2 103/6
103/16 103/22
104/13 106/9
110/17 120/13
120/13 123/21
133/2 133/18
138/13 138/14
139/15142/2 172/1
172/3 179/1 180/8
180/9 183/2 184/19
202/12 202/16
202/16 205/15
221/2 238/2 243/16
258/7
two-page [2]
138/13 138/14
type [3] 17/4 70/8
253/12
types [1] 196/15
typically [1] 253/11

U

ultimate [1] 149/10
ultimately [2] 24/2
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ultimately... [1]
179/2

unable [1] 74/7
under [24] 17/14
26/20 36/21 38/25
40/3 45/24 46/21
47/6 47/25 49/11
62/13 76/14 89/16
106/16 114/5
137/18 143/8
159/16 159/18
163/8 171/17 183/5
183/13 236/9
understand [63]
6/14 13/16 13/17

23/16 24/15 26/23

28/2 29/21 30/4
32/7 33/24 34/1
37/14 42/10 46/1
47/1 48/22 49/3
49/5 51/15 56/24
56/25 58/3 58/9
59/22 66/10 68/19
70/12 80/5 80/8
88/15 88/25 89/1
92/9 95/10 97/4
104/2 104/5 108/9
115/22 116/19
116/23 117/23
119/14 131/16
132/14 132/15

139/18 146/3
147/25 163/5
166/19 167/16
177/1 180/20 182/4
182/6 189/20
199/18 214/16
217/1 231/3 236/22
understanding [41]
13/14 13722 17/7
17/17 18/15 25/7
25/12 100/13 110/5
115/12 120/1 122/4
134/12 134/18
148/6 149/21
149/22 154/10
154/12 154/15
154/20 155/1
155/10 156/16
157/6 157/16
157/17 164/11
167/5167/7 218/25
224/12 228/15
243/9 245/3 246/15
246/18 246/21
250/21 251/6
251/14
understands [1]
105/6

understood [9]
59/18 69/7 97/15
99/5101/15 115/2
185/13 214/17

228/12

unfair [2] 143/25
162/17

United [1] 86/20
unjust [1] 90/8
unless [8] 7/7 85/15
90/9 135/13 181/17
201/7 212/18 215/1
unnecessary [1]
101/1

unorthodox [1]
76/3

unsafe [1] 149/7
until [15] 20/23
26/5 42/14 64/17
65/12 88/5 107/15
124/16 169/13
187/8 188/2.192/11
195/6 258/3 259/25
up [85] 7/16 7/18
36/1 42/13 44/11
44/15 46/10 52/20
64/12 64/15 64/20
83/6 83/7 98/3 99/4
99/14 102/14
103/19 106/15
107/20 108/3 109/9
115/18 123/12
123/15 126/25
128/20 129/11
137/15 138/3
142/24 143/2 148/8
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up... [52] 148/14
148/16 154/21
155/5 155/25 164/2
168/25 174/12
183/22 185/12
186/22 187/5 188/3
189/7 196/1 206/4
213/4 218/10 222/5
228/6 229/16 230/5
233/24 234/18
234/22 234/23
237/5 237/17
238/13 238/16

| 242/1 243/25
244/15 244/16
247/15 247/23
248/1 248/4 249/25
250/21 251/21
2351/23 252/17
252/19 253/20
254/25 255/1
256/16 257/17
257/18 258/10
259/2

up-ramp [1]
234/18

up-slope [1] 237/5

upcoming [1] 113/6

Upgrade [1] 140/23
upon [5] 40/6 97/19
125/19 153/5

244/14

upper [1] 238/10
us [30] 8/158/15
17/16 17/19 23/3
33/6 43/16 46/5
64/7 71/13 71/23
74/12 74/15 74/17
83/11 84/25 87/2
89/17 102/10
105/12 118/18
131/21 132/19
141/1 153/6 158/1
234/4 236/11
255/11 257/13
use [12] 7/25 32/15
35/13 76/17 98/14
103/20 110/6
167/25 179/7
183/21 194/14
217/10

used [13] 19/12
34/17 72/5 177/13
177/17 177/23
223/15223/18
228/22 229/3
231/11 251/15
253/11

using [2] 132/17
222/6

usual [2] 64/14
169/15

usually [2] 176/22

254/10

utilization [1] 92/5
utilize [3] 35/6
35/15 196/15

utter [1] 220/15

v

vacation [1] 20/19
vacuum [1] 69/14
vague [7] 20/6
21/22 22/157/7
150/16 154/18
190/22

valet [1] 201/3
varies [1] 18/4
various [3] 14/17

1 18/9 150/3

vary [1] 167/16
Vegas [6] 2/12 2/23
3/6 5/1 74/10 219/5
vehicle [4] 195/22
195/24 196/10
199/4

vehicles [2] 151725
196/15 |
versus [3] 94/14
94/14 97/11

very [18] 8/14
10/25 1172 77/5
82/16 89/11 89/14
90/3 101/2 108/22
108/23 111/14
113/24 130/2171/3

JTAU02893




Vv

very... [3] 179/12
179/18 187/3
vetting [16] 127/23
128/14 128/17
128/21 128/24
129/8 129/9 129/21
130/24 130/25
131/1 132/9 132/11
166/18 167/2 167/6
vicinity [1] 212/13
video [60] 64/9
72/1 72/2 72/11
77/17 85/21 108/21
109/4 109/5 109/11
109/14 109/14
110/2 111/1 116/4
116/20 116/23
116/24 117/6
117/16 118/1 118/6
118/7 120/4 120/6
121/17 122/6
122/11 135/25
153/8 153/13
154/13 155/3
237/18 240/3
240/11 240/19
240/23 241/5
241/24 242/8
242/20 250/5
250/10 250/12
250/16 250/20

251/8 251/11 252/9
252/14 254/17
254/23 254/23
255/6 255/18
255/18 256/7 256/8
256/13

videos [4] 7/19
109/15109/17
109/18

videotape [1] 72/3
view [12] 90/22
115/19 115/20
201/2 204/1 235/20
235/23 236/1 236/5
236/25 245/12
253/10

viewed [2] 83/20
135/24

violate [2] 118/19
118/22 |
violation [5] 10/13
89/21 90/9 90/13
920/17

virtually [1] 90/14
visit [1] 224/1
visiting [1] 224/4
voice [1] 206/24
voluntary [1] 50/22

W
W-H-O-L-E [1]
133/23

wait [3] 73/18

192/11 228/7
waiting [1] 141/14
walk [6] 75/13
84/21 91/9 94/14
123/5 211/23
walked [1] 93/7
walking [11] 86/5
121/8 139/3 152/19
153/10 153/18
210/14 210/18
211/7 211/22
211/24

walks [1] 77/5
wall [6] 68/24
69/10 69/12 202/20
202/21 237/1

want [72] 27/7 27/9
28/18 30/5 32/7
32/14 33/5 36/4
44/10 45/17 47/5
47/6 52/23 64/7
64/14 66/15 67/3
70/7 70/9 71/19
73/20 76/3 76/20
79/23 81/2 88/1
88/3 93/15102/4
105/10 105/14
120/5120/19
127/18 128/10
128/23 134/1 138/4
141/17 142/23
147/24 148/9
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want... [30] 148/13
154/3 156/10
156/10 157/2
158/17 159/25
165/2 167/6 171/4
182/11 184/9
184/12 184/23
192/4 192/5 196/5
210/8 212/24
212/25217/10
218/3 222/21
222/25 229/4 231/6
231/23 240/22
244/5 248/2
wanted [12] 27/22
80/11 80/14 107/19
108/3 109/12 119/8
154/25171/9
201/15 217/13
230/5
wanting [1] 27/17
wants [4] 147/17
153/3 179/13 252/4
warn [4] 127/13
128/12 130/8
130/19
was [401]
wasn't [45] 7/25
11/7 20/13 32/14
34/13 38/16 38/20
39/3 39/16 39/23

52/8 56/12 58/16
59/11 60/22 61/3
61/19 73/11 75/5
79/18 94/19 98/7
99/13 117/17
117/17 118/13
135/15 139/11
142/3 142/9 143/15
150/22 168/3
171/17 178/13
190/14 211/14
214/13 222/15
236/13 239/13
239/13 240/16
244/4 258/4
watch [8] 65/6
124/10 130/4
132/25133/17
169/7 241/10
259/20

watching [2]
110/25131/4
water [3] 27/15
29/5 29/9

waving [1] 27/21
way [48] 22/2 30/6
30/14 30/19 30/20
38/21 42/19 48/24
49/5 55/23 55/24
65/21 71/23 72/11
74/12 74/15 74/20
82/5 85/18 87/5

93/11 100/12
103/15 106/4
106/20 132/14
136/10 137/17
170/1 179/6 182/25
191/11 204/16
207/23 221/19
221/24 227/10
230/4 233/19 237/3
238/12 238/19
238/20 239/22
241/22 243/11
247/19 251/16
ways [1] 115/13
we [324]

we'd [5] 82/9 94/1
137/13 170/9 179/7
we'll [20] 9/59/8
9/9 35/4 35/4 42/5
44/6 45/7 64/13
64/20 91/14 105/15
107/15 124/5
125/21 127/10
171/4 182/12 188/5
236/9

we're [83] 5/12
6/13 7/13 7/15 7/17
7/18 7/21 13/20
15/10 27/2 2772
27/14 32/8 34/14
34/21 35/2 35/3
35/13 35/18 42/25
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we're... [63] 45/1
47/18 50/1 52/16
52/24 53/1 61/23
65/24 70/5 71/17
71/20 73/4 81/23
82/15 85/9 85/19
94/13 95/15 97/24
101/9 108/12 111/6
114/22 119/16
120/12 123/22
123/25 124/2 125/4
125/18 137/15
141/8 141/14 143/2
143/19 144/20
152/14 169/23
170/11 182/12
183/9 187/18
199/19 199/20
199/21 202/3
208/12 212/25
216/14 217/15
217/16 217/19
220/10 226/9
227/16 230/14
232/1232/23
240/21 241/9
245/14 247/18
259/9
we've [27] 6/257/7
8/19 19/13 37/22
67/17 71/9 91/18

91/2597/2117/3
122/5134/4 152/13
159/25 183/6
195/11 198/13
200/23 202/24
205/13 220/22
221/17 238/14
244/13 244/20
251/18

Weall [4] 38/1
38/2575/9 102/24
Weall's [1] 40/10
wearing [3] 55/4
55/8 214/5

week [3] 14/10
20/20 101/5
weekend [5] 259/10
260/6 260/24
260/25 261/2
WEINBERG [1]
3/3

Welcome [1]
188/15

well [83] 6/1 6/5
7/9 7/24 25/9 27/1
27/18 27/22 29/6
30/13 32/23 34/16
34/24 38/9 47/22
58/19 61/13 61/16
62/17 64/23 65/23
66/21 67/8 67/16
68/25 73/6 74/21

75/4 77/21 79/17
80/1 80/5 82/14
82/16 82/20 83/7
93/19 94/19 94/25
96/2 97/13 98/18
100/2 100/11 101/6
102/9 102/12
102/14 103/14
103/19 105/7 106/2
109/25 115/9
123/20 128/25
130/25 131/25
133/10 133/25
151/5151/9 158/14
161/12 163/12
164/7 177/11
180/14 180/23
187/17 189/22
196/19 203/16
206/5 212/5 216/14
217/8 223/6 223/13
228/7 238/24 248/3
248/6
well-respected [2]
82/16 82/20

went [5] 48/9 49/24
69/4 94/2 191/5
were [195] 5/6 6/17
6/17 6/21 11/1 11/4
11/511/21 13/11
15/13 15/22 16/9
18/18 18/24 21/2
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W

were... [180] 21/6
22/122/9 22/16
29/3 31/5 31/15
34/22 37/23 38/12
38/20 39/22 40/16
40/19 40/23 41/14
46/15 51/5 51/9
51/22 51/24 52/1
52/2 52/2 52/6 52/7
52/14 58/12 58/13
58/17 58/20 59/8
59/11 60/24 61/7
62/21 62/23 63/6
65/17 67/10 69/9
69/13 69/17 74/17
75/1 75/18 77/17
77/19 77725 79/15
80/6 80/14 82/2
82/8 84/25 85/2
85/16 85/20 85/21
85/22 85/25 86/3
86/5 87/8 87/8
87/15 90/19 91/21
93/22 97/18 98/25
99/1 99/16 100/1
100/5 100/6 100/8
101/2101/6 102/19
103/2 103/16
104/22 105/22
106/16 107/7
107/25 108/1 108/6

109/15 109/15
110/25 115/19
119/10 120/18
124/24 127/19
128/9 131/15
134/14 135/22
135/25 136/7 139/7
139/14 139/19
147/18 148/18
149/2 149/4 149/5
150/7 150/7 153/10
153/11 153/14
153/16 153/17
153/19 153/24
153/25 154/2
155/11 156/17
160/2 160/20 161/3
161/4161/6 162/16
163/20 163/22
164/17 165/16
166/16 169/21
188/13 189/22
191/18 193/7 195/9
204/14 204/15
216/2 219/7 221/5
222/6 222/10
223/17 223/22
228/13 232/19
235/6 235/23 238/9
239/2 239/3 239/5
239/8 239/21
239/24 240/2 240/4

240/22 242/8 242/9
242/13 243/12
243/16 247/4
247/13 247/17
248/14 256/11
256/14 257/3 258/4
258/5 258/6 260/12
weren't [13] 51/21
52/5 54/12 S5/5
61/23 61/24 62/2
78/1 93/5 154/4
239/11 240/15
256/25

west [7] 207/24
207/25 209/11
209/15 210/16
219/5221/13
Wet [2] 140/23
217/22

what [285]

what's [13] 18/6
25/11 32/3 125/21
130/14 140/18
144/15 154/12
172/7 208/14
227/25 247/25
253/3

whatever [23]
15/22 25/20 29/14
81/2 82/18 83/4
92/6 102/6 127/23
128/13 128/17
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whatever... [12]
132/16 167/5 167/6
183/20 203/2 203/3
219/7 229/11
232/18 239/4 240/7
248/2

whatsoever [1]
225/1

wheel [2] 254/3
254/7

WHEELER [1} 3/3

wheels [1] 199/6

when [90] 9/5
13/12 13/20 14/24
18/15 20/16 20/16
21/1 21/6 22/10
22/22 23/1 23/1
25/4 26/1 31/2 38/9
38/10 40/16 40/19
44/16 45/7 49/24
49/24 54/9 54/19
56/17 57/21 58/17
58/21 61/6 63/17
74/10 79/10 85/22
85/25 89/10 92/24
97/13 104/11
104/13 112/17
118/13 123/17
124/4 128/19 130/1
131/6 133/16 136/7
136/17 139/5

147/12 149/2 150/8
158/10 161/3
161/12 163/21
164/17 168/4
179/13 180/11
182/5 182/7 191/5
192/24 195/1 195/5
197/6 198/7 203/19
204/25 206/24
211/15 214/21
223/19 223/21
228/13 234/20
235/21 237/4 240/2
240/10 242/9
245/20 247/4
250/24 254/9
256/25

whenever [3] 36/24
63/19172/23
where [98] 38/13
39/12 55/24 69/19
77/19 110/2 110/13
110/16 111/2 112/1
112/6 112/9 112/21
115/5 115/18
116/20 118/6 118/7
118/15 118/17
119/9119/10
119/10 120/8 123/4
123/5123/7 123/9
126/5126/5 128/6
129/9 131/15 134/3

134/4 135/12
135/25 137/3 139/9
147/6 148/6 149/1
151/3 151/18
157/19 164/11
164/16 165/16
168/15171/18
172/5172/11
172/25173/13
173/18 180/3
180/12 180/15
184/14 188/4
192/20 208/12
211/8 213/2 213/24

1219/2 220/2 222/3

223/23 224/11
226/16 226/22
229/23 229/23
230/6 230/11
230/13 231/20
233/23 234/4
234/19 234/24
234/25 237/5 237/6
238/22 240/21
241/25 241/25
242/12 242/13
243/11 243/16
244/9 245/9 250/7
251/4 254/19
Whereupon [6]
107/5109/5113/20
124/21 169/18
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Whereupon... [1]
241/5 |
whether [52] 15/4
19/8 20/14 21/8
22/23 23/23 24/4
24/15 24/16 25/5
34/4 43/12 52/7
59/3 61/11 62/8
63/4 73/13 74/3
74/13 74/16 75/1
81/24 82/2 83/13
84/21 86/13 87/5
93/17 97/16 117/20
117/24 132/15
132/22 132/24
157/6 161/21 163/7
163/9 164/24 175/9
178/17 194/25
203/20 206/1 212/1
212/10 212/13
224/14 241/15
248/7 248/11

~ 'which [42] 6/18
720 7/20 19/5
42/16 46/24 52/16
53/15 68/8 75/3
75/19 77/3 86/14
90/22 100/17 101/4
101/14 101/20
105/25 116/5
125/12 128/6

128/22 134/21
171/1 172/19
173/14 175/17
177/5 179/9 183/6
202/6 207/2 207/23
209/9 215/6 216/11
217/21 219/8
222/10 223/3 250/4
whichever [2]
65/22 118/7

while [6] 76/2 85/1
122/24 137/15
141/14 233/5
white [1] 206/3
who [75] §/15 §/17
13/25 14/9 23/22
23/24 31/5 39/25
40/14 41/15 56/15
56/20 58/13 59/8
59/13 60/6 60/6
60/9 63/8 73/10
73/11 74/2 74/11
74/13 74/14 75/21
75/21 77112 77/20
78/7 78/8 78/10
81/20 81/21 85/16
87/7 87/8 87/15
92/18 92/18 93/3
93/6 93/8 93/21
93/22 99/8 103/3
103/21 103/21
106/14 106/14

113/7 134/8 134/9
135/4 135/15
135/23 136/18
140/14 141/25
142/13 143/20
148/12 158/1 158/3
158/6 167/21
181/23 183/11
195/25 213/18
218/13 238/25
257/24 258/21
who's [12] 24/21
37/3 55/19 55/20
92/19 141/2 144/6
144/13 176/1
213/11 213/15
257/15

whoa [3] 183/24
183/24 183/24
whoever [3] 53/24
72/11 243/13
whole [16] 10/16
12/11 43/10 72/3
99/4 115/20 133/21
133/21 133/23
168/4 180/5 180/7
190/2 210/9 210/10
219/12

Whose [1] 228/9
why [36] 7/17 36/6
52/20 58/3 58/6
59/11 60/23 61/4
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wish [3] S3/8 191/7

why... [28] 63/20
64/16 70/10 71/17
78/22 79/11 79/21
80/10 81/7 86/16
97/19 110/1 122/21
129/3 134/12 136/4
148/10 154/11
154/16 155/10
159/3 176/13
185/22 193/6
217/16 217/25
254/6 254/8
wide [1] 17/20
wide-ranging [1]
17/20
wife [2] 1/7 10/1
will [32] 5/25 8/13
36/23 37/1 37/8
37/10 44/8 53/15
64/22 70/2 70/21
71/3 71/21 72/6
90/8 90/13 90/14
90/135 92/3 99/21
107/1 107/17 125/6
140/8 154/8 194/14
239/19 246/24
250/16.251/7 252/9
256/8
willing [3] 75/22
193/24 194/3
Wilshire [1] 3/12

192/2

withdrawn [1]
134/2

within [10] 14/19
71/23 72/22 79/1
171/1 173/19 181/3
182/23 248/11
249/23

without [14] 10/11
65/4 65/9 92/4
95/21 96/8 99/8
124/8 124/13 169/5
169/10 185/5
259/17 259/22
witness [51] 4/2 8/1
8/39/49/16 11/18
12/6 34/2 35/16
37/25 44/3 52/2
S52/15 54/8 62/7
62/10 62/11 62/25
78/7 78/18 78/20
78/22 80/15 80/16
80/24 80/25 81/8
81/9 81/15 81/16
86/8 88/19 91/1
93/22 99/21 100/20
101/7 101/8 104/3
104/9 104/13
125/24 132/1 165/1
186/2 186/8 188/4
188/5 188/10

188/22 197/9
witnessed [1] 39/1
witnesses [53] 6/18
7/7 7/10 37/23 51/9
51/22 51/24 56/1
56/17 61/7 62/21
62/23 65/5 68/1
74/23 74/25 75/8
77/12 79/4 83/2
83/17 89/19 89/23
89/23 90/19 91/7
92/15 92/21 93/21
95/16 95/16 95/24
96/7 96/7 96/20
97/6 98/12 100/18
101/25 10272
103/15104/14
105/4 117/24 124/9
162/4 162/7 162/8
162/16 162/19
162/19 169/6
259/18

witnesses' [1] 89/25
woman [6] 39/1
40/14 68/8 81/11
81/13 81/20

won't [4] 102/1
111/20 128/22
188/1

word [2] 194/14
216/16

words [5] 31/19
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words... {4] 48/24
49/1 95/5 128/11
work [18] 14/18
14/19 15/21 25/24
26/1 26/7 38/12
72/7 105/2 136/9
174/14 189/19
' 189/24 190/12
190/18 191/15
222/17 253/24
worked [4] 72/25
106/9 168/4 257/24
working [10] 7/22
21/2 40/23 59/8
63/8 72/24 72/25
106/16 239/11
256/25
workings [1]
105/23
works [4] 78/11
93/9 228/15 229/11
world [1] 85/10
worry [1] 56/18
would [180] 8/4
10/13 23/9 24/20
24/21 24/22 25/24
26/7 26/14 27/3

28/19 30/24 32/6
33/7 34/9 34/19
37/3 37/16 40/2

41/1 41/6 41/7
41/10 41/19 43/4
47/11 48/4 48/23
51/3 56/14 58/14
59/12 63/4 64/10
65/19 66/22 69/8
70/1570/24 72/23
74/6 75/21 76/9
78/8 80/23 80/24
81/16 81/17 81/18
81/21 83/10 83/11
83/11 83/25 85/14
86/4 86/11 87/13
88/16 90/8 90/22
91/7 91/11 91/12
91/15 94/6 94/11
94/23 95/25 98/8
99/18 99/21 99/23
100/1 101/23
102/10 102/13
103/23 111/3 111/8
111/8 112/8 114/3
114/5 114/23
114/24 115/4 115/6
117/5117/6 117/16
117/19 117/20
118/5118/24
119/11 119/12

27/427/528/19 | 120/16 127/12

127/13 127/20
127/21 127/21
127/22 128/10

128/11 128/12
129/20 129/20
129/23 130/18
130/19 132/18
133/9 136/18
141/24 141/24
142/4 144/10 146/7
146/7 146/22
148/17 149/6 149/9
150/15 152/15
152/15 155/25
157/7 158/25
160/21 160/22
161/17 161/18
163/24 164/12
168/1 168/9 171/1
171/8 171/23
172/18 174/16
175/16 177/14
184/4 184/7 189/14
192/18 192/20
198/23 204/1 204/8
204/17 204/22
204/24 205/1 206/6
206/14 206/16
208/18 209/16
213/17 221/14
222/4 230/22
233/23 236/6
236/11 238/13
244/14 250/11
254/4 255/8 255/21
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X

would... [1] 255/22
wouldn't [15] 7/13
32/22 39/13 81/9
87/11 97/21 97/23
99/24 99/25 117/21
118/8 118/8 119/5
206/4 251/13
wrist [2] 69/3 69/3
wristband [1]
172/22

write [2] 57/20
214/19

writing [6] S3/1
53/12 53/12 §7/17
164/22 213/16
written [10] 53/13
54/9 58/3 155/24
164/14 176/24
177/2 214/15
249/15 250/11
wrong [14] 15/3
48/6 49/8 115/3
131/1 143/14
158/10 158/20
159/9 166/2 166/8
174/22 217/4
243/14

wrote [3] 53/24
93/8 181/23
wwhgd.com [1] 3/7

XIII [1] 1/20

Y

yard [1] 243/11
yeah [44] 15/9
18/16 20/22 21/1
22/15 24/8 32/10
32/23 41/14 69/22
70/6 117/15 123/25
130/23 138/5
140/20 141/7
159/16 163/24
197/20 198/10
199/20 202/19
202/19 202/19
204/21 205723
219/15 221/12
221/22 226/18
229/16 231/8
232/25 233/7 234/6
235/14 235/19
237/8 237/10
238/21 242/2
260/15 260/20
year [4] 81/14
200/1 238/1 238/3
Year's [1] 20/23
years [6] 16/6
102/18 103/6
118/10 138/20
221/2

yelled [2] 73/14
78/5

-lyelling [4] 243/25

244/3 244/4 244/5
Yep [3] 9/13
142/25 231/25
yes [219] 10/8 12/4
12/18 13/13 13/18
13/23 15/1 15/8
15/12 15/15 15/19
16/4 16/7 16/14
17/6 17/15 18/23
19/4 19/16 19/25
20/4 22/3 22/4
22/20 24/12 26/14
26/22 29/24 30/7
30/9 30/20 30/20
30/24 31/10 31/25
32/11 32/21 33/7
34/3 35/8 36/19
37/5 37/13 37/21
38/5 38/8 38/23
40/8 40/18 40/21
43/22 44/12 44/19
44/20 45/15 46/4
46/12 46/17 47/4
50/18 50/19 50/23
50/24 51/7 57/6
61/18 61/19 62/14
64/3 64/5 64/19
66/8 68/2 68/3 71/7
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, MONDAY, APRIL 30, 2018;
- 2:13 P.M.

PROCEEDINGS

ok ok ok kA Kk

THE MARSHAL: All rise. Come to order.
Eighth Judicial District Court, Department 13, now in
session, the Honorable Mark Denton presiding.

THE COURT: Good-afternoon. Please be
seated. Reconvening for the jury trial in Gavin Cox,
et al. v. MGM Grand Hotel, LLC, et al.

Please state appearances of counsel, identify
parties and party representatives who are present
today.

MR. MORELLI: Oh. Benedict P. Morelli, for
the plaintiff Gavin and Minh Cox, who are in the
courtroom.

MR. DEUTSCH: Good afternoon, Your Honor.
Adam Deutsch, also for the plaintiffs.

MR. FALLICK: Good afternoon, Your Honor.
Perry Fallick for the plaintiff.

MR. POPOVICH: And good afternoon. Jerry

Popovich for defendant MGM Grand Hotel, with

Mr. Habersack here for the hotel. Also represented by

5
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Mr. Infuso, and Will Martin is here as well.

MS. FRESCH: Good afternoon, Your Honor.
Elaine Fresch for David Copperfield, David Copperfield
Disappearing, Inc., and with me is Mr. Freeman.

MR. ROBERTS: Good morning, Your Honor. D.
Lee Roberts for Backstage Employment and Reférral.

MR. RUSSELL: Good merning, Your Honor.
Howard Russell for Backstage Employment and Referral.

MR. STRASSBURG: May it please the Court,
Roger Strassburg and my partner Gary Call for defendant
Team Construction Management.

THE COURT: Okay. The record will reflect
that the Court has conducted a meeting with counsel in
chambers —— adjacent to chambers. There's not enough
room in chambers to meet, so we were in an adjoining
room. And there was some discussion about various
things. We're outside the presence of the jury now.

' My understanding is somebody wanted to make a

record about certain things that we discussed; is that

correct? There was a need for that?

I will make a record on one thing, and that
is, apparently, let's see. Mr. Cox is not going to
testify right now; right?

MR. DEUTSCH: Correct, Your Honor.

MR. MORELLI: Correct.

JA002910
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THE COURT: I had received a proposed
instruction to give to the jury before he testifies ——

MR. MORELLI: Yes.

THE COURT: —- right?

And I think we're all on the same page on
that, except I had made one correction —- or one change
to it, I should say.

The last sentence of what I'm going to be

instructing the jury, it says, "you may take this";

right?

MR. MORELLI: Yes,.

THE COURT: I'm going to — I was going to
say "you may téke this allegation into consideration

when you are evaluating his testimony."

MR. MORELLI: That's fine. Plaintiff agrees.

THE COURT: Okay. That's the change that I
had made that T couldn't find. I had it on my desk and
didn’'t have it in front of me when we were conferring.

All right. So are we ready now for the jury?

MR. DEUTSCH: Yes, Your Honor.

MR. MORELLI: Ready, Your Honor.

MR. POPOVICH: Yes, Your Honor.

MR. DEUTSCH: And what we have done, Your
Honor, just to make sure that the concerns of the

defendants with respect to objections and any answers

7
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bleeding over, is we're just going te play the wvideo.
We removed the —-— the text, you know, from the
deposition that was going to play along with it because
that potentially —— sometimes there's three lines of
text, and you might see an answer. So we Jjust removed
it. We're just going to play the wvideo.

And I've spoken to our video operator, who
understands that, if there's an objection made, that he
will pause it immediately before any answer is played.

And — and one thing I'll just say before the
jury comes in, Your Honor, is that, because of our
discussion in the back, I anticipate that some of the
objections might be hearsay. And I just find that
incredible after two weeks of trial, when every single
witness has testified about what the security guards
said, what the people in the prop say, what all these
people say in terms of how this trick is done.

Everyone in this trial, every single witness,
has already testified without anybody's objection about
what people along different steps of the route say to
people and tell people to do. So for them to raise
this objection of hearsay now is —— is somewhat —

THE COURT: The defendants are entitled to —

MR. DEUTSCH: —— suspect.

THE COURT: —-— make their objections and —-

8
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for the record.

MR. DEUTSCH: Yeah.

THE COURT: Whatever objections they make,
I'll rule on them.

MR. DEUTSCH: Yeah.

THE COURT: Now, I have £wo instructions that
I'm going to be giving, one we discussed during the
meeting having to do with Amy lLawrence; correct?

MR. MORELLI: Yes.

THE COURT: I was going to make a change to
the one that was proffered by MGM defendants.

The other one, having to do with
Patricia Esack, we didn't discuss that, although
apparently there was no objection.

MR. DEUTSCH: We're going to do that after
Mr. Cox, so we don't have to ——

MR. MDRELLI: We're not putting that on now,
SO ...

THE COURT: All right. Okay.

MR, POPOVICH: I got it.

THE COURT: All right. So what will happen
is the jury will come in, you'll call your next
witness, which will be the video depo of Amy Lawrence.
And before you start playing that, I will read this

instruction; correct?
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o 0 JgJ9 o U B W N

NN NN R KR H B R B R BB
O B W N B O Ww ® o bk W N K O

MR. DEUTSCH: Understood, Your Honor. Thank
you.

THE COURT: Did you want me to read into the
record what the instruction will be so that everyone's
on the same page?

MR. MORELLI: Absolutely.

MR. POPOVICH: Sure.

THE COURT: OQkay.

"Whenever evidence has been admitted but
limited to one or more parties, you must not consider
it as to any other party or party. The video
deposition testimony about to be played to you from
witness Amy Lawrence is sworn testimony taken in this
case.

"This testimony is being offered by the Cox
plaintiffs. You may consider this testimony in
deciding the liability claims relating to defendants
David Copperfield; David Copperfield Disappearing,
Inc.; and Backstage Employment and Referral, Inc., just
as you would consider any other testimony given in this
courtroom.

"You must not consider this testimony in
deciding whether defendant MGM Grand Hotel, LLC, had
notice of injuries other than those allegedly sustained

by Mr. Cox. Also, you must not consider this testimony

10
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in deciding the liability claims against Team
Construction Management, Inc.”

MR. DEUTSCH: Just one piece, Your Honor.
After the sentence that says "you may not use this
against MGM for the purpose of prior notice of
injuries,” I think there should be added, "but you
could use it for all other purposes against them."

THE COURT: I'm just going to say what they
can't do.

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay.

MR. CALL: Your Honor, just as far as Team is
concerned, I would like to have it say that as Team was
not present on the site during this time period just so

that they're clear that —

MR. DEUTSCH: We have no problem with that.

MR. CALL: -- we were not there.

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, what we would ask,
then, in the first sentence, when it just says — it
only identifies "you may use this evidence against

Copperfield; Copperfield Disappearing, Inc.; and
Backstage," it should also then list MGM and then have
the follow-up sentence that there's a limiting
instruction with respect to MGM.

THE COURT: Yeah, I'm going to leave MGM

alone, the way I have it.

o1
JA002915




o W Ny W s W N -

N N NN NN R B R R R R R R R
M & W N P O W © 4 6 0 & W M B O

I'm wondering —— what were you saying about
Team?

MR. CALL: Team Construction was not even
present on the property at that time and, therefore --

MR. DEUTSCH: We have no objection to them
adding that.

MR. CALL: -—— adding in that limiting -—-

THE COURT: "As Team Construction was not
present at the time"?

MR. DEUTSCH: Correct.

MR. CALL: Correct.

THE COURT: What would I say? "At the time
of Ms. Lawrence's presence"? Because I'm not going to

say "injuries."

MR. MORELLI: ©No. "Presence."

MR. CALL: '"Presence" sounds fine.

MR. MORELLI: Yeah, yeah. "Presence" is
better.

THE COURT: With a C, not a T. Okay.

So what it would say is "As to Team
Construction also, you must not consider this testimony

in deciding the liability c¢laims against Team
Construction Management, Inc., as Team Construction was
not present on the site at the time of Ms. Lawrence's

presence."

12
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MR. MORELLI: Perfect.

THE COURT: Will that work?

MR. CALL: That will work.

MR. POPOVICH: The next step after that, Your
Honor. I just wanted to make sure that the record
shows that, at least when we were off the record in the
conference room, I did objeét to the adjustment to the
language as to MGM based on the Court's ruling on
Friday. That's good enough.

The other thing is, is I would like some
clarity, because it dawns on me, based on what
plaintiffs' counsel has said about this wvideo, is that
the only part teed up to be played might be only what
the plaintiffs have designated, not what any defendant
has counter-designated. Is that right?

MR. DEUTSCH: Well, obviously, I would have
had absolutely no way to get their designations —-

THE COURT: Well, after the plaintiffs'
presentation, then we'll take a recess so that the

defense c¢an cue up the things that they want to play;

right?

MR. MORELLI: Yes.

MR. POPOVICH: Well, the original discussion
was — and I — I'm going to hear the objections about

timing again, but one entity, the plaintiffs, who were

| 13
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designating the video, were going to do all the
editing.

MR. DEUTSCH: Actually, Your Honor, it was
the other way around.

MR. POPOVICH: So we were going to do the
editing for the plaintiff?

MR. DEUTSCH: The defendants were going to do
all the editing. When I did not receive a response
until 11:00 this morning to what we submitted, I sent
an e—mail saying, "If I don't hear" —

THE COURT: Well, if you can't — if you
don't have it on video, then you can have a witness
take the stand and read from the transcript.

MR. RUSSELL: 1It's a cross—designation issue
right at the same time. That's what the rule
contemplates, is that it's read for completeness.

THE COURT: Okay. If you think that there's
something that shouldn't be made at that time ——
produced at that time pursuant to the rule, then make
that point, and then I'll consider whether it should be
read or shown or whatever. Right?

MR. POPOVICH: So at the point it would come
up in the transcript —

THE COURT: Under Rule 32, I think it

provides that, in fairness, if something should be

14
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brought out at the same time as it's being presented ——
right —— it should right then —

MS. FRESCH: Well —

| THE COURT: I'm looking at 32(a) (4), "If only
part of a deposition is offered in evidence by a party,
an adverse party méy require the offeror to introduce
any other part which ocught in fairness to be considered
with the part introduced, and any party may introduce
any other parts.”

So it sounds to me like you would be doing
that, though, on —— in effect, on cross—examination;
right?

MR. RUSSELL: Well, we could do it on the
fly. Just as we're going to object, we'll stop and
say, "Okay. We'd like this part to be played, then.”

I mean, the objections and

counter—designations that our office provided, Your
Honor, you have a courtesy éopy there, and they are in
order.

THE COURT: Well, the thing about it is that
rule doesn't say "right at that time"; what it says "if
only part of the deposition is offered in evidence"
such as what they're going to be doing; right? — an
adverse party may require an offeror.” Okay? "The
offeror.”

15
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In other words, you're saying that you can

require the offeror, which would be the plaintiff —-

see that.

jury now?

patience.

present?

MR. RUSSELL: At the same time.

THE COURT: —— to present —— yeah, okay. I
That's true. That's what it says.

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay.

THE COURT: Okay. So are we ready for the

MR. DEUTSCH: Yes, Your Honor.

MR. MORELLI: Yes, Your Honor.

THE MARSHAL: All rise.
(The following proceedings were held in
the presence of the jury.)

THE COURT: You may be seated.

Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen.

IN UNISON: Good afternoon.

THE COURT: Thank you very much for your
Does counsel stipulate that the jury is now

MORELLI: The jury is present.
POPOVICH: Yes, Your Honor.
FRESCH: Yes.

. CALL: Yes, Your Honor.

»EE BB

RUSSELL: Yes, Your Honor.

16
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THE COURT: We've been addressing things
outside your presence for some time, ladies and
gentlemen. And, again, thank you very much for your
patience.

At this time, plaintiffs may call their next
witnéss.

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, at this time, we

are calling Amy Lawrence, which will be presented to

-the Court via her videotaped deposition on April 2éth,

2018.

THE COURT: All right. Before that's
presented, I have an instruction that I'm going to read
to the jury about this.

Whenever evidence has been admitted but
limited to one or more parties, you must not consider
it as to any other party or parties. The video
deposition testimony about to be played to you from
witness Amy Lawrence is sworn testimony taken in this
case.

This testimony is being offered by the Cox
plaintiffs. You may consider this testimony in
deciding the liability claims relating to defendants
David Copperfield; David Copperfield Disappearing,
Inc.; and Backstage Employment and Referral, Inc., just

as you would consider any other testimony given in this

17
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courtroom.

You must not consider this testimony in
deciding whether defendant MGM Grand Hotel, LLC, had
notice of injuries other than those allegedly sustained
by Mr. Cox. |

Also, you must not consider this testimony in
deciding the liability claims against Team Construction
Management, Inc., as Team Construction was not present
on the site at the time of Ms, Lawrence's presence.

All right. You may proceed.

{(Whereupon video deposition was played.)
DIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Good morning; Ms. Lawrence. How are you?

A. I'm good. Thank you.

Q. Good. If I ask you any questions this
morning that you do not understand, please let me know
and I'll be happy to rephrase my question.

Have you ever testified before in a courtroom
like this?

A, Not like this, just in a custody hearing
once. | |

Q. I'm sorry?

A, Custody hearing.

Q. Got you. First, what do you do for a living?

| 18
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A. I'm a seventh grade math teacher.

Q. Okay. And where do you live?

A. I live in Kalamazoo, Michigan. It's about
directly halfway between Chicago and Detroit.

Q. And —— and how do you find yourself here in a
courtroom in Las Vegas in this case?

MR. RUSSELL: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Hold on. Stop.

(Whereupon video deposition was paused.)

MR. RUSSELL: It's irrelevant and -— and the
information is about to expose certain media and
publicity accounts of the trial impropérly before the
jury. Also, the testimony contains hearsay.

MS. FRESCH: And, additionally, Your Honor, I
join those as well as it goes into potentially Phase 2.
And it assumes facts not in evidence and lacks
foundation.

THE COURT: All right. 1I'll sustain the
objection insofar as it ielates to how she was — how
she knew about this —— okay? —— the media.

MR. RUSSELL: Do you have a — Your Honor, 1
don't mean to interrupt. Do you have a copy of the
transcript or do you need an additional copy, Your
Honor?

THE COURT: So can you ——

19
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MR. DEUTSCH: Well, your Honor, do you have a
copy of the transcript?

THE COURT: No.

MR. DEUTSCH: So it — maybe if we gave Your
Honor a copy of the transcript.

THE COURT: It would be helpful.

MR. DEUTSCH: It might be helpful and you can
see that I don't believe there's anything
objectionable.

THE COURT: It would be helpful.

MR. DEUTSCH: Sure. Why don't we do that.

MR. MORELLI: Just read ...

MR. DEUTSCH: I hope this is okay, Your
Honor.

THE COURT: Is the battery charged?

MR. DEUTSCH: Yeah. One swipe that way and
you'll follow along. The first question we were up to
is right here. And there's the answer. I don't think
there's anything objectionable.

MR. MORELLI: It's okay.

THE COURT: I think what you need to do is go
to page 10, line 13. Resume there. |

MR. DEUTSCH: May we approach, Your Honor?

MR. RUSSELL: It would be the same objection,

Your Honor, on 13 —— page 10, line 13 to 14, talks

20
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about media.
MR. DEUTSCH: Can we approach, Your Honor?
THE COURT: Well, I think that that's ckay.
I think there's a lot of stuff, though, that —- before
that .
MR. DEUTSCH: May we approach, Your Honor?
Because if there's certain lines in that, then I can
read that piece minus the words that Your Honor takes
out in that entire long answer and then play the video
again starting on 13.
May we approach?
THE COURT: Yeah.
(A discussion was held at the bench,
not reported.)
THE COURT: Counsel can state her objection
once the question's been —
MR. DEUTSCH: Yes, so we're going to start,
then, at page 10, line 13.
| (Whereupon video deposition was
resumed. )
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. Was there something in particular that you
heard that was what prompted you to come in in terms of
anything you heard that —— that Mr. Copperfield said or
anything like that?
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A Oh —

MS. FRESCH: Obijection.

THE COURT: Pause it.

MR. DEUTSCH: Pause it.

(Whereupon video deposition was paused.)

MR. DEUTSCH: We just dealt with that
objection.

MS. FRESCH: I wanted to preserve my
objection.

THE COURT: Right.

MS. FRESCH: Okay. I object, for lines 13
through 24, that it's hearsay, lacks foundation,
assumes facts not in evidence. It's Phase 2 damages.
It's speculation, irrelevant, and prejudicial.

THE COURT: Okay. Owverruled.

(Whereupon video deposition was resumed.)

THE WITNESS: -—— article that I had pulled
off that Wednesday that he had said —- or someone had
said —— I don't know who exactly, I guess —— that there
hadn't been injuries in that particular act before.
And I knew that to be false. So that was —— that was
one of the things. I wanted to be able to support him
in saying that, hey, people have been hurt.

BY MR. DEUTSCH: '

Q. Okay. And — and was there a time when you
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were participating in one of Mr. Copperfield’s
illusions?

A. Yes. In —

Q. And when was that?

A, In June of 2008 — or 2013.

Q. And at whét location —- where was it that you
went to see the David Copperfield show?

A, At the MGM.

Q. Heré in Las Vegas?

A. Yes.

Q. And can you tell us which particular illusion
was it that you participated in?

| A. I participated in the final act where they
disappear 13 audience members.

Q. Okay. Did —— have you ever heard it referred
to as the Thirteen Illusion, or did you just know it as
the —

A. I just knew it was the final —— final act,
yeah.

Q. And can you tell us, how did that illusion
start?

A, Well, he told us that —— Mr. Copperfield told
us that people were going to be randomly selected. And
he threw out 13, like, great big beach bally kind of

things. And if you caught it, you could come up on
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stage.
And everybody in our section kind of kept

battihg around the ball. It was the very last one.
And so I'll admit I kind of wanted to be up there. So
I grabbed it and I'm like, "Okay. We're not batting
this around anymore.” And I got up and took the ball
up to the — up to the stage.

Q. Okay. And tell us what happened when you got
up on stage. |

A. Well, I walked up a few stairs. And there's
a lady standing at the top of the stairs, and she asked
me three questiocons.

Q. What did she ask you?

A. The first two —— I don't remember what order
she asked them in. One of the questions was, "Are you

a magician?"

Q. Are you magician?
A No.

Q. Okay .

A Not even close.

And she also asked if I was a reporter, which
also I am not. And then —
Q. She didn't ask if you were a math teacher?
A.  She did not ask me that. No, not at all.
Q. What was the third question?
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A, She asked me if I waé able to run. And my
response, because I'm a little sarcastic, is, "Well,
sure, as well as I can in these shoes."

Q. And what kind of shoes were you wearing®?

A. I was wearing —— I was dressed up. I was
wearing heels. They weren't huge. They were, you
know, inch and a half, two inches at the absolute most.
But they weren't huge, but they were, you know, summery
kind of sandal shoes with a heel.

Q. And —- and you —— when you made that comment
to her that you could run as well as you could "in
these shoes,"” did that person say anything to you?

A. Oh, she just said "Okay" and pointed to where
I was supposed to walk and get in line.

Q. And what do you remember after that? What
happened after that?

A, Okay. So, after that, I was —— like I said,
I was the very last person up there, so pretty much
after I got in line they told us to walk around the
platform, I guess you would call it. And so we walked
around the platform.

And as we were walking around there, I
noticed that there were other women in much higher
heels than I was. So I'm like, oh, well, mine are only

this big, so must not be doing too much, you know,
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because people had great big 4-inch heels on.

So that kind of made me feel better after she
asked that question. And so then we came ~— or after
we came around and walked around, they put us all up on
this platform.

Q. Let me just stop you there for a second.

A. Yes.

Q. The walk around the platform that you did ——

A. Yes.

Q. —— how would you describe —— would you
describe it as an obstacle course?

A. Oh, no. It was just a circle right around
the platform. It was ——

Q. Did you have to jostle in and out of anything
as you were walking around the platform?

A. I don't remember doing any of that, no.

(o] It was just a pretty simple walk-around?

A. Yeah.

Q Do you remember having to step over things or
dodge things as you were moving around?

A. I don't remember that, no.

Q. Okay. All right. 8So, now, you're —-— they've
put you up in the platform and you're seated? |

A, Yep.

Q. And — and at this point is the curtain open?
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A. At this point, the curtain is open.
Q. Okay. And tell us what happened next.
A. So, at that point, that's when David ——
Mr. Copperfield is talking. And he's —— actually, it's
funny. He was the —— he talks to the person on the
edge right by him. And, in that particular show, the
lady was from Germany and her name was Claudia. And he
made a joke about it because of his own personal
history with a German lady named Claudia.
And she ﬁas one of the ones with the great
‘big, huge 4-inch heels on. So that's the only reason 1
remember her name was the joke. So he was doing his
little spiel. And then, all of a sudden, you know, the
curtains come down around us —
Q. What were you thinking at that moment?
MR. RUSSELL: Objection, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Hold on. Pause.
(Whereupon video deposition was paused.)
MR. RUSSELL: Objection. Irrelevant as to
what she was thinking.
And then lines 17 through 25, move to strike
as nonresponsive.
MS. FRESCH: Your Honor, I would join those
obdjections.

And then I wanted to bring up there's a few
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portions in the testimony coming up that —— may we
actually approach just quickly?
THE COURT: Sure.
(A discussion was held at the bench,
not reported.)
MR. DEUTSCH: Just one second, Your Honor, so
we can figure it out.
MR. RUSSELL: So, just for the record, Your
Honor, it was sustained for page 15, lines 17 through
20; correct? |
MR. DEUTSCH: Yes.
THE COURT: Yes. 17 through ——
MR. RUSSELL: Partial 20.
THE COURT: -- the first word on line 20.
MR. DEUTSCH: Okay. Action.
(Whereupon video deposition was
resumed.)
BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. And what were you thinking at that moment?
A. I am thinking — I —— I honestly assumed that
whole time that we were going to start moving down,
that we were — that that whole platform was going to
go down, because how else were you going to move 13
péople? That was my assumption. And then, all of a

sudden, I hear "run, run, run.”
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And so I'm like, okay. And I was the last
person out. We went through the middle. They moved a
couple of chairs so that the people could —— I was in
the front row —— so that we could run back through.

Q. And what —— the moment that that someone
started screaming out, what were you thinking?

A. I was thinking where am I going? is really
what I was thinking. And so then I started — I
lost —— I watched where everybody else was running, and
they were running off the back of the platform. And
I'm like there wasn't anything there, like, a minute
ago. Where am I running onto? And I couldn't see
anything.

Q. Why couldn't you see anything?

A, It was pitch black at the edge of the
platform. You couldn't see anything. And the only
thing I was thinking was, well, no one else has
screamed, so no one else has fallen. And they
wouldn't, like, put us in a situation where we would
get hurt. That would be stupid.

So I just trusted. And, again, it helped
because I was the last person. I don't know what I
would Have done if I was the first one. But I just -—-
I kept — I kept running.
Q. And what happened at that point?
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(Whereupon video deposition was paused.)

MR. RUSSELL: Object. Just move to strike
lines 12 through 19 as nonresponsive as to why she
couldn't see anything.

THE COURT: Sustained. Motion is granted.

The jury will disregard.

(Whereupon video deposition was resumed.)

THE WITNESS: So it —— we go and I would — I
don't know. They had some sort of, like, platform that
we must have run off of at the back of that platform.

I don't know how that one got up there.

At some point, there was like, I believe, a
couple of stairs to go down. We were winding through
some hallway-like thingé. At one point I remember
going into a kitcheny kind of area. And there were two
ladies who must work there who were having great
enjoyment watching us all run past. They were very
giggly.

And then, shortly after that, at some point I
got outside. And it was — I don't know if it's a
freight area or a garbagey area. It was just one of
those kind of places that have the big, wide sidewalks
so they can move stuff.

And I turned a corner. And this is where the

funny part happens. So I turn the corner. I can see
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the door we were supposed to run back in. And the
gentleman who was standing at the corner says, "Don't
trip."

And, immediately, I trip. And that's always
been the funny part of the story, like someone tells me
"don't trip," and I trip immediately.

MR. RUSSELL: Your Honor.

THE COURT: Hold on.

(Whereupon video deposition was paused.)

MR. RUSSELL: Move to strike the testimony
about "don't trip" as hearsay. No foundation as to who
said that.

THE COURT: Overruled. It's not being
offered for the truth of the matter asserted as to
"don't trip"; it's being offered to show that that
statement was made.

(Whereupon video deposition was resumed.)

BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. If I can break that down. At some point, you
went from the inside to the outside?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And, when you were outside, how would
you describe the lighting conditions when you were
outside?

A. It was — it was -~ I was at the late show,

31
JA002935




W O Ny U1 b W NN R

NN NN NN R R KM PR B R RPBP B R R
Mo W N R O W 0 d s W N R O

so it was dark. It was, you know, dimly 1lit, like a
parking lot is at night. So you could kind of see, but
there was lots of shadows and —

Q. And did anyone —— at any point in time while
you were sitting in the — in the prop before you
started to run, did —— did anyone ever tell you what
you were going to be expecting to do?

A. No, not a little — even a little, no.

Q. And ~—- and as you were getting from sort of
each hallway to the next hallway and the next hallway,
as you approached those hallways, did you know where
YOu were going?

MS. FRESCH: Objection. Obijection.

(Whereupon video deposition was paused.)

MS. FRESCH: Not to the entire part, but the
end part, lines 22 to 25, as speculation and hearsay.

MR. RUSSELL: Join.

MS. FRESCH: And it would continue onto the
next page as to foundation and speculation as to lines
1 through 3.

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, it's not hearsay
because the exact.reasoning that Your Honor said
before.

THE COURT: Hold on a second.

MR. DEUTSCH: It's not being offered for the
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truth.
MR. RUSSELL: I believe it is, Your Honor.
MR. DEUTSCH: I'm the one offering it.
MR. RUSSELL: Fair point, Mr. Deutsch.
THE COURT: I think that the first part —
the first sentence and the answer at line —— starting

at line 15 can be proffered —

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, may we approach for
a sec?

THE COURT: Just a minute. Let me —

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay. Sorry.

THE COURT: Okay. I'll — having reviewed

the — I'll overrule the objection. Go ahead.

{(Whereupon video deposition was
resumed. )

THE WITNESS: --— in the right direction. And
they —- as we were running, there was some people along
the way — kind of like detour signs when you're in a
detour. You know, "Okay. Go this way." And they

were, you know, "Hey, keep going. You got”™ — and I'm
totally making up this number because it was five years
agoe. I don't remember what they said. But at least
twice they were like, "Hey, you got —— you got to be
back there in 48 seconds” or "You got to be wherever

you need to be in so many seconds. Keep going."

33
JA002937




O o0 N Y ! e W N R

NN NN NN R R R B OH OB R e e e
OB W N RO W T s W N MO

So they —— I remember thinking, well, clearly
this is a very timed act. We need to be somewhere. So
we're running to keep up to make sure we get to
wherever we need to be in that amount of time.

BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. And the part while you were running, when you
leave —— from the time that you leave the platform and
you're going around, would you describe that as — how

would you describe it?

MS. FRESCH: Objection.

THE COURT: Hold on a second.

(Whereupon the video deposition was paused.)

THE COURT: Objection?

MS. FRESCH: The response is speculation
as — lines 9 through 13.

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, I asked her --—

THE COURT: She's describing what her
perception was. Overruled.

(Whereupon video deposition was
rasumed. )

THE WITNESS: Windy. It was —— it was pretty
chaotic. I would not send my middle-schoolers through
that without a whole lot ¢of instruction, because it
was — it would be an accident waiting to happen for

them. They would have run into walls and whatever
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else. It would —— no.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. If someone in this case described that
runaround portion to the jury as calm and controlled,
would you agree with that or disagree with that?

A. I would not call it —— what was it?

Q. Calm and controlled.

A. Calm and controlled? No. I teach middle

school. 1It's not calm. And that was not calm and

.controlled.

:Qf??@T want to show you a photograph that's in
evidence already, Exhibit 84, No. 14.

Did the —- let me Jjust ask you this: The
people —— where were you — you — I think you said you
were the last one out of the —

A, Yes, I was the last one out.

Q. And you said that along the route people were
yelling at you, like, a time?

A. Yeah.

Q. Was that people that were along the route
that were saying that or that was someone running with
you or boﬁh or something else?

A, It was someone ahead of me, so I can't tell
you if they were running with the people ahead of me or

not, but there was no one behind me.
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Q. Okay.

A. There was no one running behind me at any
peoint.

Q. I want to show you what's in evidence in our

case as B4-14. And take a look at that picture.

A, Yes.

Q. Do you —— do you recognize what's depicted in
that photograph?

A. That appears to be the last corner I ran
around. And that open dqor looks like the door that we
ran_back in.

Q. And —- and on this photograph maybe —— if you
could just step down. And on this screen, can you just
use this pen, kind of just point to ——

A. If I can get this puppy off. Oh, there it
is. Okay.

Q. Just trying to —

A, Sorry. So I — I was -— I had just turned
it, and I was at —— approximately at where that line is
in the cement right there, between the two things of
cement, because I was still a little ways away from the
door, but I had already turned the corner. I was
starting to go straight at that point. |

Q. And you said that there was someone there

that said "watch your step"” or something.
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A. Yeah, as I was turning —- like, literally a
half second before I fell, there was a gentleman who I
believe worked for the production. And he sgaid, "Don't
trip."
Q. And where was that person —— can you see
where that person was standing?
A, He was —— he wouldn't be in this photograph.
He would have been, like, over there off —— just — you
know, so I ran between him and the —
Q. Okay; You can have a seat again. Thank you.
A, Yeah.
Q. What —— what do you think happened in terms
of why you fell that evening?
MR. RUSSELL: Objection, Your Honor.
(Whereupon the video deposition was paused.)
MR. RUSSELL: Irrelevant. No substantial
similarity between the accidents.
THE COURT: Well, let's see what she thinks.
Overruled. |
(Whereupon the video deposition was resumed.)
THE WITNESS: I don't know. I mean, it's
dark. 1It's pavement. I honestly just remember him

saying "don't trip," and then I was on the ground. I

didn’'t slip. I can tell you that much. I didn't trip
over my own feet. I — you know, I don't know if my
37
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foot, you know, caught on something or something.
Something just made me fall straight forward.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. After you fell, did anyone that appeared to
you to work for the production, as you said, say
anything to you or do anything for you at that point?

A. Not —— no one talked to me specifically about
it until after the trick was completed.

Q. Did you hear anyone say anything after you
fell?

| A, The gentleman who had been standing there and
said "don't trip," I honestly don't remembér what he
said, but he said something because the lady was the
12th in line turned around and goes "Oh," and came
back. And she grabbed my hand and kind of pulled me
into the — so that we could finish the trick.

Q. And — and in terms of —— of, you know,
physically what happened to you, can you tell us
what —— what happened to you?

A. It was a pretty bad scraped knee.

MR. RUSSELL: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Hold on.

(Whereupon video deposition was paused.)

THE COURT: Objection?

MR. RUSSELL: Move to strike the remainder of
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the page as the extent of injuries is irrelevant.
THE COURT: Overruled.
(Whereupon video deposition was
resumed. )
THE WITNESS: It was not gushing,_ng it

was —— it was, you know, a good siﬁe. 'It'éo;;red mny
whole knee. And it was —- it was drippy, so
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q Dripping with blood?

A Yes.
Q. It was dripping down your leg?
A Yeah, it was —— at that point, it wasn't too
bad. But I went a while with nothing on it. So, as
time went on, it was ﬁore o

Q. And were you wearing —— were your —— did you
have exposed knees?

A. I did. I was wearing a dress that was above
the knee.

Q. Okay. Then at that point you got up and you
went and continued on ——

A. Uh-huh. Yes.
—— into the trick?
Yes.

What —- why was it that you continued on?

R S

I don't know. I didn't really at that point
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think that there was an option to not, I guess. I
didn't even consider, like, stopping and evaluating my
injury to see if it was —— I just got up and went and
finished.

Q. Okay. And at some point did you —— did you
have to reappear?

A. I did, yes.

Q. And tell us about that.

A. Well, when I reappeared, I didn't want the
audience to see, you know, the Elood dripping down my
leg. So when I reappeared, I reappeared standing,
like, with one leg ih _—

Q. Please stand up, and you can show us what you
meant. Sorry you have to take your mic;qfﬁﬂggain,

A. Okay. So I — when I reappeared, I was
standing like this.

Q. To cover the blood?

A, To cover the blood that was dripping from my
left leg.

Q. Why were you —— why were you standing like
that?

A, I just didn't want the audience to.see that I
was bleeding. It's kind of — you know, from the time

you're a little kid and you fall down, people laugh at
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you. So it's kind of humiliating. I didn't want to be
like, hey, I'm the girl who fell.

Q. Okay. 2And, at some point, did you — after
you reappeared, what was the next thing that you did?

A. After we finished the trick and, you know, we
all waved our flashlights, they took us into a back
room. Someone gave us a little spiel about, you know,
please don't share the secrets of how this trick
happened. If you share the secrets, then we won't be
able to do the trick anymore, blah blah blah.

But, as I was walking into that room before
the spiel, a lady who works for —— I don't know if it's
MGM or Mr. Copperfield, you know, stopped me as we were
walking in and said, "Hey, are you okay? And I'm like,
"Yeah, it's a scrape. I1I'll be okay."

And so then they did their spiel.

Mr. Copperfield came in. He talked, said thank you,

whatever. And then, after he was done talking, another

lady came up to me —— so a different one from before ——
and —— I think it was about three times —- she asked me
if T was okay. "Are you okay? Are you sure you're

okay?" To me, she felt more official than the first
lady, but that was just my opinion.

Q. Okay. So a couple people — what were those
people wearing? Do you remember?

41
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A. I —— one of them —— the second lady, I
believe — had on a headset of some sort, but I don't
remember the first one.

Q. Did any of those -- the people that came over
to you that —— that you believe worked at the show
and —— did they know that you had fallen?

MR. RUSSELL: Objection. Foundation.

(Whereupon video deposition was paused.)

THE COURT: Sustained.

MR. DEUTSCH: Are you going to object to the
next question as well, Howard?

MR. RUSSELL: No.

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay.

MR. RUSSELL: No. 23 —- yeah, starting at 23
is fine.

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, the first sentence
in that answer doesn't — is just her knowledge of what
she believes.

THE COURT: I made the ruling. Just go to
line 23 on page 26.

(Whereupon video deposition was
resumed.)
BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. Okay. So those — so those two women came

into that room separate and apart from the people who
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were giving the speech/spiel.

A. I don't know if they are normally part of
that group or not because I've never been part of that
group before, but I know I'm the only person they spoke
to.

Q; They came straight over to you?

Yes.

Q; And did any of —— did —— either of those
women or any of the people that worked there, did any
of them ask you if you wanted to fill out any type of
accident report or incident feport of any kind? Was
that offered to you in any way?

A. Nope, not even a Band-Aid. So I actually ——

MR. RUSSELL: Objection.
THE COURT: Objection.
(Whereupon video deposition was paused.)
MR. RUSSELL: Move to strike the remainder of
that page after the word "Band-Aid." That's after she
left the show. There's no evidence that anyone had any
knowledge of what she did at that point.
MS. FRESCH: Join.
THE COURT: Overruled.
(Whereupon video deposition was
resumed.)

THE WITNESS: Once I was done and I walked
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out and my husband saw it, I had to go get actually ——
and there's a bathroom right there when you walk out.

I actually had to go into the bathroom to get some
paper towel. And that is what I used to cover my —— my
leg on the whole taxi ride home until I -- we spent a
ton of money at Walgreens afterwards.

But my husband couldn't —— when I walked out
after I got the paper towel and my husband -- he asked
me, like, "Are you sure they didn't have you sign
anything? You could sue. Why didn't they have you
sign something?"

I'm like; "I don't know. Maybe it was
because it was a scraped knee." I didn't know. But,
at that point, I needed a bandage. It wasn't worth,
you know, going back and checking and seeing if there
was anything I should have —-- else I should have done.
BY MR. DEUTSCH:

Q. OCkay. I want to show you what's been marked
as — for identification as Lawrence 1.

(Whereupon video deposition was paused.)

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, at this time, we
would offer, I guess, Lawrence Exhibit 1 into evidence.

MR. RUSSELL: Go ahead.

MR. DEUTSCH: I'm going to —- ﬁe're going to

offer Lawrence Exhibit 1, that was marked for
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identification at her deposition, into evidence.
MR. RUSSELL: Objection. Hearsay. It's a
Facebook posting.
MR. DEUTSCH: But it's hers.
May we approach?
THE COURT: Let's Jjust —— say what you were
going to say. It's what?
MR. DEUTSCH: 1It's her post. 1It's her post.
So I don't know how it could be hearsay. She's the
declarant.
MR. RUSSELL: It's an out-of-court statement.
Doesn't matter if it's hers or not.
MR. DEUTSCH: But you had an opportunity to
cross—examine her.
THE COURT: Right. I'll admit it.
{(Whereupon, Plaintiffs' Exhibit Lawrence
1l was admitted into evidence.)
(Whereupon video deposition was
resumed. )
BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. Take a look at this. Can you tell us what
that isg?
A. That is —— after I got home — or not home,
to the hotel —— and after I had bandaged myself up, I
decided, hey, I need to tell the world that I fell down

45
JA002949




©w 0 - o s W N

N RN RN RN H R HE R R R R R
B B W N R O YW © J 6 U & W N M O

in a David Copperfield trick. So right after all of
that, before I went to sleep that night, I — I typed
this up, "Participated in a David Copperfield
disappearing act. Rough work. Skinned the hell out of
my knee." |

Q. And where did you write that?

A. I was sitting on the bed in my hotel room.

Q. Not that. Where did -— did you post that
somewhere or publish ——

A, I'm sorry. That's Facebook.

Q. Okay.

A. Sorry.

0. And so that's a clip from your Facebook?

A. That's a clip from my Facebook account, yes.
Q. And, at some point —— let me show you what's

been marked as identification ——

MS. FRESCH: Objection. Objection.

THE COURT: Stop.

(Whereupon video deposition was paused.)

‘MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, same —— same — at
this time, Your Honor, we would offer in evidence what
was marked at Ms. Lawrence's deposition as
Plaintiffs’' 2, I guess.

THE COURT: Did you show him?

MR. DEUTSCH: Sure.
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MS. FRESCH: And I would object on relevance
and a waste of time.

THE COURT: Counsel, this appears to relate
to a separate trick, so I'm not sure I understand the
relevance.

MR. DEUTSCH: May we approach, Your Honor?

THE COURT: Sure.

(A discussion was held at the bench,

not reported.)

MR. DEUTSCH: Just —— Your Honor, for the
record, pursuant to our —— our conversation at the
bench, we have agreed not to show what —— Exhibit 2 at

Ms. Lawrence's deposition with the understanding that
we have a stipulation from the defendants that
Ms. Lawrence was in fact a participant in the illusion

at the MGM Grand on the night that she has testified

about.
MR. POPOVICH: June 17, 20137
MR. DEUTSCH: Correct.
MR. POPOVICH: So stipulated.
MS. FRESCH: So stipulated.
MR. RUSSELL: Agreed.
THE COURT: The record will so reflect.
MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, may I approach?
THE COURT: Yes.
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MR. DEUTSCH: A hard copy of the deposition,
unless you're enjoying the iPad.
THE COURT: It's a pretty nice one.
MR. DEUTSCH: He said it's a pretty nice one.
MR. MORELLI: It's mine.
MR. DEUTSCH: We're just taking off that one
sentence, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Okay.
(Whereupon video deposition was
resumed.)
BY MR. DEUTSCH:
Q. And if you —— there has been testimony in
this case that nobody has ever fallen before —
Mr. Cox's accident, I don't know if you know or not,
occurred in November 1l2th, 2013, so only a couple
months after yours. If there's been testimony in this
case that Mr. Cox was the first person who has ever
fallen doing the Thirteen, would you agree with that or
disagree with that?

A. Well, I would completely disagree. And I can

‘tell you for sure that at least three people associated

with that show knew and had talked to me about falling.
So, I mean, did I ~— was it a major life—-changing
injury? No.

Q. Did anybody talk to you ——
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MS. FRESCH: Your Honor.

THE COURT: One second.

(Whereupon video deposition was paused.)

MS. FRESCH: Objection.

THE COURT: Hold on.

MS. FRESCH: I didn't know —— counsel now is
skipping, but we had questions and answers in between
this page and what counsel is going to next as to
whether you want us to present those now or later.

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, the next questions
that are going to be played are from their questioning.
That was the last questions from my questioning. We're
now going on to stuff that was designated from their
questioning of Ms. Lawrence.

MR. POPOVICH: But, in context, Your Honor,
there are pages' worth of our questioning before the
part that plaintiffs want to play. So for —— to be in

context, it would seem to be beneficial to have them in

order.

MR. DEUTSCH: No problem.

THE COURT: Let's do that.

MR. POPOVICH: What ﬁeégg!prqposing, since I
was doing the questioning in this next section, is I'll

stand and ask the questions and Ms. Fresch will play

Ms. Lawrence at the witness stand. Is that okay?
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THE COURT: All right.

MS. FRESCH: Should I sit here?

MR. POPOVICH: Yeah.

THE COURT: Stand up and be sworn.

THE CLERK: You do solemnly swear that you
will well and truly read the answers of the deponent as
set forth in the deposition in response to the
questions in response to the questions therein asked by
counsel, so help you God?

MS. FRESCH: I do.

THE CLERK: Please state your name and spell
it for the record, please.

MS. FRESCH: Elaine K. Fresch. F-r-e—-s-c-h.

MR. POPOVICH: We intend to start at page 33,
line 2. Tell me when you're ready, Ms. Fresch.

MS. FRESCH: No. Yes. Yes, I'm ready.
Sorry.

CROSS—-EXAMINATION
BY MR. POPOVICH:

Q. First off, since you were 18 years old, have
you ever tripped and fallen any other time other than
this one occasion?

A. Yep. I'm a normal human being, yeah.

Q. Okay. About how many times, just ballpark?

A. Once or twice a year, probably.
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Q. When you've had those trip-and-fall events,
are you usually wearing some kind of heel?

A. I very rarely wear heels, so yeah, no.

MR. DEUTSCH: Jerry, I would ask that you
read 11 through 22, which yocu guys had not proposed.

THE COURT: Go ahead.

MR. POPOVICH: 13 through?

MR. DEUTSCH: 1l1. Your degignation stopped
at 10 and then picked ué again on 23. So I would ask
that you, for completeness, read 11 through 22, the
rest of that page.

MR. POPOVICH: O©Oh, no problem.

THE WITNESS: Okay. |
BY MR. POPOVICH:

Q. The night of the accident, had you had any
alcohol?

A. No.

Q. Taking you now to the show and the start of
the illusion, before even Mr. Copperfield starts
batting balls into the audience —— you with me?

A. Uh-huh. I got you.

Q. —— does he say anything to the audience, like
"you have to be 18 years or older"? Do you remember
anything like that?

A, I'm 80 percent sure he did say that because I
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remember thinking kids couldn't go.

Q. Do you remember him saying anything like "you
have to be in good health"?

A. That, I don't remember if he said that or
not.

Q. Did he ask the pecople in the'audience to put
glasses beneath the tables before the balls started
batting around?

A. You know what? I don't have a glass there —
excuse me —-— I didn't have a glass there, so'I probably
wouldn't have listened. So I don't remember that, no.

Q. Anything other than 18 years old before the
ball start batting around specifically relating to this
illusion that you recall being said? |

A. No.

0. Were you in good health that evening?

A. Yes.

MR. DEUTSCH: 1I'd ask that you read 14
through 21.
BY MR. POPOVICH:

Q. Did you — by any chance were you a runner
June of 20137

A. Oh, God, no.

Q. How about even a treadmill-type workout?

A. Not back then, no.
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Q. The balls get batted around and you described
how you ended up with one.

A. Yep.

0. And did you carry the ball up and then to the
left side of the — I'll start that again.

And did you carry the ball up and then to the
left side of the stage?

A. Yes. It was —— yes. So if you're facing the
stage, it's on the left. Yes.

Q. And you recall talking to a female?

A. Yes.

Q. Was that the first person that Seemed to be
workihg with the production group that you talked to
during this illusion?

A. Yes.

Q. And you asked the questions that you've
already described -- sorry. I read that wrong.

And asked the questions that you've already

described?
A. Yes.
Q. Since we've been talking about this and

you've been questioned about it, anything else come to
your mind that was asked of you before the next step in
the process?

A. I'm pretty certain that those are the only
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three things that were said to me because I thought
that the magician and the reporter thing were kind of
funny. | |

Q. Okay. Because you thought you would be let
in on something secret; right?

A. Yeah.

MR. POPOVICH: Okay. We're skipping to line
24 on page —— page 35 still.

MR. DEUTSCH: Yep, yep.
BY MR. POPOVICH:

Q. I'm a guy, so help me. I heard —— I heard
sandaly. So I'm picturing kind of straps going across
maybe the top of the foot and the toes.

A, Yeah. So this particular pair of shoes, it's
one of two pair that were built almost the same way.
They're actually — I don't even know why I have them
bécause they're almost identical. But there are straps
that go across the toe —— like, three thin straps that
go écross the toe. But I'm really bad with things that
don't hook around the ankle, so mine always —— excuse
me —— also had a strap that went across like —— I don't
know — the bridge of your foot to hold it down too.

Q. Anything around behind the heel?

A. Yeah. So it came —— it came —— so if you gdt

my foot, it came around the back like this one dbes,
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but then it buckled right here.

Q. Thank you. And, actually, it's
interesting -~ is —— how high would you describe the
heel that you just showed us?

A. I would say that that's probably an inch, an
inch and a half. It's about what I'm wearing —— excuse
me. It's about what I was wearing previously.

Q. Would you be so kind as to hold that by the
toe so that we can see the heel on the video. Perfect.
Roughly the same height?

Uh-huh.
Yes?
Yas. Sorry.

We have to just take it down in writing.

» © » O P

That 's okay.

Q. So then, as far as the thickness of the heel
is compared to what you just showed us, how does that
compare with.what you were wearing that time?

A. The one I had, it wasn't super tiny, but
it —— it wasn't a stiletto, but it was a little bit
smaller than this.

Q. Okay. Do you feel like you walk steady when
you're wearing the kind of heel for the shoe you were
wearing the night of the accident?

A. Yes.

55
JA002959




W 00 Jd s U e W Nk

RN NN NN N R R MR H R R B RER
& W N R © W B 9 6 U & W N B O

Q. When you were walking up to the stage with
the ball, did you have any difficulty walking to get to
the point where the female asked you questions?

A. No, not at all.

Q. You had to go up some stairs to get up to the

stage?
A, Yep.
Q. Have any trouble negotiating the stairs?
A, No.
Q. Okay.
MR. DEUTSCH: I think the next piece is ours,
Jerry.

MR. POPOVICH: I think you're right.
MR. DEUTSCH: All right.
Can you please play 38. Thank you.
(Whereupon video deposition was played.)
BY MR. POPOVICH:

Q. Did anybody talk to you,'any —— anybody
wearing all black that was not Mr. Copperfield talk to
you on stage when you were in the area of that line?

A. No, I do not remember that at all.

Q. You don't recall being asked again whether
you could run a second time?

A. No. I know for sure I wasn't asked if I

could run a second time. Other questions, I don't
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know, but I know I was only asked if I could run once.

Q. All right. You then get to the back of the
prop, and that's where I think you've described it
being extremely dark.

A. Yes.

Q. Nobody standing there with a flashlight
showing you where your step would be?

A. No, I really did not know where my foot was
going when I stepped off of the back of that, no idea.

Q. The next person in front of you, could you
still see them when you stepped off the platform?

A. No, I could not.

MR. POPOVICH: Your Honor, we should probably
stop because we skipped —— we skipped a couple sections
of our designations. |

(Whereupon video deposition was paused.)

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. POPOVICH: So, Ms. FJ_:esch, we're at page
40, lines 6 through 18.

MS. FRESCH: Yes.

BY MR. POPOVICH:
Q. Okay. Eventually the curtain comes down?
A. Yes.
Q. The first words you heard from anybody

related to the production were "run" three times?
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Yeah.

Nobody said "stand up"?
Nope.

Nobody said "follow me"?
Nope.

Just "run”?

O ¥ O ¥ oY

Just "run, run, run.” And I remember --—
where am I going? Like —— I didn't say it out loud.
In my head I'm like, where are we going?
MR. DEUTSCH: I would ask that for
completeness you read 19 through line 1 on page 41.
THE COURT: All right.
BY MR. POPOVICH;:
Q. Underneath the curtain, could you see well
enough to make out other people moving in the prop?
A. I couldn't make out — when I was in there,
like, on the platform, I could see well enough the
people in front of me. It was once I was stepping off
the edge of the platform that I could see nothing.
That was where I was going into darkness, not knowing
if I was stepping onto something or falling into a
hole.

MR. POPOVICH: The next designation is

.page 42, 18 to 25.

/1777
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BY MR. POPOVICH:

Q. So after the curtain came down, you étill
remember hearing Mr. Copperfield doing his talk to the
audience?

A. Yes. Yep.

Q. Is there any way you can describe the
light —— how light or dark it was inside the prop after
the curtains came down before you heard the "run, run,
run"?

A, I would call it dim, like it kind of is in
your bedroom at night if you've got, like, a
night-light in the corner. You can —— you can see
what 's going on pretty good. 1It's not great, but you
can Qet to the bathroom when you need to get to the
bathroom in the middle of the night. So that's how I
would — I would describe it.

Q. That's very helpful. Thank you.

All right. "Run, run, run.”" At that point,
you get up out of your seat?

A. Uh-huh.

Q Is that a yes?

A. Yes. I'm sorry.

Q No problem.

And at that point did you have to lock around

to see the aisle toward the back?
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A. I looked to my left 'cause that is where I
heard the sound coming from because I was on the side.
So I locked and then I saw other — I saw the other
people in the —— my row —— excuse me —— turn towards
the middle, kind of like when you're getting off an
airplane. And so I just followed.

Q. Okay. Certainly, you couldn't run in the
prop; correct?

A. No. It wasn't until we were stepping off of
the prop, ves.

MR. POPOVICH: Okay. Now I bglieye we go
back to video. | | :i"ﬁﬁﬂ“
(Whereupon video deposition was played.)
BY MR. POPOVICH:

Q. All right. You then get to the back of the
prop, and that's where I think you've described it‘
being extremely dark?

A, Yes.

Q. Nobody is standing there with a flashlight
showing you where your step would be?

A, No. I really did not know where my foot was
going when I stepped off of the back of that. No idea.

Q. The next person in front of you, could you
still see them when you stepped off the platform?

A. No, I could not.
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Q. So you just put a tentative foot down?

A. Like I said, I trusted that the 12 people
before me hadn't fallen and that there was something
there and just went. .

Q. And do you know whether you went straight out
of the prop, or did you step down some steps?

A. I remember when I first walked off the back
of the prop, it was bouncy a little bit, so like
something that had been pulled up. And I can't
remember about how far I went on that before there was
four or five staifs, really not a whole flight, that we
went down. At that point, it was —— when I got to the
stairs, it was slightly lit. So you could actually see
that there was were stairs so you didn't fall on your
face walking down the stairs.

Q. Okay. Did you see anything on the stairs
glowing, like glow tape?

A. Not that I remember.

Q. But you at least could know that you were
stepping down steps at that point?

A. I knew I was going down stairs, yes.

Q. And when you were going down those steps,
nobody there with a flashlight?

A, Not that I recall, no. I don't remember

someone in a flashlight till we were a little bit
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farther -— or with a flashlight until we were a little
bit farther through the hallways.

MR. RUSSELL: Your Honor.
BY MR. POPOVICH:

Q. When you went down ——

(Whereupon video deposition was paused.)
MR. RUSSELL: Jerry, could you please do 16
through 247
MR. POPOVICH: On which page?
MS. FRESCH: 45.
MR. RUSSELL: 45, where we are. Thank you.
MR. POPOVICH: Okay. Page 45, line 16.
BY MR. POPOVICH:

Q. Once you're down the steps, how did you know
where to go? Could you see other participants at this
point?

A. I could. Pretty much the only thing I could
ever see was — or, for the most part, I could see was
a lady right in front of me. And I just figured she
saw the person in front of her, and they saw — I
just — I just followed and hoped that we were going in
the right place.

MR. RUSSELL: Thank you.
(Whereupon video deposition was played.)
/117
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BY MR. POPOVICH:

Q. When you went down the steps, did you go at a
very fast (descriptive sound) pace or did you walk down
the steps?

A. Oh, did not walk. It was — it was, like,
going as fast as you can down the steps.

Q. Okay. And when you got down the steps, did

1Yo£“§f§ to carry through with a faster pace?

A. Yes.

Q. Would you call it a sprint?

A, I would call it more than a jog, 1éss than a
sprint.

Q. Thank you. So you were keeping your eyes on
the person in front of you?

A. Yes.
Q. Did you get to a point —- now, you described
some halls. Eventually, did you get into some lit

hallways?

a. Yes.

Q. Full lighting in those?

A. Yes.

Q. Could you see more than just one person ahead
of you when you reached the lit stair ——1lit halls?

A, I don't know about the halls, but I know for

sure, when I was in the kitcheny-looking place, that I
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could see a few people ahead of me. And the exit was a
longer space that was straight. That's the —— that's
when I can tell you for sure I remember seeing other
people.

Q. When you were going through the lit halls,
did you change your pace or were you more than a jog,
less than a sprint?

A. At one point —— at one or two points, I got
faster because of the people saying "Come on. Come on.
Let's go. You got" —— I keep using 48. I don't know
what the number was —— "48 seconds to — to get to .
where you need to be."

So at that point I'm like, well, I don't know
how much farther I've got to run. I better pick this
up. I don't know how far I have to go in 48 seconds.
So I did run faster when those comments were made, yes.

Q. Did you ever pass the lady ahead of you?

A. No.

Q. How many times did you hear a
number—-of-seconds warning or statement?

A, Twice, I believe. At least twice. I can
tell you for sure twice. I don't know if it was more
than that.

Q. Were you —— you've talked about an inside and

an outside. And then did you go eventually back into
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the casino after you fell?

A. Yes. Yes.

Q. Okay. When you heard the time —— how many
seconds left the first time, where were you in that
process? Inside, outside, or back inside?

A. Both times I heard the time, I was inside. I
was — the only thing that was said to me outside was
"don't trip."

Q. Okay. In the hallways, were there people
giving directions, like you need to go left or you need
to go right, anything like that?

A. I just remember that there were, at certain
points as I was running, the —— there were people that
made me know that I was —— I had at least gotten to
that right spot. I mean, I said it was like a detour
before. You know, when you get to another detour sign,
you know you re still going in the right directioen.

\ So I don't know if they Jjust pointed or they
were yelling, "Go in this direction,” but I knew when I
saw them that I had at least been going the right
direction so far.

Q. When you got outside, was there anybody
there, like one of these detour signs, directing which
direction to go?

A. The only person that I remember was that
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gentleman at the corner.

Q. And he was telling you to turn right toward
the door?

A. Yep. And -— well, he was just —— he was
pointing, because the only thing he said was ﬁdon't
trip."

Q. Did he have a light of any type?

A, I believe he was holding a flashlight of some
sort.

Q. Did you get a look at that flashlight? Was
it bigger than a normal flashlight?

A. It looked like the same flashlights that they
had been handing out on the stage when we were
supposedly getting flashlights. So I didn't notice
anything, like, special about it or anything.

Q. He says "don't trip," you immediately trip?
Uh-huh.

Fall onto your left knee?

Uh-huh.

Is that a yes?

Yes. Sorry. Left knee, yes.
Okay. If you need to take minute.
No, I'm good now.

Okay. How long were you on the ground?

P © » 0 p O » O ¥

Couple seconds.
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Q. Was there any damage to your shoe —— shoes?

A. Not that I recall. 1I've worn them since, so
there must not have been.

Q. Okay. No repair needed afterward?

A. No. |

- (Whereupon video deposition was paused.)
MR. RUSSELL: Your Honor, before we go to the
next one, Mr. Popovich, could you read 12 through 18
before we go onto 19, please?
MR. POPOVICH: On page 50?
MR. RUSSELL: Yes, pleaée. Thank you.
BY MR. POPOVICH:

Q. Did you ever perceive, while you were working
your way through the route, that there was anybody
moving along behind you?

A. I never believed that there was anybody
running behind me. You know, as I passed those people
that were, like, the detour signs, they ended up behind
me. But they never followed as far as I can tell you.

MR. RUSSELL: Thank you.
(Whereupon vided deposition was played.)
BY MR. POPOVICH:

Q. So the person at the corner, you believe, had

to have seen you fall?

A. Yeah. He —— he said something, and that's
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what caused the lady in front of me to turn around.

Q.

A,

Q.
following

But you have no idea what he said?

No, I was in pain.

Okay. And the lady that you had been

is the one that turned back and helped you?
Yes.

And then you went through to the doors to get
the building?

Right.

Basically, other than the time you were on

the ground, obviously, you kept the same speed?

A.

It — you know, I got a little encouragement

to go a little faster when the times were thrown out,

but, yeah, it was fairly close to the same speed the
.;%gpire way .
o Q. Okay. You talked about three people having
something to do with the production that knew you had
fallen. Is the person —— I think you said it was a
guy, so —
A. It was a gentleman, yes.
Q. —— holding some kind of flashlight at the

corner saying not trip. That's one?

A,
Q.

That's the first.

And then the other two wexre in the room after

the reappearance?
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A, Yes.

Q. Okay. The person holding the flashlight, the

guy —

A. Uh-huh.

Q. —— do you —— did you notice what he was
wearing?

A. I was running.

Q. Nobody asked you whether you wanted to fill
out any kind of incident report. Is that your
testimony?

A. Not at all.

Q. Did you ask to fill out an incident report?

A, I didn't really think about it at that point.
I was trying to stop the bleeding.

Q. At no point did you personally hand-write out
a statement about what happened?

A, No. Since they didn't offer me a Band-Aid, I
had to go buy some.

(Whereupon video deposition was paused.)
" MR. RUSSELL: Jerry — Your Honor — I think
you've got some cross—designations in here,
Mr. Popovich.
THE COURT: Beg your pardon?®
MR. POPOVICH: Our next one is at page 56.

Do you know where we are in the video?

69
JA002973




o O - 0 B W N

NN D ONN N B B R R R R E R R R
M & W N R O W W ~ o U B W N = O

Mr. Russell, do you know where we are in the video?

MR. RUSSELL: On the video —— on the video,
we Jjumped ahead to 69, I believe.

MR. POPOVICH: Yes, we do.

MR. DEUTSCH: You're going to start at 56,
line 57

MR. POPOVICH: Correct.

MR. DEUTSCH: I would ask that you start at 1
instead.

MS. FRESCH: Okay.

MR. POPOVICH: Okay. Page 56, line 1.
BY MS. FRESCH:

Q. All right. Just a couple of questions.
Probably not surprisingly, I'll start out with the
heels. I just had a few more questions.

MR. DEUTSCH: And just for the record, this
is now questioning by Ms. Fresch.

MS. FRESCH: Should I question myself and
then answer?

MR. POPOVICH: Let me start again after that,
line 1. |
BY MS. FRESCH:

Q. All right. Just a couple of questions.
Probably not surprisingly, I'll start out with the

heels. I just had a few more questions.
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A. That's okay.

Q. So you had said that the thickness of the
heel was a bit thinner than the ones you're wearing
currently; right?

A. Correct.

Q. And I would call that kind of a bit of a
stocky heel that you're wearing right now; right?

A, Correct. Yes.

Q. Because it's solid almost, like, 2-by-2 or

A. Yeah, I'd go more 1l-by-1.

Q. Yeah, I couldn't see quite ——

A, Yeah.

Q. All right. But you wouldn't describe the
sandals that you had on a kitten heel? Do you know
what a kitten heel is?. R

A. I do. No, not that pair at all.

MR. POPOVICH: Moving to page 57, line 8.
BY MS. FRESCH:

Q. Have you —-— the other ones, have you ever

tripped in those?

A. No. No. I —— as far as I can remember, I've

never tripped in a pair of heels.
Q. I can't say the same.

MR. DEUTSCH: '"Question: I can't say the
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same . "
MR. MORELLI: Too weird. Too weird.
MR. POPOVICH: Wow.

BY MS. FRESCH:

Q. You mentioned that there was a lady in front
of you who assisted you after you had fallen.

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And if I understand, you fell and you
got up, like, within two seconds or so?

A. However long it took her to run back to me
and grab my hand and I got up and ran.

Q. QOkay. So you didn't get up on your own?

A. No.

Q. So did you —- and you were just on one knee?

A. I had fallen. My left knee had hit first.
That's what got — I don't know if anything else was
really hurt. That was just the area where there was a
lot of damage 'cause that was the knee that —-- that hit
first. So — and she —— I can't — I —— she helped me
up, but I could —— I could have stood up on my own. It
just helped that someone was helping me.

Q. So she was pretty quick about turning around?

A. Yeah. She was only a couple of feet in front
of me.

Q0. Aand during the time of the —— I'll call it
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after you come down the little —— not little — the
stairs from the platform, go down some stairs; right?
A. Yes.

Q. Okay. So from the time you hit flat

ground -—-

A. Yes.

Q. —— and you begin on what we call the route,
if -~ or I call the route ——

Yep.

Q. —— up to the point of where you fell, this
woman was from —— always in front of you?

A. She was always in front of me, yes.

Q. And was she about 2 or 3 feet in front of
you?

A. For the most part at the end, she was
within —— like, I couldn't reach my hand and touch her,
but she wasn't that much farther in front of my hand
than that the entire time.

Q. And how would you describe her pace in front

of you?
A. Same as mine. I think we were pretty much —
I mean, there was a pretty even —— the one or two times

I could see other people in front of her, the gaps
seemed fairly even. So we seemed to be keeping fairly

decent pace with one another, the few people I could
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see on my end.
Q. So kind of that follow-the—leader thing?
A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Did you ever specifically lock behind

A, No.

Q. Okay. So would it be fair to say that you
can't say one way or another if there was actually
anyone behind you at all?

A. That would be fair.

- Q. Okay. Now, when you came down the stair —
just wanted to make sure I understood this -- was —-
did you — what was the.gender of the first person you
saw that had either a light in their hand or did any
type of direction?

A. I honestly do not remember. I could guess,
but that's all it would be would be a guess.

Q. Okay. And besides when you —— you were on
the platform when you heard someone say "run, run,
run"?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And after you got to ground level from
the stairs, the — the comments you could hear besides
the guy who said "don't trip" —

A, Yeah.
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Q. -— was 48 seconds?

A. I made up that number, but there was some odd
number of seconds, like, you have so many seconds to,
you know, be at the end.

Q. Okay. And was that, from your wviewpoint,
someone saying that directly to you?

A. I think. My viewpoint is that they were
telling all of us that could hear it was that's how
long you have to get to where you need to be. It
wasn't to me; it was to all of us as information.

Q. But you kept the same pace; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And you believe you heard the group of
seconds or whatever?

A. Yeah.

Q. And it wasn't someone saying a minute; it was
definitely seconds. Do you remember that?

A. The second was —— excuse me —— that —— the
second one was definitely seconds. I can't 100 percent
tell you on the first one.

Q. Okay. And do you recall whether the person,

either times you heard second or whatever the first

time description was, was that a man or a woman?
A. You know what? I don't know.

MR. POPOVICH: We go to page 62, line 2.
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BY MS. FRESCH:

Q. Okay. So the platform, you're facing out to
the audience. They're looking at you and they would —
you're to the left side?

A. Yes, first row.

MR. POPOVICH: Yeah —— you say ——

MS. FRESCH: Sorry. Sorry. I messed up.

MR. POPOVICH: Line 6.

BY MS. FRESCH:

Q. First row?

A. First row, all the way to the left.

MR. DEUTSCH: Just so we're ¢lear, the "I
messed up” part was Elaine legitimately saying she
messed up and not something in the transcript.

MS. FRESCH: Yes, I will acknowledge i messed
up the reading.

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay.

MR. POPOVICH: Why don't we start at line 2.

MR. DEUTSCH: That sounds goed.

BY MS. FRESCH:

Q. Okay. So the platform, you're facing out to
the audience. They're looking at you, and they
would ~— you're to the left side?

Yes,

Q. First row?
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A. First row, all the way to the left.

Q. Okay. And what was the gender of the person
sitting next to you?

A, It was that lady that was in front of me.

Q. Okay. And how do you know there were 12
other people on the platform?

A Well, he had said he was throwing 13 balls
out, so I guess I didn't count. I just assumed that he
knew he was throwing 13 out, and if I was one, that
left 12.

Q. Okay. So you didn't look around and count?

A. No. |

Q. Okay. Aand the lady that was sitting next to
you, did you chat with her at all in the platform?

A. No.

Q. Okay. After she helped you up and you all
continued to go through the doors?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And then I believe — so you go
through one set of doors. What happened next?

A. After I went through one set of doors, if I
remember correctly, there was another set of doors.
And that — excuse me —— that —— and then that's what
opened into, you know, the pretty arena stage area

where the audience was sitting.
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Q. Okay. So after you went through the second
set of doors, you were in the same —

A. I was at the back of the audience.

Q. Okay. So you went from one set of double
doors to another set of double doois, and then you were
back in the theater?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay.

MR. POPOVICH: Line 14. That's you.

MS. FRESCH: O©Oh.

THE WITNESS: And those — and those doors
were at the back of the theater.
BY MS. FRESCH:

Q. Okay. And when you —— were you holding a
flashlight in the back of the theater?

A. They handed us — as we walked into the
theater, they handed us a flashlight. So I didn't have
one in my hand until I — until I came back into the
theater.

Q. Okay. Did you talk to that lady after she
came back, helped you up, and then you — did she keep
holding your hand or ——

A. No. Once she had me up, I was running behind
her. We weren't —— she wasn't holding my hand anymore.

Q. Did she say anything to you?

| 78
JA002982




W 0 <N & 0o W N R

NN NN NN R R R B OH MR R e
BBk W N R O W ® ol B W N KR O

A. She said —— I think she said, after she came

back and turned around and was helping me up, she asked

me if I was okay.

you

Q. And what did you say?

A. I told her I —— that I scraped my knee.

Q. Okay. Prior to her coming baék and helping
up, had you looked at your knee yet?

A. No. Because I was still on the ground, I

hadn't looked yet.

Q. Okay. When was the first time you actually

locked at your knee?

for
was
the

was

A, The first time I actually looked at my knee
—— was —— for real, when I could actually see it,
actually when we were back in that room because
—— the audience area was —— was dark. I knew it

bleeding just based on what I could feel, but I

didn’'t see it clearly until I was back in that room.

MR. POPOVICH: Our next read is line —— or

page 70. So I think we have video?

MR. RUSSELL: Mr. Popovich, actually, could

you do 65, 5 through 13, while you're up there?

MR. POPOVICH: So we're moving to 65, line 5

through 13, at special request.

MS. FRESCH: What line?
MR. POPOVICH: 65, 5 through 13.
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MS. FRESCH: Got it.
MR. POPOVICH: Any objection? No.
BY MS. FRESCH:

Q. Now, the two gals that you said talked to
you, was that in the —— where was that? Was it both in
the same room?

A. It was both in the same room, one as I was
first coming in. I was walking into the room. She
didn't really stop me from walking in, maybe slowed me
down a little. But I was still moving and she was
like, "Are you ckay?" I said yes and continued into
the room.

MR. RUSSELL: Thank you. 7

MR. POPOVICH: So we have 692, 7 through 21,
on video?

MR. DEUTSCH: I would just ask — hold on —
hold on.

MS. FRESCH: Hold on.

MR. DEUTSCH: For completeness, I would just
ask that you — I would just ask that you read to 66,
line 1, from — continue on 65, 15.

"QUESTION: Okay. So was that the”

MS. FRESCH: Okay. Hold on.

MR. DEUTSCH: You know what? Don't worry
about it. |
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MR. POPOVICH: So we're going to the video.

MR. DEUTSCH: I was overruled. You can play
the video.

(Whereupon video deposition was played.)

BY MS. FRESCH: |

Q. Did you speak with the lawyers for Mr. Cox
once you arrived out here?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. Okay. What did you guys talk about?

A. We met the evening I arrived. It was short.
It was — I don't know —— like, 45 minutes. And,
basically, they just explained to me what it was going
to kind of look like in here, that they would ask me
questions and then any of — anybody on the defense
side that wanted to ask questions. And they just ——
they just told me to tell what happened.

And they did —— they asked a few questions to
clarify, kind of like what we've been doing here, but
they didn't, like, give me any instructions on anything
to say; they just were clarifying the details.

(Whereupon video deposition was paused.)

MR. POPOVICH: Okay. We now read at page 70.

MS. FRESCH: No, we — I have 69, lines 22
through 23.

MR. MORELLI: 597
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MS. FRESCH: 69.
MR. RUSSELL: Just those next two lines, that
question and answer.
MR. DEUTSCH: Hold on. Okay. Yep.
BY MS. FRESCH:
Q. And where were you staying here?
A. I'm staying at the Wynn.
MR. POPOVICH: All right. Now we're at
page 70, line 13 through 23.

MR. DEUTSCH: Just for clarifying, we're now

‘up to Mr. Russell's questions?

MR. POPOVICH: Yes.

Mr. Russeil? You want to do it?

MR. RUSSELL: That's fine with me. I don't
have all your counter—designations, though, Jerry. I
apologize.

MR. POPOVICH: I can do it if you want.

MR. RUSSELL: You can make me sound better.

MR. MORELLI: He can make you wear heels too.

MS. FRESCH: 1I'll remain as Ms. Lawrence.

MR. POPOVICH: Okay. Page 70, line 13
through 23.
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. The shoes you were wearing that night, I know

you've been asked a lot of questions about those, but
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you seem to remember the conversation you had coming up
onto the stage. And you made a comment, "Well, I can
run as well as I can in these heels.”

A. Yes. Or "these shoes," not heels, but shoes.

Q. "In these shoes.”"” Do you have some concern
in running in those shoes?

A. No. It was — I've kind of got a very
sarcastic personality, so, I mean, I wasn't wearing
tennis shoes, you know, so ...

Q. Okay.

MR. RUSSELL: Mr. Popovich, before you go to
the video, could you do 71/23 through 72/6, please.
MR. POPOVICH: 71/23 through?
MR. RUSSELL: 72/6.
MR. POPOVICH: You there, Ms. Fresch?
Objection?
MR. DEUTSCH: Yeah, I have an objection.
May we approcach? May we approach, Your
Honeor?
THE COURT: fes.
(A discussion was held at the bench}
not reported.)
THE COURT: No objection to a break? Okay.:
Let's take a break until ten after 4:00.

During the recess, you're admonished not to
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talk or converse among yourselves or with anyone else,
including, withcout limitation, the lawyers, parties,
and witnesses, on any subject connected with the trial
or read, watch, or listen to any report of or
commentary on the trial or any person connected with
the trial by any medium of information, including,
without limitation, newspapers, television, the
internet, and radio, or to form or express any opinion
on any subject connected with the trial until the case
is finally submitted to you.

Be ocutside the courtroom at 10 after 4:00.

JUROR NC. 8: At what time?

THE COURT: 10 after 4:00.

THE MARSHAL: All rise.

(The following proceedings were held
outside the presence of the jury.)

THE MARSHAL: All rise. Come to order.

THE COURT: Please be seated. We are back on
the record outside the presence of the jury.

MR. DEUTSCH: So I think —— I think there was
only one objection to that one piece; right? What page
was that?

THE MARSHAL: Be seated.

MR. DEUTSCH: So, Your Honor, we've gone

through the rest of it. And I was just going to offer
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up the original. I was just going to offer up my
objections so we could deal with it and then just get
through it quickly.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. DEUTSCH: What were you up to?

MR. POPOVICH: We're going to start on 71.

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay.

MR. POPOVICH: You have that page?

MR. DEUTSCH: 71, jeah. So the first
objection I had.was on 82.

MR. POPOVICH: 82.

MR. DEUTSCH: 82 on the top; right?

So, Your Honor, the question that I have an
objéction to that they're asking to — to read is
pPage 82, line 2 through 5. And, you know, I have no
objection to that question if she's permitted to
testify about the first question that I had asked for
about why she's here. Because, otherwise, they're now
talking about news. And —— and she looked at news for
this trial, which is what brought her here in the first
Place.

So in light of Your Honor saying that she
wasn't able to explain that —

THE COURT: Well, if they elicit that, then

I'1l consider possibly allowing ——
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MR. DEUTSCH: Okay. No problem.

MS. FRESCH: Your Honor, may I respond?
Sorry. Sorry.

MR. MORELLI: The witness has an argument.

MS. FRESCH: 1I'm sorry. But anyway, because,
to me, this question, I don't think we're the one
proposing this, but the questiocon is different because
this is after she was here, after she met Mr. Cox's
attorney, whether she saw news that would have impacted
her testifying here last — I think it was Wednesday.
So I feel there's a distinction there. B

THE COURT: Yeah, but you're bringing out the
media; right? |

MS. FRESCH: Well —— I don't know.

THE COURT: I —— my thinking is if it's
brought out in that context, it's fair to permit some
development of the —— minimal development —— I don't
want all the stuff about the —

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay. Understood.

MR. RUSSELL: Well — and the only reason ——
the reason it's offered, Your Honor, is because now
she's saying that -- you know, it goes a little bit to
her —— it does go to her motivation. She says, "Well,
now I'm looking at news to see what they said about

me."
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MR. DEUTSCH: Well, that's exactly my point,
though. If it goes to her motivation, then we're
entitled to explain what her motivation was to come
here. We agree the jury should know what her
motivation is.

THE COURT: But there was some discussion |
about something we were going to adduce at line -~ at
page 71.

MS. FRESCH: Right.

MR. DEUTSCH: No, we've worked that out, Your
Honor, I think.

THE COURT: Okay. I'll reserve ruling it —

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay.

THE COURT: -—— until I see what's adduced.

MR. DEUTSCH: And then the other objection
was —

MR. POPOVICH: 88.

MR. DEUTSCH: Page 88, Your Honor, line 8
through 15.

MS. FRESCH: I had 13.

MR. DEUTSCH: Oh.

MR. POPOVICH: 8 through 13.

MR. DEUTSCH: 8 through 13. I don't see what
relevancy the fact that she filed for bankruptcy has on

this, Your Honor.

- 87
JA002991




w0 - ey e W NN

NONN N NN R R ORE R H B R R R
O OB W N R O W O N s WM K O

MR. MORELLI: She's not getting paid, so
what's the point?

MR. DEUTSCH: Nobody's making any allegations
about anything. They're allowed to point out —- they
have testimony in here already that she stayed at the
Wynn. There's testimony here that —— that we paid for
that. The fact that she filed for bankruptcy is
irrelevant.

THE COURT: Seems to me to be ——

MR. DEUTSCH: So that's my objections. Other
than that, I think we've worked it all out, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Before we have the jury
come in —

MR. RUSSELL: Wait. We — we — it's up to
you guys. We have no position one way or the other.

MS. FRESCH: Your Honor, were you ruling
sustaining that object —— I thought you were
overruling.

THE COURT: No, I sustained it. What's the
relevance?

MS. FRESCH: Well, the relevance is that
it's — it shows bias because she filed for bankruptcy.
And the next day, she called Mr. Morelli's office.

MR. DEUTSCH: Well, we're not --

MS. FRESCH: And maybe she didn't get
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anything —— there is a bias there. And I think that's
entitled. And --

THE COURT: I don't understand what you're —

MS. FRESCH: Because ——

THE COURT: Why is that a bias?

MS. FRESCH: There's a bias because I think
there's a financial motivation, maybe not from
Mr. Morelli's office, but there could be a financial
motivation about her coming, testifying, being on TV,
being one of -~ a, quote/unquote, witness. The next
thing, I'll see her on "Good Morning America."

MR. DEUTSCH: I'm sure that's going to help

her in her bankruptcy case. _

MS. FRESCH: Well, whén you get money, that
does help if you're in bankruptcy.

MR. DEUTSCH: But she didn't get any money.

MS. FRESCH: She could in the future. Aand
that could be a financial motivation for her testimony
here today —

MR. DEUTSCH: That's insane.

MS. FRESCH: -—— or whenever she was here, or
today.

THE COURT: 1I'll keep out the bankruptcy.
Okay . |

So you ready?
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MR. POPOVICH: Last bit of business, Your
Honor, is there was testimony that, on the video,

Ms. Lawrence was showing her shoe, but when we read it,
it was out of context. We —

MR. DEUTSCH: No objection.

MR. POPOVICH: We have marked as Exhibit 558
a screen grab showing her shoe. When the jury comes
back in, I would like to be able to circulate.

MR. MORELLI: No cbjection.

MR. DEUTSCH: No cbjection.

MR. RUSSELL: And, Your Honor, there's —-—
there's one distinction. On 74, there's a couple of
sections — 74 — 73 and 74, you're still presenting,
right, Adam? You haven't pulled those, have you?

MR. DEUTSCH: 73.

MR. MORELLI: 73, 74.

MR. RUSSELL: 73.

MR. MDRELLI: What lines?

MR. RUSSELL: Okay. Going on to 74, though,
it changes from —— she at first says "I wanted to come
out here and let people know that I had fallen, that
somebody had fallen."

But, on 74, it changes to "I wanted to tell
them that three people knew I had gotten hurt." Now,

there's no evidence that anybody knew she had gotten
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hurt.

MR. DEUTSCH: No, she wanted the jury to
know, not that she wanted Copperfield to know. She
wanted the jury to know.

MR. RUSSELL: No, it says "at least three
people there knew that I had been hurt.” So three
people at the show knew she was hurt.

MR. DEUTSCH: But that's her perception of
it. |

MR. RUSSELL: Well, her perception is they
knew she fell. But she has no foundation to say that
they knew she was hurt.

MR. DEUTSCH: Wrong.

THE COURT: What line is this?

MS. FRESCH: 74, 2 through 11.

MR. RUSSELL: 74, 2 through 11.

MS. FRESCH: 1It's also cumulative.

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, they objected to
the foundational questions for that and wouldn't let
the foundational questions in, which were the questions
about she's standing in the back room bleeding, did the
other people know about it?

And her answer was "I would have assumed they
would have known about it because they were standing

there looking at me and my knee was bleeding.”
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THE COURT: I think that's already come in
anyway; right?

'MS. FRESCH: It has.

MR. DEUTSCH: Right, which is why there's a
foundation for —

MS. FRESCH: But it's cumulative.

MR. DEUTSCH: That's right. That's my point.

THE COURT: Okay. I think it's —— ckay.

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay.

MR. RUSSELL: All right.

THE COURT: But now I need to make a record

on -— on one thing. And that is tomorrow I have to
recess for lunch about —— somewhere around a quarter to
12:00.

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay.

MR. MORELLI: Okay.

THE COURT: Maybe 20 to or —— I'm part of a
CLE —— business court CLE starts at 12:00, so I have to
get over there. It's not that far away. Hopefully,
the lights will be synchronized.

MR. POPOVICH: Godd ;uck with that.

THE COURT: And then we'd resume at 1:30 as
usual. I mean, the thing goes from 12:00 to 1:00, so
I'd be back in time.

MR. MORELLI: So it's about 15 or 20 minutes
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different; right?

THE COURT: Just wanted to give you a heads
up ——

MR. DEUTSCH: Thank you, Judge.

THE COURT: -—- in case you expected someone
to be on the stand that wasn't available.

MR. MORELLI: Absolutely.

MR. DEUTSCH: I think we're good.

MR. POPOVICH: So I think we're ready for the
jury. The first thing we will do is publish this and
then finish the read-in video.

THE COURT: Very well. Let's have the jury

come in.

THE MARSHAL: All rise.
(The following proceedings were held in
the presence of the jury.)
THE COURT: All right. You may be seated.
Do counsel stipulate that the jury is now
present?

MR. MORELLI: So stipulated.
MS. FRESCH: So stipulated.

MR. POPOVICH: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: All right.

Mr. Popovich?

MR. POPOVICH: Your Honor, we have obtained a
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screen grab from the video with Exhibit 558, which has
been stipulated into evidence. And may I publish this
to the jury?

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. POPOVICH: Thank you.

When she was talking about her shoe that day
and comparing the heel to the one she wore that night,
that is the screen grab of her shoe.

MR. DEUTSCH: What she demonstrated.

JUROR NO. 12: Can we see the date and all
that?

JUROCR NO. 8: But that's not the one she wore
the day —

JUROR NO. 12: No, the date's here. You'll
see the date.

MR, MORELLI: 1It's the one she was wearing
on —

MR. DEUTSCH: In court.

MR. RUSSELL: Similar to the one Mr. Popovich
has fallen out of.

Sorry, Jerry. I apologize. It was just
hanging out there.

MR. MORELLI: Excuse me. You haven't ——

MS. FRESCH: And very different from mine.

THE COURT: Go ahead.
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MR. POPOVICH: Tough bunch.

Can I wait till they're not distracted?

All right, Your Honor. We are picking up at
page 71, line 23. |

Ready, Ms. Fresch?

MS. FRESCH: Yes.
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. Okay. Now, when you first started testifying
today, you said that you called Mr. Cox's attorneys
because you wanted to tell them that people have been
hurt. Did I hear you right?

A. Correct.

Q. Do you know of anyone else that's been
injured in a David Copperfield illusion beside yourself
and what you heard about Mr. Cox?

A. No. So a person had been hurt.

Q. You said that you were wearing a dress or a

skirt that came above the knee; is that correct?

A. It was a'dress, yes.

Q. Do you still have that dress?

A. I might.

Q. Forgive my male not knowing women's fashion,

but I'11l try to describe it the best I can. Was it
a —— more of a flowing skirt or was it a really

tight-fitting skirt?
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A. It was flowing. It had an empire waist, so
the waist came —— comes up right up here, and then it
flows pretty loose after.

Q. Was it easy to move about in that dress?

A. Oh, yeah. That dress, it's like wearing
pajamas.

MR. POPOVICH: And then we have video for the
next segment.
(Whereupon video deposition was played.)
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. Okay. You mentioned too that you were — you
were looking at cother participants' heels when they
came up on the stage. Did I hear you right?

A. Because one woman's were so big I couldn't
believe that she would be able, if we had to run, run
in them. And I couldn’'t beliewve she could walk in
them, to be honest with you. They were (witness
indicating) big. 1I'wve never worn heels that high.

Q. You —-- you stated earlier, you came here
today because you wanted to help Mr. Cox get at least
his medical bills back. Did I hear you right?

A, I just wanted to come here sco that the jury
made a decision based on the fact that they knew I had
fallen and whatever that might mean for him. T didn't

want him to not get a decision because I hadn't come
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forward and said. So it — if it turns oﬁt however it
turns out, you know, I did my part. And I just didn't
want to feel guilty.

Q. Fair to say you took an interest in this case
because you wanted to help Mr. Cox out?

A, I wanted to make sure that the truth came
out. I was more — I saw it and I was like, oh, we
should probably say something. But then as I read and
said that they had said no one had gotten hurt, I was
like, well, at least three people thefe knew that I had
been hurt five months before he had been hurt. So five
months ahead of time, they knew it was possible for
someone to trip at some point during that.

Q. And you keep saying three people. Who were
the three people?

A. The gentleman who told me not to trip that
then saw me trip; the first lady when I came into the
room éfter the entire trick was done when
Mr. Copperfield came and talked to us. As I was
walking in, that first lady. And then the third person
would be the final lady with the headset that came and
talked to me at that —— after he was done talking and
before I walked out of the room.

(Whereupon video deposition was paused.)

MR. POPOVICH: We pick up with reading at
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page 77, line 16.
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. And as you — again, as you were inside the
platform, was anyone ushering you towards the edge of
the platform saying "come this way"?

A. I was following.

Q. You -- you've said it a couple times. You ——
you — through this whole illusion, you played
follow-the-leader. Fair enough?

A. Yeah, I would -— I would agree with that.

Q. I think I heard you say —— or at least
compare —— what you saw cutside where you fell as being
dimly lit like a parking 1§t at night. 1Is that true?

A. Yeah.

MR. POPOVICH: Moving to 78, line 8.
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. And you did say that one of the questions you
were asked, even before you started the illusion, was
whether you could run; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. I heard you describe the route through

backstage as having detour signs in the form of people.

A, Yes.
Q. People were acting as detour signs?
A. Yes.
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Q. Showing you which way teo go?

A. Yes.

Q. At any point along the route, did you have to
make a decision "Do I turn this way or turn that way?"
Or did you already know because of the detour sign
which way you were going to go?

A. I didn't make a decision on my own; I
followed who was in front of me.

Q. And when you fell outside on the concrete,
were you able to get back up on your own or did the
person in front of you have to actually help pick you
up?

A. She —- she helped me. It would have taken me
a little while longer to do it, but I could have gotten
up on my own.

MR. POPOVICH: Okay. BAnd I believe we now
have the last video clip at page 79, line 18.
MR. DEUTSCH: Yeah.
(Whereupon video deposition was played.)
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. What was the total time from the time the
curtain dropped until you finished the illusion at the
back of the auditorium?

A. A minute and a half.

Q. Now, does that include the minute that you
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sat in the platform after the curtain dropped before
you heard "Run, run, run”"?

A. No.

(Whereupon video deposition was
stopped. )
MR. POPOVICH: Okay. The rest are reads.
And we begin reading at page 80, line 5.
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. I know you said you met with Mr. Cox's
attorneys. They told you a little bit about what you
could expect here today. Did they tell you what some
of the witnesses that have already testified have said
during trial?

A, No.

MR. POPOVICH: Moving to page 84, line 4.
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. And then you mentioned that, when you

reappeared at the back, you sort of crossed your legs

to hide it. 1Is that true?

A, Right.

Q. Okay. Because you said it was kind of
humiliating?

A. Embarrassing, yeah.

Q. When you got back to the breakout room, now

you're with 12 strangers in a lit room, did you cross
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your legs again because you were a little humiliated
maybe?

A. I don't remember doing that.

Q. Is it possible you did that?

A. I guess anything's possible.

MR. POPOVICH: Next is 85, line 8.

BY MR, RUSSELL:

Q. While we're waiting for that, Ms. Lawrence,
you said several times that no one ever offered you a
Band-Aid. Did you ever ask for one in the back room?

A, No, I did‘not. You'd also think there would
be a first aid kit or something.

MR. POPOVICH: Page 87, line 2.

BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. And you are —— you are positive that you
didn't slip on something; correct?

A, Oh, yes, 100 percent positive.

Q. But, at the same time, you don't know what
caused you to fall; is that correct?

A. Yes. I can't tell you that. But I know,
like, it wasn't like my foot slipped out from under me
because, yeah, it was not that. That, I will tell you.

Q. Did the two people inside the breakout room,

.the two women that talked to you, the one with the

headset and then the other one, did one of them say
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they actually saw you fall?

A. No.

Q. Did they say they didn't see you fall? I
mean, let me ask you this: Did that conversation come
up?

A. No. The only thing they asked me is if I was
okay .

Q. Did you say something to trigger that
conversation, or did they come to you and say "Are you
okay?"

They came to me; I didn‘tlsay anything.

Q. So they actually started the dialogue?

A. Yes.

MR. POPOVICH: Going to 89, line 2.

BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. Do you think you would have fallen if you had
been.wearing tennis shoes?

A, I can't tell you since I don't know what made
me fall.

MR. POPOVICH: I believe that concludes the
video and reading testimony of Ms. Lawrence, Your
Honor.

MR. RUSSELL: Just, Mr. Popovich —

MR, POPOVICH: Or not.

MR. RUSSELL: There was the testimony on
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line —~- page 82, line 2 through 5 that you reserved

ruling on. We'd like to approach on that.

THE COURT: You want to approach?

my stuff.

THE

THE

(A discussion was held at the bench,

not reported.)

. POPOVICH: We are done.

. FRESCH: We're done. Okay. I will get

. DEUTSCH: We're done.

COURT: All right.

. MORELLI: I think we should approach.

. DEUTSCH: Yeah.

(A discussion was held at the bench,
not reported.).
COURT: All right. Plaintiffs may call

their next witness.

MR.

MORELLI: Do you want to do the

instruction first or do you want me to call the witness

first?

THE COURT:

No, you call them first and then

I will read the instruction.

MR.

stand.

MORELILI: Plaintiff calls Mr. Cox to the

THE COURT: At this time ——

THE MARSHAL: Remain standing. Raise your
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right hand. Face the clerk, please.

THE CLERK: You do solemnly swear the
testimony'you're about to give in this action shall be
the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth,
so help you God?

THE WITNESS: I do. I do.

THE CLERK: Please state your name and spell
it for the record.

THE WITNESS: Gavin Cox, G—a-v-i-n, C—-o—x.

THE CLERK: Thank you.

THE COURT: You may be seated.

Ladies and gentlemen, Mr. Cox alleges that,
as a result of this accident, one of the injuries he
sustained was a traumatic brain injury which may affect
the way he testifies during this trial. You may take
this allegation into consideration when you are
evaluating his testimony.

All right. You may proceed.

MR. MORELLI: Thank you, Your Honor.

Good afternoon, jurors.

IN UNISON: Good afternoon.

DIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. Mr. Cox, I'm going to call you Gavin because

we know each other pretty well at this point. And,
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like I've said to all of the witnesses in the case, if
there's a question that you don't understand, just tell

me and I'll rephrase it.

A. Okay .
Q. Fair enough?
A. Yeah.

Q. Okay. Now, Gavin, let's start off by you
telling the jury what your date of birth is.

A. It's the 9th of November 1960.

Q. And do you —— do you remember what the date
of your accident was?

A. I think it's about the 12th of November, give
or take a day —— I'm sorry. I'm not very gobd now with
dates — but it was 2013.

Q. Okay. And give us a little bit of background
about your family. Are you married?

A. I'm married. I have ——

Q. And —- and could you tell us, do you have any

children?

A. I have three children.

Q. And what are their names and how old are
they?

A. Oliver, my oldest son, is around 27.

Cameron, my middle son,‘is around 25. And Harry is my

| youngest son, and he's 13.
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MR. MORELLI: Jennifer, can you hear me? Aam
I okay?
THE COURT RECORDER: Yeah.
BY MR. MORELLI: |
Q. Now, what date did you get married? And you
better get this one right.

A. I'm sorry. I don't know the date. I don't

remember. It was around 1992 in —— around the summer
of 1992.

Q. And so where —— where did you get married?

A. In —/— in Las Vegas.

Q. Now, what is —— what is your hometown?

A, London is —— I have an address in London, but

for the purposes of this case?

Q. OCkay. So, now, tell me, did you grow up in
London?

A. Did I?

Q. Grow up in London.

A. No.

Q. OCkay. Where —— where did you grow up?

A. I grew up in a seaside town in the southwest
of England called Torbay.

Q. And where in London were you living while youu
were raising your three boys?

A. We lived in central London, in -- oh,

106
JA003010




u o ~ o 0 B W N

NN NN NP R R ORH R B R R RB R
O & W N B O VW 0 J 6 B & W N K O

Kensington and Chelsea.

Q. Okay. Now, at —— at the —— what was your
profession, you know, when you were in London? Can you
tell us something about what you did for a living and
how you got to do that?

A. Well, I started out as a —— as a pot washer
when I was 13. They got me interested in kitchens and
cooking. I progressed to being a waiter. And then at
17 I had a year in high school as an exchange student
in America.

And then, when I came back, I got a job as a
waiter for a year. And, after that, I went to culinary
school for three years and studied to be a chef. And I
progressed through the ranks from vegetable preparation
and experience up until — working my way up through —-
through the ranks of the kitchen to be a head chef.

And T ended up being a head chef at what's
called a gentlemen's club in England, but it's kind of
like not —— it's not a strip c¢lub-type thing. It's —
it's where gentlemen like lords —— lords go and
politicians and people of standing go to meet in
London. But it's a fairly -- it's a fairly English
thing to do that. Men like to go to these clubs and
just —— they're not allowed to talk business. It's

just a place for relaxation and enjoyment and to dine.
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And I — also heads of state, royalty,
presidents. It was affiliated with America as well, so
we got a few presidents come over and dignitaries. And
that's where I ended up the —- the latter part of my
career.

Q. What was —- what was your position when you
ended up at this gentlemen's club?
I —— I was a head chef of that club.
And for how long did you do that?

» O ¥

Just -— Jjust shy of ten years.

Q. And whe would — you know, you —— you
mentioned certain dignitaries would dine there.
Would — would —— would the Queen dine there too?

A. Yeah, the Queen. I've cooked for the Queen
Mother; Prince Charles; the Duke of Kent, Prince
Michael; the whole —— you know, it sounds very
glamorous and wonderful, but, to me, they were just ——
I wouldn't say —— obviously, they're not ordinary
people, but —— but they're very —— very approachable in
that sort of surroundings. 1It's —— it's —— it's almost
like their second home. So you don't feel very
nervous. They're very approachable people. To me,
they were.

Q. Now, Gavin, let —— let's, you know,

fast—forward to talk about you coming to Las Vegas to
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go see the David Copperfield show. Okay?

MS. FRESCH: Obijection. Leading.

THE COURT: 1It's a premise for a question.
BY MR. MORELLTI:

Q.l'ET~ When was it that you came over to go to the
Copperfield show?

Do you remember the date?

A. I know it wasn't my birthday, which was the
9th, because I couldn't get a flight that day. So I
think it was about the 12th —— or the 1llth or the 12th
of November, which was the closest I could get to a
flight.

Q. Okay. And, now, you —— you mentioned that
your birthday was the 9th. What was the significance
of that and you coming to Las Vegas?

A. Well, it was to celebrate my 53rd birthday.
I'd come before on my 50th, but Mr. Copperfield wasn't
doing his performance when I came on the — on my 50th
birthday. And so I was really happy when I arrived
that he was playing when I was on holiday in Las Vegas.

Q. Okay. Why — you know, if you could tell us,
why was it that you wanted to come to America on your
birthday to see David Copperfield?

A. Oh —

Q. Why was that?
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A. ~— I was a huge fan. I — I've loved magic
since I was a little boy. I'm not a magician, but I
just —- you know, rabbits out of hats and children's
parties in the beginning was —— you know, clowns and
all of those sorts of things were very much fascination
for me.

And I had a very simplistic view of magic.
And Mr. Copperfield came to play in London. And I
always remember because it was his flying. He c¢ould —
he says "I'm going to fly and I'm going to pick
somebody from the audience." And I just thought
that —— I naively thought that could be me. I don't
think it would make a very good picture of me being
flown through the air with Mr. Copperfield, but it
was — it was the —— anyway.

So Mr. Copperfield was playing in London.
That was —— his big trick was flying. I didn't go
because I couldn't get a ticket, but I was very, very
much a fan of him. And, as I said, I hadn't had a
chance to see him before. And when the opportunity
came and it was my birthday, I thought my wife — it
was a good excuse to spend a lot of money on a ticket
without her getting at me for spending so much money on
a ticket.

THE COURT: Counsel —
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MR, MORELLI: Yes.

THE COURT: Would this be a good place to
adjourn?

MR. MORELLI: Absolutely. That's fine.

THE COURT: We'll adjourn now and resume
tomorrow morning at 9:00 a.m.

You're\admonished in the meantime, ladies and
gentlemen, not to talk or converse among yourselves or
with anyone else, including, without limitation, the
lawyers, parties, and witnesses, on any subject
connected with the trial or read, watch, or listen to
any report of or commentary on the trial or any person
connected with the case by any medium of informatioﬁ;w
including, without limitation, newspapers, television,
the internet, and radio.

You're further admonished not to form or
express any opinion on any subject connected with the
trial until the case is finally submitted to you.

Once again, you're directed to return to the
outside of the courtrocom just to the south a little bit
tomorrow, Tuesday, May 1lst, 2018, at 8:50 a.m., 10 to
9:00, so that we can resume here at 9:00 a.m. All
right?

Have a nice night, ladies and gentlemen. See

you tomorrow.
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Anything to,cq@é@%éfore the Court?
MR. RUSSELL: No, Your Honor.
THE.COURT: All right. See you tomorrow.
THE MARSHAL: All rise.
(Thereupon, the proceedings

concluded at 4:59 p.m.)

-00o0—

ATTEST: FULL, TRUE, AND ACCURATE TRANSCRIPT OF
PROCEEDINGS .

Fousoy Sland

KRISTY LﬁjéiﬁRK, CCR #708
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1AS VEGAS, NEVADA, TUESDAY, MAY 1, 2018;
9:07 A.M.

PROCEEDINGS

* * Kk * Kk Kk X

THE MARSHAL: All rise. Eighth Judicial
District Court, Department 13, is now in session, the
Honorable Mark Denton presiding.

THE COURT: Good morning. Please be seated.
We're reconvening in Cox v. MGM Grand Hotel, LIC,
et al. We're outside the presence of the jury. Please
state appearances of counsel, identify the parties and
party representatives who are present today.

MR. MORELLI: Benedict P. Morelli for the
plaintiff Gavin and Minh Cox, who are in the courtroom.

MR. DEUTSCH: Good morning, Your Honor. Adam
Deutsch, also for the Coxes.

MR. FALLICK: Good morning, Your Honor,
Perry Fallick for the plaintiffs as well.

MR. POPOVICH: Good morning. Jerry Popovich
for defendant MGM Grand Hotel. On behalf of MGM,
Mr. Habersack. We also have counsel Mr. Infuso and
Will Martin for MGM.

MS. FRESCH: Good morning, Your Honor.

5
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Elaine Fresch for David Copperfield, David Copperfield
Disappearing, Inc.

MR. ROBERTS: Good morning, Your Honor. Lee
Roberts and Howard Russell for Backstage Employment.
Also here with us is David Dial from my law firm, who's
admitted in this case.

MR. DIAL: Good moining, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Good morning.

MR. STRASSBURG: May it please the Court,
Roger Strassburg, assisted by my partner Gary Call,
representing Team Construction Management.

THE COURT: All right. I understand there's
something to be addressed.

MR. DEUTSCH: Yes, Your Honor.

Your Honor, this morning we received another
call from an additional witness. This one's a little
different, it appears, from the two that — Ms. Esack
and Ms. Lawrence in that this woman claims to have
fallen during the samé trick at the M&J, but she has
notifiéd us that she in fact did fill out an accident
report with the MGM Grand as well as had a conversation
about her injuries with Mr. Copperfield.

We have provided her name to MGM, which —
and — in the hopes that she'll be able to — they'll

be able to leook to see if in fact there was an accident

6
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report. BShe told us that her accident -- when it
happened, and that's where we're at at this poiﬁt.

Obviously, we feel that — that the fact that
she filled out an accident report with MGM and had a
direct conversation with Mr. Copperfield about it and
that her accident happened in the exact same, you know,
location outside during the runaround, we feel that she
does have some additional information to offer other
than the two witnesses that have already been called.

And, you know, obviously, we Jjust received
this phone call this morning, early our time. We
didn't get a call until we woke up this morning. So
our office is trying to get in contact with her. She
claims that she is going to look for —— because she
believes she has the signed photograph from
Mr. Copperfield that he —— that they gave ocut that
evening. She's going to look for that and send us.
But, as I said, I provided Mr. Popovich and MGM her
name and the time of her accident in the hopes that an
accident report does show up.

So, you know, that's where we're at right
now, but we just wanted to notify the Court.

MR. POPOVICH: Obviously, there will be
cbjections about remoteness and everything else, but we

need information. And so we'll just take the next step

-
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like we've done before and we'll argue at the right
time.

THE COURT: All right. Very good.

MR. POPOVICH: 1I've just been informed that a
custodian of records for MGM is at the court and
apparently under a subpoena from the plaintiffs?

MR. MORELLI: Huh-uh.

MR. INFUSO: No, Jerry. He apparently was in
the wrdng court. So —

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. POPOVICH: My heart rate is decreasing
now, Your Honor.

MR. DEUTSCH: But if he's got anything good,
Your Honor ——

MR. POPOVICH: So nothing else.

MR. DEUTSCH: You brought the accident
report.

THE COURT: 1I'm not sure if the jury was
informed about availability on Thursday morning. I
know we had a bench conference about ——

MR. POPOVICH: Your Honor inquired of them to
see if they could do it. We never gave them a time.
And I assume that was because Your Honor wanted to see
what your calendar 1§oked like for Thursday.

MR. DEUTSCH: I think we did inquire, I
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remember.

THE COURT: Okay. I -- I was unclear from
the minutes, and —

MR. MORELLI: And, Your Honor, with reference
to —— with reference to Thursday, I think it was
Mg. Briones who had to go to a —

THE COURT: That's later in the day. That's
in the afternoon, but what — “

MR. MORELLI: But what time are we breaking
on Thursday? That's what I want to know.

- THE COURT: I think that her viewing was from
5:00 to 7:00, so I think we said something around 4:45
or something like that, as I recall.

MR. MORELLI: And on Friday?

THE COURT: Friday, I believe she has to be
at the service at something around 2:00 or 3:00. I
don't remember.

MR. MORELLI: So we said 12:45 or scmething
like that.

THE COURT: We'll go through the noon hour
and adjourn at 12:45 or something.

MS. FRESCH: 1I'm pretty sure she said the
funeral starts at 2:00. That's why I recall you saying
about 12:45 so she wouldn't be late.

| MR. MORELLI: That's what I remember.
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MR. POPOVICH: So, for purposes of —— of
flight schedule, is Your Honor planning to do anything
without the jury after we break at 12:45 or can I catch
a plane?

MR. MORELLI: We're catching one too.

THE COURT: No, I think what we'll do is
we'll just plan on being dark, I guess. And it's
important for us to use the time because of the
schedule, and knowing what the schedule is the week
after next, you know, is going to be a problem.
Remember? .

MR. MORELLI: We have to be finished by the
1llth, which is a Friday.

THE COURT: We have to discuss what finished
means.

MR. MORELLI: Well, with liability. I mean,
that's what it means.

THE COURT: Does that mean wverdict?

MR. MORELLI: Yes.

MR. DEUTSCH: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. So just keep —— we'll do
this on a day-by-day is the best we can do right now.
There may come a time when I'm going to have to meet
with the jurors and with counsel to identify a time

when they'll be available — times when they'll all be
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available. I'm getting very concerned about that.

MR. POPOVICH: As it may be M@GM's case in
chief on Thursday, does Your Honor yet know what time
we would be starting Thursday morning?

THE COURT: 10:00.

MR. POPOVICH: 10:00? Great.

THE CQURT: Is that —— would you prefer it be
a little bit earlier? I can maybe make it 9:45.

MR. POPOVICH: No, that was earlier than I
expected. I thought it might be 10:30 or 11:00, but I
didn't know what the Court's calendar was.

MR. MORELLI: 10:00 is good.

THE COURT: Okay. So I'1l1l tell the Jjury now
when they come 10:00. I'll also tell them I have to
recess for lunch a little bit earlier today because of
the meeting.

MR. MORELLI: You said 20 to.

THE COURT: Yeah, it'll be, yeah, 20 to or a
quarter to, somewhere in there.

MR. POPOVICH: And, Your Honor, I assume
Ms. Briones may have told her fellow jurors that
we're — they're shutting down on Friday, but maybe
some haven't heard. They might want to know that
they're getting out early‘Friday.

THE COURT: Yeah, that's a good point.

11
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Okay. And this is ~- this isn't as nice as
the iPad that I was using, but you can have this
back.

MR. MORELLI: Trying to commandeer my iPad.

THE COURT: All right. So let's have the
jury come in now and —- _

THE CLERK: Did they —— did you want to ——
did you want to publish?

THE COQURT: That's a transcript of the trial.

That's not —
THE CLERK: The deposition. Did we want to
publish it?
THE COURT: Which deposition?
VTHE CLERK: From Mr. Cox yesterday.
THE COURT: Oh, let's ask them.
THE CLERK: Make sure.
THE COURT: Let's have the jury come in.
THE MARSHAL: All rise.
(The following proceedings were held in
the presence of the jury.)
THE COURT: Good morning, ladies and
gentlemen. Please be seated.

IN UNISON: Good morning.
THE COURT: We're reconvening. Just a few

words about some scheduling here.
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I believe I indicéted to you that we'll be in
session — we can be in session Thursday morning. All
right? So — and the time will be 10:00 Thursday
morning. That's May 3rd. All right?

We'll adjourn a bit early on Thursday
afternoon. 1It'll probably be around 4:45. 1Is that all
right?

Very well.

And, now, Friday, we'll be in session from
9:00 a.m. and we'll go until about —— we'll go through
the noon hour until about 12:45 and then adjourn at
that time because one of the jurors has a matter to
attend to. And that will be Friday. So 92:00 until
12:45. We'll take a morning recess sometime that day.

Now, today, I have a — a meeting I have to
attend at 12:00. And so I'm going to have to recess
for lunch somewhere around 20 to 12:00, quarter to
12:00, something like that. And then we'll resume at
1:30. Okay? That's been on the schedule far -- quite
some time ago, and I have to be in it. And it's away
from the building. I have to get there.

Yes?

JUROR NO. 7: Can you give me the times again
for those two days, Thursday and Friday?

THE COURT: Okay. Thursday will be from

| 13
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10:00 until 12:00, and then 1:30 until 4:45; right?
Okay. Would you — would you like to take a —— maybe a
shorter lunch, maybe 1:15 since we're — let's do 1:15
until 4:45. And then Friday will be 9:00 a.m. until
12:45. Okay?

And I believe that that's the times —— those
are the times that we discussed with the —— with the
juror that has the commitment. All right?

All right. Is there anything —— we ready to
proceed, then?

MR. MDRELLI: Yes, Your Honor. You didn't
ask, but the jury is present.

THE COURT: Right. Stipulate that the jury
is present; right?

MR. POPOVICH: So stipulated.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. ROBERTS: Yes, Your Honor.

MS. FRESCH: Yes.

MR. MORELLI: They loock present.

THE COURT: And Mr. Cox can retake the stand.

MR. MORELLI: Good morning, Jjurors,

IN UNISON: Good morning.

THE COURT: Good morning, sir. You realize
you're still under oath?

THE WITNESS: Yes, Your Honor. Good morning.

14
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THE COURT: Very good.
DIRECT EXAMINATION (Continued)
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Good morning, Gavin.

A. Good morning.

Q. Let's pick up a little bit back from where we
left off since we only did about 10 or 15 minutes.

A. Thank you.

Q. There came a time in 2013 that you came to
Las Vegas. Can you tell us the reason that you came to
Las Vegas in 2013 around November 1lth?

A. Yeah, it was to celebrate my 53rd birthday.

Q. Okay. And when you arrived, what did you
discover?

A. After getting into the hotel, I — I checked
what was going on in — in the town and found that
David Copperfield happened tc be doing a show. So
that's what I discovered. That was one of the things
I'd like to do while we were in town to celebrate my
birthday, was to see his show.

Q. Okay. And how did you get tickets?

A. I went to the —— I was staying with my wife
at the Encore. And I went down to the concierge desk,
and they booked the tickets for me there.

Q. Okay. Now, before we go —— before we go

15
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further, can you tell the jury what, if any, feelings
you have at the present time with reference to
Mr. Copperfield?
MR. POPOVICH: Objection. Relevance.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. There came a time when you —— when you bought
the tickets. And for what day was the tickets for?
A. I believe it was the 13th.
Q. Okay. Now, the —— did you go to more than
one show, or did you go to one show?
A. I — I think I only went to the one show.

Q. Okay. Was it the early show or the later

It was the early show.

Q. Okay. And that was on the 12th of November
2013? Does that refresh your memory?

A. Oh, yeah. It was the 12th of November.

Q. Okay. And you went — who did you go to the
show with?

A. I went with my wife.

Q. Okay. And can you tell us your wife's name?

A. My wife's name is Minh.

Q. Okay. And tell us —— tell the jury about

when you got to the show, what time you got there.

16
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A. I got to the show —— because we had to pick
up the tickets from the ticket counter, we had to get
there a bit early. So I think we got there
approximately 6:30-ish, 6:30 at night.

Q. And you got the tickets. And then what did
you do?

A. I —— I didn't get the tickets. My wife lined
up for the tickets. And while she was lining up for
the tickets, I played a table game and had a drink.

Q. Okay. What table game did you play?

A I think it was blackjack, as best I remember.

Q Okay. Did you win?

A. I don't remember.

0 Okay. And you said you had a drink. What
drink did you have, if you remember?

A. I think it would be either a gin and tonic or
a vodka and tonic. It was — it was an alcoholic
drink, but it was just a one —— a drink and a mix.

Q. Do you remember going inteo the show?

A. Yes.

Q. And tell us what you remember initially when
you got into the show, where you were sitting and what
you remember right at the beginning.

A. I bought —— I bought the best seats I could.

So we were —— we were at a small table, but it was

17
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right up next to -~ in the middle of the stage, right
up close to the stage, two seats.

Q. Okay. And then tell us, at the time when the
show started, how did it start?

A, Mr. Copperfield —— a box — like, a box comes
out. And then the staff wave lights about behind the
box so it loocks empty. And then suddenly you see a
shadow. And the front of the box comes down and
Mr. Copperfield appears on a motorbike.

Q. And you were sitting up close when he came
out; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And tell us-about how you felt at that
time,

A. I was excited. I was excited to see the
start of the show, was looking forward to being
entertained.

@. And then, can you tell us what happened next.

A. He just performed various tricks. You know,
I was -- there wasn't anything specific. I mean, I can
remember the tricks, but it was just a show.

Q. Okay. And then take us to the time ——
you've —— you've been in the court, Gavin, during.the
time when everyone has testified of how this particular

illusion works and how it starts. Correct?
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A. Yes.

Q. So —— so tell us from your point of view —
you're sitting up close; is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. And at that particular time during the show,
what were you thinking?

A. I was thinking — Mr. Copperfield explained
he was going to throw these balls into the audience and.
people would bounce them arcund. And when the music
stops, if —— if you have the ball —— if you caught the
ball, you would take part in this trick.

| Because I was at the front of the audience, I
didn't think I stood a chance because all the balls
were being bashed back to the back of the auditorium.
So I was kind of disappointed because I didn't think I

had a chance of —— of taking part in —— in the — in

| the trick. So I — you know, I was just sort of really

standing up but didn't think that that was going to be
something that I would have a chance to take part in.

Q. And then what happened?

A, Then suddenly a ball just lénded in my —
obviously, you have your arms up because you're trying
to catch them. And it just literally landed in my
hands and the music stopped. And —— and -- and that

was it. And I knew I was going to be a — a
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participant in ~— in this magic trick.

Q. Now, tell us the — you — there was music
playing at the time?

A. Yeah, it was like -~

Q. When did it start? Did it start before the
balls? during the balls?

A. No, it —— it started before the balls. And
it was very loud. And it — it stopped as soon as ——
well, no, it — it —-- when I caught — like, I — the
ball landed in my hands and the music stopped at that
point.

Q. Okay. Then what did you do?

A. Then there was a different music and we were
told to — to proceed to the —— everybody that has
caught a ball was to go to the left-hand staircase of
the stage and proceed there.

Q. And you did that?

A. I did.

Q. Okay. And then what do you remember after
you caught the ball and you proceeded to the stage?
Whét did you do then?

A. There was a young lady dressed in black.
And, to the best of my recollection, she —— she took
the ball then, and she asked me three questions.

Q. Okay. And do you —— forgetting about the

20
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order of the questions, do you remember what the

questions were?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you tell the jury?

A. She asked, "Are you a magician?"

Q. And did you answer each question
individually? In other words, were the questions asked
individually?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And she asked you, "Are you a
magician?" And you said?

A. I said no.

Q. Okay. And the next question?

A. "Are you a member of the press?”

Q. And you answered?

A. No.

Q. Okay. And then?

A. "Can you run?"

Q. And what did you answer to that?

A. I answered yes.

Q. Okay.

A. So did I say yes to the press? I think I got
confused —— I said no, I wasn't a member of the press.

Q. Right.

A. And — and I said -— and then she asked "Can

21
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you run?" and I said yes.

Q. Okay. And were you told anything at that
time other than being asked questions?

A. No. If anything, it was to proceed up to the
top of the stairs onto the stage.

Q. Okay. And did you do that?

A. I did.

Q. And what did you -—— ﬁhat do you remember
after proceeding up to the stage?

A. I remember standing in a line and
Mr. Copperfield talking to us. I can't remember what
he said.

Q.. Ckay. Do you remember anything that he said?
If you do, you do. |

A, No, I don't. _

Q. Okay. And what do you remember next?

A. I remember that we were told to — to show —
to —— to walk around the box and something like that
was it, just to walk around it and then to make a line
again.

Q. Okay. And, at that particular time when you
were asked "Can you run?"” what were you thinking about |
at that time, if anything?

A. It didn't ~— it was the same as "Are you a

member of the press?"” It was just a question. It
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wasn't something that I related to anything. It was
just like saying "Do you like roast beef?" It was just
a question.

Q. Okay. Now, the — you lined up on stage, you
said, and you walked around. And then what happened?

A. We were — we were —— people got up the
stairs and were sat in the cage. And we proceeded to
take our seats where we were told to in the stage —— in
the box on the stage.

Q. So you were directed to sit in a certain
place?

A, That's correct.

Q. Okay. And do you remember —- and if you do,
tell the jurors —— where it was that you were directed
to sit?

A. Yes, I am —— if this is the — the — the
chairs looking at the audience, I was sat in the front
row on the far left.

Q. Now, when you say "the far left,"” is that the
far left if I'm in the audience locking at the stage?

I would say you're on the far left?

A. All I can tell you, if I'm facing the
audience, I'm sitting on the far left-hand seat.

Q. Okay. Got it.

Okay. Now, what if — now you're seated in

23
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the seat. And what, if anything, are you thinking at

that time?
A. I wag — I was very excited. I — I
wasn't —— it wasn't like adrenaline was pumping

excited; it was just like getting a birthday present
excited, if that makes sense.

Q. Ckay. What do you remember next?

A. Mr. Copperfield handed out —— you call them
flashlights; we c¢all them torches. We were handed out
flashlights.

Q. Okay. And then what happened?

A.‘ I had the flashlight. And I remember it was
weird because I was given it, and I fiddled with it and
it wouldn't switch on. There was no light. There was
no electricity ~-~ you know, there was no flash. There
was no torch — there was no light coming out. It
didn't work. So I — I — I just figured to myself,
why am I getting a — a flashlight if it doesn’'t work?
That's the first thing I thought.

Q. Okay. And what's the next thing you
remember?

A. Literally, to the best of my memory, the —
the curtain -- there's —— I think there might have been
some special music starts. And then the curtains come

down either side and in the front of the ...

- 24
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Q. So are you saying that the curtains came down
all around?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. OCkay. And you notice I have a very exciting
job today. What happened next and what else do you
remember? So my —— my —— my next question is, what do -
you remember next?

Curtains are down and you're sitting in the
chair all the way to the left. What do you remember
hext?

A. I heard a noise behind me. And I locked to
my right behind me. And, dt the same time, I saw,
like, this man appear in black like out of a rabbit
hole saying something like "Everybody up." It was Jjust
a shock because I was expecting this contraption to
just be like an elevator and — or something and go ——
I wasn't expecting to move. I ﬁas shocked straight
away that this man appeared. It was just —— that was
the first thing.

Q. OCkay. What do you remember next?

A. He —— he said words to the effect of "Follow
me." And, at the same time, the middle chairs flipped
over. So it was like everybody was told to get off
like in a plane, because like —— if —- like you're

filing out down the center aisle. And that's what

| 25
JA003041




W O AW N

NN NN NN KR R R O RHBRPBR R R B R R
U & W N P O W 0 4 & 1 & W N KB O

happened next.

Q. Okay. And did you do that?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And what do you remember next?

A, Coming down the stairs, as best I can recall.
As soon as my foot hit the bottom of the floor after
the stairs, I felt — I saw this guy to my left. And
the next minute, I felt this shove on my back. And we
were told to run as fast as we could. "Run, run.
Everybody run, quickly, run."

Q. And who was —— who was saying that?

A. The gentleman at the bottom.of the staircase
in black.

Q. Okay. And what was your.feeling at that
particular time?

A. I was — I was confused. I wasn't expecting
it. I've gone from being excited to terrified to being
in, like, a fire. It was going from zero to 100 miles
in my head that —— I wasn't expecting this. And
everybody just, like, took off hell for }eather down
this corridor. And I followed them as fast as I could
as well.

Q. Okay. What's that term?

A. Hell for leather.

Q. Hell for leather. Okay. I don't know if
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that's an American term, but what do you mean by it?

A. It means to get out as quickly as you can, to
run as fast as you can, to —— to — to, you know, move,
you know —-

Q. Move quickly?
A. No, not move quickly. It's more than that.
It's run for your life. 1Is that a ~— is that —
Yes, that's the way we might say it.
Yeah.
Yes.

Run for your life type of thing.

© ¥ O » O

Okay.

A. He didn't say that, but that's the sort of
urgency that we felt.

Q. And what feelings were you having.about what
you had to do at that point?

A. I knew we had to run. And I saw people in
black in front lining the corridor. We didn't know
where we were supposed to be going apart from knowing
that you had people running in front of you down the
line. And there was people at the end of each section
that were saying either "this way" or "that way" or
"that way" or "that way." You know, it was just total
pandemonium.

Q. Now, you —— you could at that point see other
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people in front of you?

A. Yeah, not — not -— not —— everybody was
running as fast as they could. So, you.know, they
weren't, like, 2 or 3 feet in front of you. Sometimes
in —— in the sections, you couldn't -- they'd gone.
And all there was was a —— a staff member there
directing you. So it wasn't as if you always were

seeing where to run because of the other people.

Q. So it's according to where you were?
A. Excuse me?
Q. It's according to where you were on the

route. .Sometimes you saw people; sometimes you
couldn't?

A. That's correct.

Q. OCkay. Tell us what you remember next.
You're running and other people are running. And what
else do you remember?

A. The biggest thing I can remember is why are
we running? You know, we're running, but we're not
told anything. We're Jjust told "run" or "this way" or
"that way." We don't knéw how far we've got to run,

where the next place we're going to be running to. All

you're thinking about is your —— you're just being
directed into whatever situation —— you know, what to
do.
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Q. Okay. And —— and what were your thoughts? I‘
mean, were you worried at that point?

A, I was ~—— I was trying to think of it. I
was —— I — I was —— my heart was racing and my
thoughts were, I've got to get — this is obviously
part of the trick, to my mind. And I've got to do
whatever they say they want me to do. I was Jjust
following their orders.

Q. Okay. Can you tell the jurors —— you're now
running. Do you remember how many —— you're inside or
outside at this point?

A, No, I'm still inside.

Q. Okay. Do you remember —— or can you describe
to the jurors, are you in hallways? How many? What's
the lighting conditions?

A. The lighting changed in the —— from the box
when the curtains went down, it was like a bedroom with
a night-light. The rabbit hole was black, pitch black.

Q. Now —— now, when — when you ~— when you talk
about the rabbit hole, what are you talking about?

When you were still in the box?

A, No, I think they call it the dragon.

Q The dragon?

A. I think that's what it was.

Q

Okay. So when you already came out of the
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box and you were in the

A,
Q.
‘A.

stairsg, it was light —

hallways,

was —— it

types of light.

sometimes
was — it
felt like
sometimes
felt like
Q.
A,
you know,
it. Were
inside?
A.
sometimes

distances

dragon ——
That was dark.
Okay .

Then when you came to the bottom of the
all I just remember is these
rabbit warren.

it was like a It was — it

was a maze of different sections, different
Sometimes it was very bright;

it was not so bright. It was 1lit, but it
was changing surfaces. Sometimes it was —
it was tile — kitchen tile-style flooring;
it felt like concrete flooring. Sometimes it
carpet.
Okay. When —

I wasn't looking at the floor, but that's,
what it felt like.

Sure. When you were running inside, describe

you —— did you have difficulty running

I didn't myself have difficulty running, but
the distances were shorter; sometimes the

were longer. You —— you were going around

corners so that —— the only difficulty, as I said, was

not knowing what the next section was going to be. I

could have run into a brick wall for all I knew. I
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I didn't know until we went around the next corner what
we were going to expect.

Q. And then tell us what you remember next. Did
there come a time when you finished rﬁnning inside?

A. Yeah. The last section, it was — to my
memory, it was quite a long section because I remember
seeing it was a bright corridor. And then I saw, like,
a single doorway at the end of it. And so, compared to
the last section, it was, like, dark out, but very
light in.

And there was a guy dressed in black again
out — outside of the doorway. And he would be
motioning when I got up near him to go to my right. He
was motioning to go right. And I think he actually
even said "this way" or "go right” or something like
that.

Q. And that was ——- and that was when you went
from the inside to the outside —

A, Correct.

Q. —— correct?

Okay. So what —— what did you do then when
you — you ran through the open doorway?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. And then what did you do?

A. I took a right. First thing I noticed was
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going from that really bright corridor to the — to thé
dark of the outside. Your eyes suddenly —— like — you
feel disorientated. And -- and I took a sharp right.
And I was thinking to myself, what next? I'm outside
of the building. You know, it's —— it's —

Q. When —— when you were outside the building,
were you still running?

A. Yes, all the time.

Q. Okay.
| A, All the time, I was running as fast as I
could.
Q. Okay. Now, when you say you're running

outside the building, while you're running, was the
building to your right or was it to your left?
A. I'm sorry. I don't understand the question.
Q. Okay. You're running now outside. You just

took a right, and you're running along.

A. Yeah.

Q. Was the building to your right ——

A. The building ——

Q. -—or ﬁd;gégi.;eft?

A.  The building — the wall of the building was

on my right.
Q. Okay. And now you're running along. And

what is the surface that you're running on at that
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time?

A. It was hard, like a concrete sidewalk type
of — it was a concrete sidewalk type of surface, but
it wasn't a sidewalk. It was the ——~ you could hear
traffic to the left of you, but it was — it was a long
way off. It seemed a long way off.

Q. what you heard?

A. I didn't take much notice of it because I was
too busy concentrating on trying to follow where

everybody else was going.

Q. Okay. And when you —— when you're running
now — and you are running alongside of the building,
the building's to your right —— could you see people in

front of you at that point, if you remember?

A. I honestly don't remember.

Q. Okay. So tell the jurors what you remember
next. You're running alongside. The building is to
your right. You're outside, concrete pavement, and

you're still running. What do you remember next?

A. I was —— I was —— actually had in my mind
where —— where we were going to go next.. Well, when I
say "we," I mean it —— you know, the group. I wasn't

holding somebody's hand; I was just me.
When we went ocutside, I was running along.

And, to my mind, it's always what next? What next?
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What next? You know, bear in mind, people are still
down the corridor saying, "Go, go fast as you can, fast
as you can." You're not, you know, having a stroll in
the park. You're —— you're doing the best you can to
get to wherever you're going as fast as you can.

Q. What do you remember next? What was the next
thing you did after you ran along the building to your
right?

A. When I reached the end of the building, I
believe there was some sort of man dressed in black to
my left, saying "right." And I knew I had to turn
right. '

And, as I came around the corner, I was
probably at my fastest. It was probably — to me, it
was the longest piece of the area. And as I turned the
corner and I loocked right, I saw —— I saw the doorway
in the distance. And it was still dark. And I thought
I saw the doorway. And it was like a golden light in
the distance. And I knew that was where I meant to
head for.

Q. Okay. Were you still running hell forever?
Hell for leather.

For leather,.

Absolutely.

© p O P

And, the best you can, tell us, you turn the

| 34
JA003050




O 0 A & o W

NN NN NN R RB R R B B R B B R
U oBd W N R O W O Nd o W N R O

corner, you're running quickly. First of all, how did
you turn the corner? What —— what do you remember?

A. I — I —1I— I remember because I saw —— as
I turned the corner, I saw the 1lit door. So it was
almost like a beacon in the darkness to me. And, aé I
turned the corner as fast as I could, I started tc run
towards it.

And then it felt like an elevator suddenly
moving upwards. And I'm taking the corner as fast as I
could. And —— and I feel my feet just slip left from
underneath me. And i —— and I almost feel like — for
a second, I'm — all of me is in midair. That's what
it felt like. There's a speed of turning, seeing the
sharpness of the turn and the weight of my body going
around. And then I just feel my feet slip straight
from underneath me.

Q. And then what happened? Did you hit the
ground or the pavement?

A. I hit —— I — I —— I hit the ground. And I
felt —— I felt a pain shoot through me like I never,
ever felt before. It was like a lightning bolt going
through the whele of my shoulder and left-hand side.

Q. Okay. I just want you to clarify for the
jurors. When you say you turned the corner, did you

turn it wide? Did you turn it narrow?
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A. No. No, no, no, no, no., I — I took it
really sharply, as sharply as I could. And I had
already taken some steps toward the door. And that's
when I felt this —— it just felt like a motion pushing
me up and —— the speed of turning and the motiocn of
pushing me up. And then I felt my feet just slip left
from underneath me together.

Q. What I want to understand —— and possibly the
jurors too —— when you say that you felt like this
elevator coming up, are you talking about the pavement?

A, It wasn't the pavement; it was —— it was an
incline. It wasn't flat. I didn't —-— I didn't see the
incline. I thought it was flat. Everything else that
I had been on was flat. I didn't expect it. I just

thought the corner —— you can't see the incline from

running to the corner. You couldn't even see it in the
dark. I didn't even know there was an incline until
later.

I'm just saying that, at the time I did it,
it felt like when you get on a fast elevator and it
pushes you up. It felt like you were suddenly going up
in the air. And what with that and the speed of the
corner, I just — like, my feet just went whoosh like
that. And I felt like I was in the air. And the next

minute, I hit the ground.
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Q. Now, what's —— you know, you —— you hit the
ground. And what do you remember next?

A. The next thing I remember after hitting
the — hitting the ground, I remember being at the back
of the audience. I don't remember anything after
hitting the ground to being at the back —- well,
actually, not in the back of the audience, in the
middle of the audience.

Q. Okay. And you're now in the back of the

audience. And what's going through your mind at that

time?
A. I'm — I'm—I'minagony. I —— I —— I am
in so much pain and yet I want — my wife is — it’'s

not the back, it's the middle of the audience. Ahd my
wife is — I can see her. And I want to go to her
because I'm hurting and I'm hurt. And I want —

MR. ROBERTS: Objection, Your Honor. This is
not relevant to this liability phase.

THE COURT: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: And I want to go to her because
I'm hurt. But, at the same time, I know the trick is
still going on. Mr. Copperfield has just motioned that
we're there. The ﬁhole group is standing together.
And I just felt it's -- they're going to know

something's wrong if I go to my wife. I can't just
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walk to my wife, so I stay with the group of people.
BY MR. MORELLI: |

Q. Okay. Why did do you that?

A. Because I didn't want to — I felt that if I
just walked away, it would —— it would spoil the end of
the trick.

Q. QOkay. And that's what you were thinking
about at the time?

A. Yes, always. That's — that's — that's why
I ran as fast as I could. I —— I — I — I didn't — I
didn't —— I —— everybody wants to do their best for
him. They wanted to do what they were told to do.

Q. In looking back at it now, what do you think?
Do you think you should have done something differently
or —— what do you think now looking back on it after
what happened?

A. I don't understand the question.

Q. Well, now that all of this has happened, do
you have a different feeling about you wanted to do the
best or you didn't want to do your best?

A, I'm sorry. I still don't understand the
question.

Q. Okay. Do you have a different feeling about
it now, that you wish that you didn't try to do your

best?
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A. I wish that I never done the trick.
Q. Any ill feelings about Mr. Copperfield?
A. I don't hate him. I just feel —— I —— I just
feel —
MS. FRESCH: Objection. Relevance.
THE COURT: He's answered the question.
Go ahead. Next question.
MR. MORELLI: Your Honor, could we approach
just about one particular question?
THE COURT: Yes.
MR. MORELLI: Thanks.
(A discussion was held at the bench,
not reported.)
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Gavin, my — my question —— my question to
you is, you're —— as — as you're -— as you sit in
court today, you brought a lawsuit against

Mr. Copperfield and the other defendants in the case.
Are you angry with Mr. Copperfield?
A. Anger eats the soul.
Q. I'm sorry?
A. Anger eats the soul. All I'm here for is
justice and to get some sort of ——
MR. ROBERTS: Objection. Nonresponsive.
THE COURT: Sustained.
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Next cuestion.
BY MR, MORELLI:

Q. Okay .

I think this has to go over here now; right?
So is that a no, Gavin? You're.not angry
with him?

A. Anger is not the correct word to use.

Q. Ckay. What is?

A. Disappointed, let down, feeling that he
didn't care.

MS. FRESCH: Objection.
THE COURT: Next question.
BY MR, MORELLI:

Q. Okay. Now, the —— there came a time after
you were in the audience that —— do you remember where
you went after that?

A. The next part I remember is sitting in a — a
room behind the stage.

Q. Were the other participants there with you?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Were they sitting also?

A. No.

Q. Could you tell us about that.

A, I believe someone brought me a chair because

they thought I was hurt. It was fairly obvious I was.
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Q. And did you have any conversations with
anybody at that particular time? Anybody ask you
anything? Did you tell them anything? o

A. I think somebody might have asked me
something, but I can't remember who or what the
question was.

Q. Was Mr. Copperfield present at the time that
you were in this room? |

A, Yes, he was.

Q. Okay. And what, if anything, do you remember
him saying?

A. He — he —— he came into the room and he said
to all the participants something like it's —— it's
taken — he started to say "it's taken two years to ——
to make this trick perfect," whatever.

Q. Do you remember anything ——

A, "Please don't say anything to anybody about
this trick.”

And, at that point, a gentleman that was one
of the participants in the trick, he —— he said —— I
don't —— it might even been more than one —— he said
"This guy's been hurt. Why are you going on about your
trick?"

And at that point —-

.MS. FRESCH: Objection. Hearsay.
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THE COURT: 1I'll allow it, not for proof of
truth of the matter asserted but the fact that the
statement was made. _

MS. FRESCH: Your Honor, I'd also object as
to relevance.

THE COURT: Overruled.

BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. You may continue, Gavin.

A. And I —— I was sat down with my shoulder
hanging in the center of my chest. And I —— I — I
thought, to my mind, he was going to come and say "My
God, are you okay? What can I do? Are you —— what
happened?”

And he said, "Are you hurt?”

And I said yes.

And he said, "Wow, why" — or not "wow," but
he said "Why did you finish the trick?"

And I said, "Because I didn't want to let you
down . "

And he — he was crouched down looking at my
face, as close as this. And I was expecting him to
go —— to do something to help me, to get help. And he
just disappeared — he -— he —— he had this half smile
on his face like —— and he just walked away and

disappeared and left the room.
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Q. Now, before I ask you the -—- the next
question of what you remember next — one of my
favorite questions —— can you tell us, when you —— when
you turn the corner outside and you were running and
you say you —— you took a sharp turn, what, in your
mind —— or what things caused you to fall? Tell the
jurors what you think.

A. The instructions to run as fast as you can.
The — the light going from light to dark to light to
darkness and running at speed around a corner. The —
I don't know what you call it now -— the — the
incline. And, as I later found out —— not at the time,
but in hospital — I‘had the whole of my right side
covered in dust. And I felt that might have had some
part to play, but not —— to my mind, that was more
showing where I'd hit the ground, and it might have
played a part in the fall.

But, to my mind, the greater part was the —--
the sense of sheer urgency, not knowing where we were

going, running, light, darkness -- that — to me, and

taking —— not knowing where we were going next. To
me — to my mind, that's what caused me to slip and
fall.

Q. Now, after your —— you told us about the
encounter with Mr. Copperfield. What's the next thing
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that you remember?

A. I was — I was on a gurney outside — I think
it was outsgide the room where we had the talk. I was
on a gurney. I was strapped into it.

Did you ask —— sorry. Could you repeat the
question.

Q. Yeah. That's what I asked you, the next
thing you remember after —— after being in the room
with Mr. Copperfield, the next thing you remembered,
and you said on — being on the gurney. 1Is that — is
that accurate?

A, That's correcﬁ, yes.

Q. Okay. And what's the next thing that you
remember after that? Did you —

A. Oh, can I —

MR. POPOVICH: Objection at this point to go
any further for relevance in Phase 1.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Did you ——

THE COURT: 1I'll sustain the objection.

You're going to withdraw the question and
pose a different one?

MR. MORELLI: Yes, yes. For the record, I
withdrew the question.
/1777
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BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Did you —— while you were on the gurney, did
you see or speak to Minh, your wife? TI just want to
know what you remember.

A. No, I had forgotten something that's very
important to me again, was that while —— when I was in
the area where Mr. Copperfield was, I was asking for my
wife. I was asking —— I don't know. I can't remember
if I said it, but I -~ it's — it's —— it was a thing
for me. I said "I want my wife." I — I spoke — I
did speak, because I said, "I want my wife. I want my
wife."

And I spoke to people. It wasn't people in
street clothes; it was either suits or in black. And I
was expecting them to say, like, "Where is she? What
row? Where in the audience? What's her name?"

MR. POPOVICH: Objection to the narrative at
this point.

THE COURT: Sustained.

Next dquestion.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. The —— you're on the gurney?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. And just talking now at the scene, still

there.

45
JAQ03061




w 0 Ny U ke W bR

NN NN NN R B R R =P R R R R
U B W N R O W 0N s W N KR O

A. Yes, yes.

0. What do you remember, if anything, happening
after you were on the gurney? Do you remember speaking
to anyone?

A, I don't —— I don't remember speaking to

anybody. And my wife came out —-

Q. Okay.

A. —— or she was brought out.

Q. So you remember seeing her ——

A. Yes.

Q. —— and speaking to her?

A. Yes.

Q. Gavin, that's —— that's ~- that's all I'm

going to be asking you at this time.
MR. MORELLI: I have nothing further.
THE COURT: Okay.
Cross?
MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, may we approach?
THE COURT: Sure.
(A discussion was held at the bench,

not reported.)

CROSS~EXAMINATION
BY MR. ROBERTS:

Q. Good morning, Mr. Cox.
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A, Good morning.
MR. ROBERTS: Good morning, jury.
IN UNISON: Good morning.
BY MR. ROBERTS:
Q. I noticed, as you took the stand this

morning, that you were'holding the marshal's arm.

A. Uh-huh.

Q. Did you request his assistance this morning?
A, No.

Q. Did your attorney request his assistance?

A, No.

MR. MORELLI: Objection, Your Honor. Does
this have anything to do with liability, because, if
so, we can talk about the hospital a little bit.

MR. ROBERTS: It has to do with credibility,
Your Honor.

BY MR. ROBERTS:
Q. Do you get assistance when you're downstairs
in the courthouse?

THE COURT: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: In what way?

BY MR. ROBERTS:
Q. Do you hold onto someone's arm when you're
downstairs and the jury is not around?

A. Yes.
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Q. Could you really not remember the date of the
accident?

A, I —— I remember it within a day or two.

Q. You were here when your attorney explained
the way he remembered it to the jury as 11/12/13;
right?

A. Was that today?

0. No, that was earlier, earlier in this trial,
maybe a month ago now.

A. I'm sorry. I don't remember.

Q. Okay. So you sincerely could not remember
the date you were hurt?

A. No.

Q. Did you meet with your attoﬁney to prepare
for your testimony?

A, YesiI did.

Q. Okay. What dates did you meet with him?

A. I believe it was last Saturday, and it was
another day. It was either the previous Saturday or
the previous Sunday.

Q. Did you leave court last week one day
to —— to meet with your attorney?

A. Did —— did we have court all last week? I'm
sorry. I — I —— okay. I'm sorry. I don't — I

think — I —— the days I believe I gave you are the
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days I met with the attorney, but if it was a - that's
what I believe because he was in casual clothes.

Q. Do you remember having your deposition taken
on October 15th, 20157

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And that was about two years after the
accident; right?

A. Yes.

Q. Was your memory fresher regarding what
happened on the day you took your deposition?

A. . Yes.

Q. Okay. At what point did you change your
story about why you fell?

MR. MORELLI: Objection to the form of the
question. ‘
THE COURT: Sustained.

BY MR. ROBERTS:

Q. In your deposition, did you say that.you
slipped on the dust and that's why you fell?
You'd have to show me.

Okay. You don't remember that?

p © ¥

I don't remember my deposition exactly.
Q. Do you remember at one time believing that
the reason you fell is that you slipped on the dust?

A. Could you repeat the question, please.
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Q. Yes. Do you remember at one time believing
that the reason you fell is because you slipped on
dust?

A. It might have been part of the reason.

MR. ROBERTS: Audra, could you play Clip 8.

- And, Your Honor, permission to publish
Mr. Cox's deposition of October 15th of 2015.
THE COURT: So ordered.
BY MR. ROBERTS:

Q. I'm going to play for you now, sir, a portion
of your video testimony, page 124, lines 16 through 18.

MR. RORERTS: Just ask to hold it a second,
Audra.

MR. DEUTSCH: We just asked for permission to
read some additional pieces for completion for — if
that's okay, Your Honor.

THE COURT: For what?

MR. DEUTSCH: Well, let me see what they play
firgst, but I have a feeling we're going tco have some
things to read to complete that.

(Whereupon video deposition was played.)

THE.WITNESS: It's my understanding that
whatever was on the floor made me slip and fall.

BY MR. GIL:

Q. Fair enough.
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(Whereupon video deposition was
stopped.)
BY MR. ROBERTS:

Q. Okay. Does that refresh your recollection
that you believed it was whatever was on the floor that
made you slip and fall?

A. It was one of the factors.

Q. Okay. And today you said —— and you told the
jury —— that you believe you fell because you didn't
know where you were going and of the urgency and that
that was the greater part, and the main thing the dust
showed was where you fell.

A. That's what I believe now.

Q. Okay. So at what point in the time did you
change your belief as to what made you fall and what
played the greater part in making you fall? Was it
this week meeting with your attorney or was it a couple
years ago?

A, I haven't changed my belief.

Q. We'll talk more about that later.

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, may we read the
piece for completeness now or wait for redirect?

THE COURT: Well —

MR. ROBERTS: If it's in the same question

and answer, we can play it now. If it's a different
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part of the deposition, you can play.
MR. DEUTSCH: I believe it's the same exéct
subject matter that gives his complete answer.
THE COURT: Okay. Well, wait till —
| MR. DEUTSCH: Okay. No problem.
BY MR. ROBERTS:
| Q. Mr. Cox, we were talking about your
attorneys. 1Isn't it true that you called an attorney
the very night this happened?
MR. MORELLI: Objection.
BY MR. ROBERTS:
Q. November 12th, 2013.
MR. MORELLI: Objection to the relevance ——
THE COURT: Overruled.

MR. MORELLI: -— of when he called an
attorney.

THE COURT: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: Could you repeat the question,
please.

BY MR. ROBERTS: _

Q. Didn't you call an attorney the very night
you were injured, from the emergency room?

A. No.

Q. Had you hired an attorney two days later when

you went to MGM to fill out an incident report?
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A. I believe we hired an attorney two days later
to fill out an incident report. I don't —— no —
excuse me. I believe we had an attorney by that time
to fill ocut an incident report.

Q. And you called your daughter-in—-law from thé
emergency room in order to try to find you an attorney;
right?

A, I didn't.

0. Did your —— did your wife, Minh?

A. Can you repeat the question.

Q. Did your wife, Minh, call your
daughter—-in-law to try to arrange for an attorney from
the emefgency room?

A. I know my wife did call. I'm not sure at
what point.

Q. And your attorney is the one probably who
filled out the handwritten incident report at MGM;
correct?

MR. MORELLI: Objection. Your Honor.
THE COURT: Ovwverruled.
You can answer the question.
THE WITNESS: Okay. I couldn't —- my arm was
messed up.
BY MR. ROBERTS:
Q. Okay. But you don't remember either
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dictating the incident report or writing the incident
report or even reading it before you signed it; right?

A, I believe I did.

Q. Do you remember reading the incident report
before you signed it?

A, I believe I —— I read what my attorney had
wrote.

MR. ROBERTS: Audra, Clip 10, page 155, lines
12 through 20. |

MR. MORELLI: 155.

MR. ROBERTS: And I believe — does that go
to 156, line 3, Audra?

It may go to 156, line 3, if you want to
check.

MR. DEUTSCH: Where does it start, Lee?

MR. ROBERTS: 155, line 12.

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, I would ask for
some completeness in the same exact place as this.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. DEUTSCH: It goes before the place that
he's starting, so I would ask maybe that I could read
it before the clip he plays.

- MR. ROBERTS: Your Honor, the full questions
and answers are there. They can put on whatever they

want in their --
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MR. DEUTSCH: Well ——

MR. ROBERTS: —— redirect.

THE COURT: You're saying this is part —

MR. DEUTSCH: What he just —— what
Mr. Roberts —

THE COURT: -- of the series of questions and
answers. So I'll allow that.

MR. DEUTSCH: So if you're going to start
on —— on 155, line 12, then I would go back to —
to — to 155, line 1.

THE COURT: But I think defense counsel has
the right to put on his portion first, and then you can
follow up. _

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay. That's fine.

THE COURT: Okay?

MR. DEUTSCH: It was the question preceding
this by two questions, so I thought it would be
smoother. But he c¢ould put it on first if he wants to.

MR. ROBERTS: Okay. Audra.

{(Whereupon wvideo deposition was played.)
BY MR. FREEMAN:
Q. But I'm wondering, do you remember doing
that?
A. No.
Q. You don't remember doing that at all? Okay.
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A, No. It could very well be, but I honestly
don't remember that.

c. Okay. Do you remember signing it?

A. No.

Q. Okay. Do you remember ever reading it over
to make sure it was correct?

A. I —— I really honestly don't remember. And I
think that's my signature. 2And I don't remember if I
read it over to be correct.

Q. Okay.

(Whereupon videc deposition was
stopped.)
BY MR. ROBERTS:

Q. Does that refresh your recollection that you
don't remember if you read it over before signing it?

A. That Jjust reflects ——

THE COURT: All right. Plaintiff's counsel
wants to —

MR. DEUTSCH: Thank you, Your Honor. This is
the preceding three questions to the clip that was just
played on page 155, line —— I c¢ould put it up, if we
could make a quick switch, just for completeness, Your
Honor. |

MR. ROBERTS: Your Honor, the rule of

completeness only requires the full guestion and answer
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to be read. They can put this on in their direct.

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, you know, when I

objected —
THE COURT: Put it on.
MR. DEUTSCH: Thank you, Your Honor. |
Okay. The question is right before that on
page 155.

"QUESTION: Do you think you —

"ANSWER: Do I know who?

"QUESTION: —— dictated to someone?

"ANSWER: Yes, I — I believe so.

"QUESTION: Do you remember doing that?

"ANSWER: I wouldn't —— I wouldn't have

signed it if I hadn't have regd it."

And then into what he Jjust played. Thank
you, Your Honor.

MR. POPOVICH: Your Honor, from this point
forward, defense will — well, at least this defendant
will be objecting to Mr. Deutsch taking over this
witness.

MR. MORELLI: He's not taking over the
witness; he's putting up ——

THE COURT: I allowed him to play the —

MR. MORELLI: -- the text.

THE COURT: -—— or to read a part of the
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deposition under NRCP 32(a) (4).
BY MR. ROBERTS:

Q. So your attorney most likely filled out that
statement. He has bad handwriting and you thought it
was his bad handwriting; right?

A. My attorney filled out, I believe, that
statement.

Q. When you were in the audience and the balls
were being bounced around, did you understand that, if
you caught a ball, you could take part in the illusion?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you wanted to take part in the illusion;
correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And as you approached the stage, you were
asked "Can you run?" right?

Yes, sir.

And you said yes?

» 0 P

Yes.

Q. And you told the jury that it was just a
question, like "Do you like roast beef?"

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. You didn't think that you might
actually have to run when they asked you "Can you run?”

A. No.
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Q. Okay. At the time, 11/12/13, could you run?
A, Yes.
Q. Okay. And the limited mobility that you've

shown here in the courtroom, you didn't have that then;

right?
A. No.
Q. Someone watching you walk would not have

thought there was anything physical wrong with you?

A, That's correct.

Q. Correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. You stated that you were all the way to the
far left when you got into the box, right, front row
left?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And you've previously stated that you
were the last one out of the box.

A, That's what I believe, yes.

Q. Okay. And were you always the last one in

line, according to your recollection?
A. According to my recollection, yes.
Q. Have you locked at the video since your
deposition?
~ A. Which one?
Q. The video showing the outside area where you
59
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can see the participants through the trees?

A. Yes.

Q. Is it fair to say that you now know you were
not the last one in line from looking at the wvideo?

A. It would appear that way.

Q. Okay. And is it possible you misrecollected
and that you were never the last one in line?

A. It's possible.

Q. You told the jury that you were given a
flashlight, or a torch, inside the —-- the box. And did
you have that same flashlight the whole time or did you
get it —— give that back to them and get a new one
outside? - 7

A. Up until the fall, I had the same flashlight.

Q. Okay. You're certain of that?

" A. Yes.

Q. You said in your deposition that there was no
one leading the way, that when the participants came
down the dragon, came down the steps, there was nobody
leading the way ——

A. Yes.

Q. —-— correct?

Is that still your testimony today, that
there was nobody from MGM or Backstage or anyone

associated with the show who was leading the
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participants and showing them where to go?

A, Based on what I knew that night, it appeared
to be that way.

Q. Okay. But you now know that wasn't true;
right?

A. Based on what I've heard, that's what they do
on nights.

Q. So you —— you were asked if you could run.
And then, after the illusion started, you were asked to
run by the staff; correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. At what point did they tell you to run the
first time? Were you still up inside the —— the box?
Were you in the dragon? Or were you down the stairs at
the end of the dragon?

A. I can remember being told to run specifically
when I had the hand shoved on my back at the bottom of
the dragon.

Q. And you mentioned that. And it was a man?
Yes.

Was he shoving other people?

I don't know.

© ¥ O ¥

You were right behind another contestant;
right? You were not the first one out of the box;

right?
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A. No.

Q. So there was someone directly in front of you
as you came down the stairs; right?

A. Not directly in front.

Q. How far in front of you was he or her?

A. I don't recall, but not — I would recall if
they were directly in front, but they were further.

Q. Okay. You told the jury that it was pitch
black in the dragon; right?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you ever tell ényone it was pitch black
in the dragon until you heard Ms. Lawrence testify that
it was pitch black in the dragon? el

A. It was — it was the rabbit heole. It ﬁasr |
like, to my mind, it was pitch black, because the
person appeared and it was black.

Q. I understand — I understand. Had you éver

said that before you saw Ms. Lawrence say it was pitch

black? Had you ever said that at all?

A. I don't remember. I don't remember.
Q. Had you ever said the hallways were like a
night-light in the bedroom before you heard
Ms. Lawrence tell the jury that?
A. I thought it was a good way to describe it.
Q. Was it darker in the outside once you were
62
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outside the building or in the hallways that were like
a bedroom with a night-light?
A. No, it was darker outside.

Q. Okay. Was it too dark to see where you were
going?
A. No.

Q. Was it too dark to see the gentlemen
directing you which turns to make?

A. Sometimes.

Q. So it's your testimony it was too dark to see
the men that were outside?

A, No, I said sometimes.

Q. At what times was it too dark to see the men?

A. When they were farther away.

Q. Was it too dark to see the ground where you
were running?

A. Can you repeat the question, please.

Q. Yes. At any point once you were outside, was
it too dark to see the ground?

A. I don't remember looking at the ground.

Q. So, as you sit here today, you —— you don't
remember or don't know if it was too dark to see the
ground?

A. I didn't have —— I — I didn't — I —— I knew
the ground was there, but I didn't specifically think
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if it was too dark to see the ground.

Q. You said you were running as fast as you can.
Was that the entire trip until you fell? Froﬁ the time
you got down out of the dragon until you fell, were you
running as fast as you could?

A. I was running as fast as I could.

0. The whole time?

A. The whole time.

Q. And you were not overtaking anyocne in front
of you? Did you ever pass anyone?

A. Not to my recollection.

Q. And you used the term in your deposition,
"running at speed."” Does that mean as fast as you can?
A. It means I was running as fast as I can.

Q. If — if you look up synonyms for "at speed,”
one of them is full tilt. Does that accurately
describe how fast you were running?

A. Just remember running — I'm sorry, Counsel.
I just remember running as fast as I can.

Q. Another synonym is "briskly." Were you
moving briskly?

A. No.

Q. Okay. If we're to get an idea about how fast
you were running, do you remember being asked some

questions about different running speeds in your

- 64
JA003080




U 0 g9 o 01 bW N =

NN NN NN RO M R W R
M B W N B O W w0 J & B b W KN Rk O

deposition? Usain Bolt was mentioned. Were you
running as fast as Usain Bolt? _

A, I don't remember, Counsel, but if you say,
I'm sure that's in there.

Q. Okay.

MR. ROBERTS: Can we use a demonstrative of
Usain Bolt, Your Honor, just for the jury's comparison?

MR. DEUTSCH: We'll stipulate that he wasn't
running as fast as Usain Bolt, Your Honor.

MR. MORELLI: And neither are you.

MR. DEUTSCH: I think there's a pretty fair
stipulation, Your Honor. There's no need to put up a
demonstrative.

MR. MORELLI: Seeing as nobody runs faster
than him.

MR. DEUTSCH: We'll stipulate that he wasn't
running that fast. No need to put something up. We
can move on.

BY MR. ROBERTS:
Q. And you say that you weren't running as slow
as somecone runs a marathon. Do you recall that?
A. I don't recall saying that.
Q. Okay .
MR. ROBERTS: Could we put up a demonstrative

of the Rock 'm' Roll Marathon, Your Honor, from last
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year so the jury can get an idea of the speed? He can
say if he was running faster or slower than the
marathon runners.
THE COURT: Go ahead.
MR. ROBERTS: Thank you.
(Whereupon video was played.)
BY MR. ROBERTS:

Q. Here's the Rock 'n' Roll Marathon here in
Vegas. You said you were not going as slow as marathon
runners. Were you moving faster than this? Is that
your testimony?

A. Did you ask —— excuse me, counsel ——

MR. DEUTSCH: Just for the record, Your
Honor, Mr. Cox was not shown this video or any video
when he gave his answers.

THE COURT: All right. He's being asked
about it now.

Go ahead.

(Whereupon video was played.)

BY MR. ROBERTS:

Q. Just watch — take a look on your screen.
Were you running faster than this or slower than this
or is this —-- about this speed?

No, I was running faster. .

Q. Faster. A lot faster?
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A. I was running faster.

Q. The maze inside before you got outside, you.
described it as a rabbit warren, the hallways, this
complicated maze. How many turns did you make inside
this complicated.maze before you went outside?

A, I'm not 100 percent sure.

Q. More than five?

A. I'm not sure. I -— maybe; maybe not. More
than two, more than three, maybe more than four.

Q. But despite the fact that you felt this was
confusing and that it was a complicated maze and you
didn't know what you were doing, while you were inside;
you actually had no problem following the people in
front of you; right?

A. I don't understand your question, Counsel.

Q. Despite how complicated you've told the jury
this journey was from the time you exited the dragon
until you went outside, you didn't have any problem
following the people on this route, did you?

A, I didn't have an idea where we were going,
Counsel.

Q. Okay. Yes or no, did you have a problém

following the people in front of you while you were

inside?

A. Yes, I had a problem.
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MR. ROBERTS: Audra, could we play Clip 3B,
page 78.
We're beginning at line 19 and ending at
line 22.
MR. DEUTSCH: Hold on. Give me a second to
just find where we are.
Your Honor, I'd just like for the same
permission to read for completeness pursuant to
Mr. Roberts' rule that he cited and finish the whole
answer.
THE COURT: All right.
MR. ROBERTS: Okay. Audra.
(Whereupon video deposition was played.)
BY MR. FREEMAN:
Q. Did you have trouble following the other
participants?
A. No, I just — I just could see them all
running, and I was doing the same thing.
(Whereupon video deposition was
stopped. )
MR. DEUTSCH: That's not the full answer,
Your Honor.
BY MR. ROBERTS:
Q. It continues with — it's —— you said, "It's

really important to understand you're sitting in a box,
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you're sitting on a chair, and you're not expecting --
you know, you're expecting maybe —— I don't know — the
whole thing to go through the floor. You're not
expecting all of this excitement and pandemonium and

whatever you want to call it, you know.

"You're going from —— it would be like you
sitting here and suddenly somecne —— somebody" ——
excuse me —- "coming in and saying, 'Right. Everybody

out. You've got to run. The building —— a bomb is
going to go off in 30 seconds.' You're going to run as
fast as you can. You don't know where the exit is.
Maybe you're following the gentleman next to you. But
you're going to run as fast as you can because that's
that sense of urgency to do what you're supposed to do,
but it's going from being here doing this to suddenly
going from naught to 100 miles an hour in a second."
MR. ROBERTS: Is that the portion you wanted?
MR. DEUTSCH: The rest of the answer, yes.
THE COURT: All right. Let's take our
morning recess now. We'll reconvene at 5 till 11:00.
During the recess, you're admonished not to
talk or converse among yourselves or with anyone else,
including, without limitation, the 1awyers, parties,
and witnesses, on any subject connected with the trial

or read, watch, or listen to any report of or
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commentary on the trial or any person connected with

the trial by any medium of information, including,

without limitation, newspapers, television, the

internet, and radio, or to form or express any opinion

on any subject connected with the trial until the case

is finally submitted to you.

Be outside the courtroom just at 5 to 11:00.

THE MARSHAL:

211 rise.

(Whereupon a short recess was taken.)

THE MARSHAL:

All rise.

(The following proceedings were held in

the presence of the jury.)

THE COURT:

the record.

You may be seated. We're back on

Do counsel stipulate that the jury is

presence?

MORELLI :
ROBERTS:
FRESCH:

»EBEB

JUROR NO. 8:
JURCR NO. 7:
THE COURT:

seated before I —

POPOVICH: Yes, Your Honor.

So stipulated.
Yes, Your Honor.

So stipulated.

. POPOVICH: Actually, no, Your Honor.

We are missing one.
You were on time.

I should wait till everyone is
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MR. MORELLI: That was a bad stipulation.
We're not stipulated.

MR. POPOVICH: We tricked her by being on
time for once. '

THE COURT: All right. Now ——

MR. DEUTSCH: So stipulated.

MR. POPOVICH: So stipulated.

THE COURT: Very well. You may proceed.
BY MR. ROBERTS:

Q. Thanks. Before we broke, Mr. Cox, you were
telling the jury that you were running as if someone
had just said a bomb is about to go off and you're
trying to get out of the building; right?

A. Could you —~ could you read that line back to
me, what I said, please.

Q. "You're going from —— it would be like" —-

MR. DEUTSCH: What page?
MR. ROBERTS: 79, beginning at line 3.
BY MR. ROBERTS:

Q. "You're going from —— it would be like you
sitting here and suddenly someone coming in and saying,
'Right. Ewverybody out. You've got to run.' It's ——
the building’s —— a bomb is going to go off in 30
seconds."

A, Can I —
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Q. Is that still how —— how — the sense you had
about how fast you had to run?

A, May I ask you a question?

Q. Sure.

A. Was that from my deposition or did I say that
this morning?

Q. That was your deposition in 2015. So if
you'd like to change that answer, you can.

A. No, no, ho. I wasn't sure if I said that
just now. I just wanted to — to clarify.

No, that's correct. That's how I felt.

Q. Okay. And — and you've a156 said in the
past that it was like —— like —— a rhinoceros was
chasing‘you?

A. I believe if I said that, that's what I felt,
Counsel. |

Q. But none —— none of this sense of urgency
started until you came out of the dragon and down onto
the floor; correct?

A, That's from —— when I first remembered it. I
don't — I don't remember —— apart from going into the
dragon, I don't remember — that's when I first
remembered it.

Q. When you say you were running as fast as you

can, were you running so fast that both your feet were
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coming off the ground at the same time?

A. I just remember I was running as fast as I
can.

Q. Were you running on your toes; in other
words, leaning forward like a sprinter?

A. I don't remember; I just remember running as
fast as I can.

Q. When you run as fast as you ¢an, do you lean
forward and run like a sprinter or do you sort of jog
with your heel strike first?

A, I've never thought about it.

Q. Well, tell me now. How do you think you ian
back then?

A, I haven't thought about it. I Jjust run.

Q. OCkay. How do you run? Do your heels hit the
ground first or your toes hit the ground first when you
run, running as fast as you can®?

MR. DEUTSCH: Objecticen, Your Honor. Asked
and answered.
THE COURT: Overruled.
THE WITNESS: I'm sorry. When I run, I run.
I never thought about toes or heels.
BY MR. ROBERTS:
Q. And so you can't give me an answer for that

today? You can't tell me whether your toes were
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hitting the ground firﬁt or your heels were hitting the
ground first as you ran as fast as you could through
the illusion?

A. No, I can't.

Q. But while you were still inside, from when
you started running after you came down out of the
dragon while you were still inside, you didn't have any
problem following the participants; right? The other
participants, you didn't have any problem?

A. I'm sorry. Can you repeat the question,
Please.

Q. While you were still inside, after you began
running and following the participants through the
maze, as you put it, you —- you were able to follow
them? You didn't have any problem?

A, I'm sorry. Because you said while I was
still inside and then you said you didn't have any
trouble following them, I'm —— I don't understand what
you mean, Counsel.

Q. When you had your deposition taken and you
were asked, "Did you have trouble following the other
participants?" did you not understand the question
then?

MR. DEUTSCH: What page?
MR. ROBERTS: The same page we talked about
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before, page 78.

BY MR. ROBERTS:

Q. Did you understand the question when that

question was asked to you in your deposition?

A. When I —— I don't remember what I thought

back then.

I answered it how I thought it was back

then, but I don't have the same sense of what the

question is today.

could back then.

MR. ROBERTS:

I answered it as honestly as I

So, Audra, could we play Clip

JP4, which is the —— the full clip including the

portion that I read, so the jury could hear the whole

thing, Mr. Cox can see the whole thing.

MR.
MR.

MR.

MORELLI:
DEUTSCH:
ROBERTS :
. DEUTSCH:
. ROBERTS:
. POPOVICH:
. DEUTSCH:

(Whereupon video deposition was played.)

BY MR. FREEMAN:

What page is that?
78, starting at 197
Correct.
Going through the whole answer?
Correct.
79, 12.
Got it.

Q. Did you have trouble following the other

participants?

A. No, I was just — I Jjust could see them all
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running, and I was doing the same thing.

It’'s really important to understand. You're
sitting in a box, you're sitting on a chair, and you're
not expecting —— you know, you're expecting maybe —- I
don't know — the whole thing to go through the floor.
You're not expecting all of this excitement and
pandemonium and whatever you want to call it.

You know, you're going from —— it would be
like you sitting here and suddenly somebody coming in
and saying, "Right. Everybody out. %You've got to run.
It's — the building's —— a bomb is going to go off in
30 seconds." You're going to run as fast as you can.
You don't know where the exit is. Maybe you're
following the gentleman next to you, but you're going
to run as fast as you can because that's that sense of
urgency to do what you're supposed to do. But it's
going from being here, doing this, to suddenly going
from naught to 100 miles an hour in a second.

(Whereupon video deposition was
stopped.)
EY MR. ROBERTS:
Q. Okay. So I know you gave a long explanation,
but in your deposition under oath, "Did you have any
trouble following the other participants?" and you said

no.
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Is that still your answer today, or do you
want to change it?

A. I stick to my answer I gave.

Q. Okay. So you —— you never tripped or fell or
slipped while you were inside; correct?

A. No.

Q. Okay. And you didn't have any trouble
following the other participants inside. So whatever
was going on inside is not what made you fall; right?

A. I -~ I -- when you say "trouble," I didn't --
my trouble was knowing where we were going, not
following other participants. There's two different
types of fhings there.

Q. Okay. So you didn't know where you were
going, but you had no problem following the
participants.

A. I think that's a fair statement.

Q. Okay. And there was nothing about what
happened while you were inside that made you fall when
you were outside; right? |

A. Yes, there was. There was something that
happened.

Q. Okay. When you were allegedly shoved while
you were inside, did that make you fall?

A, No.
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Q. When it was dark inside like a bedroom with a
night-light, did that make you fall?

A. The light changing contributed tec my fall.

Q. Well, you weren't even looking at the gréund;
right? So how did the light affect your fall if you
weren't even trying to look at the ground?

A. Because it was dark, I was running, I didn't
have all my senses.

Q. But before you fell, you're outside, you're
running. You came from a brighter area inside to a
darker area outside, according to your testimony. But
yet before you fell, you weren't having any
difficulties running, were you?

A. Running is physical. This is mental. I was
disorientated. |

MR. ROBERTS: BAudra, could we have Clip 3C,
page 87, beginning at line 8 through line 13.
(Whereupon video deposition was played.)
BY MR. FREEMAN:

Q. Qkay. When you ﬁere running outside, were
you having any difficulties at this time?

A, No.

Q. Before you fell, did you notice anything on
the ground in the area outside?

A. No.
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{(Whereupon video deposition was
stopped.)
BY MR. ROBERTS:

Q. So before you fell, while you're running
outside, you weren't having any problem? You weren't
thinking, oh, my gosh, this is too hard, I can't do
this, were you?

A. I was — the question to me, as I see it,
was, was I having any difficulty running? I had no
difficulty running; That's what I was thinking of.
Were you having trouble running? No, I wasn't having
any trouble running. |

Q. You said in your deposition that the — that
the gentlemen on the staff who were directing the way,
telling you to turn right as you came out of the
building, and another gentleman telling you teo turn
right again right before you fell, in your deposition,
you said they weren't holding flashlights, right —-—

A. That — | |

Q. —— lighting the way?

A. That is —— that was my belief, to my memory.

Q. And you said, "If they had been shining |
flashlights on the ground showing the way, that's
something I would have remembered"?

A. That's correct.
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Q.

Okay. But you've looked at the video now,

and you know that the men did have flashlights shining

them on the ground; right?

A,
Q.
A,
Q.
before we
blackjack
A.
Q.
A.
Q.

That's correct.

OCkay. So you got that part wrong?

It appears so.

So you — let's talk about your fall, but,
do, you told the jury you had a drink at the
table before you came into the show; right?
Yes,

One drink?

Yes.

Okay. Isn't it true that you said at your

deposition that you'd been taking Valium for 15 years

prior to this incident?

MR. MORELLI: Objection to the relevance,

Your Honor.

Honor.

MR. DEUTSCH: May we approach, Your Honor?
MR. ROBERTS: Goes to why he fell, Your

MR. DEUTSCH: May we approach?
(A discussion was held at the bench,

not reported.)

BY MR. ROBERTS:

Q.

You said at your deposition, Mr. Cox, that
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you had been taking diazepam for 15 years; correct?

A,
Q.
correct?
A,
Q.
that make
A,

© PO PO

A.

Correct.

And that's the — another name for Valium;

Correct.

Okay. When you drink and take Valium, does
you unsteady? 7

I hadn't taken Valium that night.

Had you fallen before this?

Ever?

Ever.

I'm sure I have.

Okay. Was it a slip or a trip in the past?
To be honest, I —— as a kid, I'd slip on the

playground. As —-~ as a man, I'd slip on a muddy

surface going down a hill perhaps. I don't have any

particular memory of a slip that caused me

hospitalization like this did.

Q.

© » O » 0O P

Okay. You — you've slipped in the past?
Yes.

As a man?

Yes.

But it didn't cause hospitalization?
Slip? No.

Have you slipped and fallen on the ground?
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When?
Prior to this incident, as a man.

Yes.

0o ¥ O ¥

Okay. And whose fault was that?
MR. MORELLI: Objection, Your Honor. What
does this have to do with this case?
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. ROBERTS:
Q. And you've fallen out of a tree; right?
A. I didn't —— T had an accident.
MR, MORELLI: Objection, Your Honor. What ——
what 's the relevance of him falling out of a tree?
THE COURT: Sustained.

BY MR. ROBERTS:

Q. When you fell out of the tree, whose fault
was that?
MR. MORELLI: Objection.
THE COURT: Sustained.
MR. MORELLI: I mean —
THE COURT: Next question.
BY MR. ROBERTS:

Q. As you rounded the corner, you said that you
saw the doors where you're supposed to reenter the
theater; correct?

A, Correct.
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Q. And that it was like a golden beacon in the
distance?

A. Correct.

Q. How —— how —— was it —— what? — about
10 feet further away than those doors?

A. Something like that, Counsel.

Q. 42 feet away?

A. Excuse me?

Q. 42 feet.

A. Idon't —1I-— I don't mean to be rude, but
I —-—Idon't know ——-—I —1I — it's not —— I don't
know, you know —— maybe if you -~ it was further than
that door, but not much further.

Q. Not much further. So when you say "a golden
light in the distance," you didn't mean to portray the
idea that it was, like, a half a football field away or
something?

A. Oh, no. |

Q. It was just right there.

A. Because it was dark and because inside the
door was light, it was a wvery distinct memory in my
mind.

Q. You told the jury that, at the time you fell,
you had already taken steps toward the door that was
open; right?
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A. That's correct.

Q. Okay. That's not what you said under oath in
your deposition, is it?

Do you remember?

A, I don't remember exactly, Counsel.

Q. Okay. As you sit here today, do you really
remember how you fell?

A. Very much so.

Q. Okay. So you don't remember anything from
the time you fell until you ended up back in the
auditorium; right?

A, Yeah. I blacked out. I lost consciousness.

Q. You —— you —— okay. When you say you lost
consciousness, you mean you don't have a memory.
You're not saying that you were lying unconsciousness
on the ground blacked out; right?

A. As I was — as I was told by a doctor,
consciousness is not being aware of your surroundings.
So he told me, in his form, that was losing
consciousness.

Q. And —— and when you went to the doctor right
after this incident, you denied that you ever lost
consciousness, didn't you?

MR. MORELLI: Objection. Are we going to try

the whole case now? because I'm ready for damages.
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THE COURT: Overruled.
BY MR. ROBERTS:

Q. - Let's just talk about your memory. You told
the jury you have no memory from the time you fell
until you ended up in the auditorium; right?

A, That's correct.

Q. And then you told the jury that you have no
memory from the time that you allegedly talked to
Mr. Copperfield in the back until you woke up on the
gurney; right?

A. I used that expression because I was told
that we were not talking about what happened physically
to me. |

Q. Right. So you have a clear memory of falling
and a clear memory of your conversation with the staff
in the back, but everything else is a blank?

A, I don't have a clear memory of the
conversation with the staff in the back.

Q. Okay. So you really don't remember what was
said in the back, do you?

A. I remember what Mr. Copperfield told me.

Q. Clearly?

A. Very clearly. I remember what —— the
gentleman, when he said, "This man's been hurt," I

remember that very clearly. I remember Mr. Copperfield
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saying "What? You finished the trick?" very clearly.
And I remember telling him "I finished the trick" very
clearly because I didn't want to let him down.

Q. But nothing else?

A. As in?

Q. Was your memory clearer about how yocu fell in
2015, two years after the incident, or today in court?
A. I think my memory of the fall is clear.

Q. So it's just as clear or even more clear than
it was in 20157

A. I can't remember how I felt in 2015.

MR. ROBERTS: Audra, could we have Clip 5B,
page 89, line 25, to page 90, line 5.
(Whereupon video deposition was played.)
BY MR. FREEMAN:

Q. Okay. And what —— did you slip taking the
right or what point did you — you said — I'm sorry.
You said your feet went out from under you?

A. They slipped. I was going on the corner, and
my feet just slipped to my left and I fell down on my
right, slipped to my left and fell down on my right.

Q. Okay. And ——

A. But it's — it's — it was — it wasn't
this —— like —— it's like the slip just took your feet

from right under you and you just went boom. I mean,
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you just went —— your whole body slammed down. Because
you're running so fast, it's like —— and you're taking
a corner at speed, and your feet just slip away from
you and your whole body goes boom. I don't know what
it looked like. I can only imagine. But that's what
it was.

Q. Okay. So it's — you felt your feet slipping
instead of tripping?

They didn't trip —

'©

Okay.

A. —— they slipped.

Q. It was a slip. And you -- your feet slipped
going toward the left causing you to fall to the right?

A. Yes, to land —— slip — right. Yeah.

Q. Ckay. Did both feet slip, or did one slip?

A. I —I-—1Icouldn't — I —— I don't know. I
just know that I — well, both feet slipped, yes. I
don't know in — all I know is I landed down with a
massive thump.

Q. Do you know which part of your foot slipped?
Was it the toes? heels?

A. I don't know. Sorry.

Q. Just your — and I'm just asking.

A, Yeah, I — I — I -—1I- it felt like the

whole of my foot went. It wasn't just a toe; it was

| 87
JA003103




MONON N NN R R R R R R R R R
M B W N R O W 0 <N o kW N RO

© ® b W N K

the whole of the flat of my foot.

Q. Okay. Now, when you — when your body fell,
I know your feet are slipping to the left. Did you
fall forward? Did you fall to the side? Did you fall
onto your back?

A. I don't know. All I know is I just fell. I
fell on my side, on my —

Q. Okay.

A. —— right, my whole of my body. It wasn't
like it was a skid and you sort of went down on your
knees. It was like the whole —- the whole —— becausé
you were-running at such force aroﬁnd that corner,'it
was like (descriptive sound), 1like that.

(Whereupon video deposition was
stopped.)
BY MR. ROBERTS:

Q. So what your testimony was before was that
you slipped in the middle of making the turn, not
having squared your shoulders and taken a few steps
toward the door; right?

A. As far as I'm aware, I slipped on the corner.
And T took some steps as I was turning the corner, and
then I fell to my right.

Q. Okay . .

A, That -— that —— what —— what you've just

88
JA003104




w o 2 & B AR W N

DORNON N NN KR B R BB B H R B R
O & W RN B O W © 4 & b b W N KB O

shown, I agree with that description.
Q. OCkay. But you still say that you'd made a

few steps toward the door?

A. I'm sorry. Are you saying now or in the
deposition?
Q. Now. Is it your contention now you'd taken a

few steps toward the door?
A, I —— what —— what I said in that deposition
is as —— best describes what I —— how I slipped.
Q. Okay.
MR. ROBERTS: Audra, could we have slip 5E,
page 95, lines 16 to 24.
(Whereupon video depositidn was played.)
BY MR. RUSSELL:
Q. Okay. What — after the fact, why did you
fall? Why do you think you fell?
A, Well, because all my clothes were covered in
dust. So one would think combined with the speed —-
(Whereupon video deposition was
stopped.)
MR. ROBERTS: Sorry. That — do you have a
printout? That's not it. 95, 16 to 4.
5E, page 95, line 16 to 24.
(Whereupon video deposition was played.)
1171/
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BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. OCkay. So —— well, that was my question. So
had you made the full turn and had you taken a step
toward the open door, or were you still running
parallel with the door?

A. I was ~— I was in the middle of making the
turn, aiming for the door, and that’'s when I fell. I
hadn't taken — I hadn't gone around the corner and
made another few steps.

Q. You had not — you hadn't completed the turn?

A. No.

(Whereupon video deposition was
stopped.)
BY MR. ROBERTS:

Q. Okay. So which is correct: your sworn
deposition testimony that you hadn't taken a few steps
and you were in the middle of the turn, or today's
story, where you say you'd taken a few steps toward the
door? Which one is right?

MR. MORELLI: Objection. You mean "today's
testimony," not "today's story"; right, Mr. Roberts?

MR. ROBERTS: I mean today's story, Counsel.

THE WITNESS: I think it's the same.

THE COURT: Overruled.

Go ahead.
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THE WITNESS: Turning the corner means that a
corner — it's not just one part —— the corner is like
a half circle. So, to my mind, completing that half
¢circle is —- is using part of the corner, and it's also
taking some steps around the corner,

MR. ROBERTS: Audra, could we have 5F, page
97, lines 25, to page 98, line 3.

MR. DEUTSCH: I'm sorry. Give me a second to
get there. What page? 977

MR. ROBERTS: 97, beginning at 25, to line 3
on the next page.

(Whereupon video deposition was played.)
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. However far it was, it was right at the — it
was right at the corner, right at that Jjuncture as you
took the turn? So whatever that distance is?

A. Where I slipped and fell was on that
corner ——

(Whereupon video deposition was
stopped.)

MR. DEUTSCH: I'd just like to read the next
question and answer for completeness.

It doesn't matter. Go ahead.

MR. ROBERTS: Thank you.

Audra, could we have Clip 5G, page 162, lines
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